An Assessment of Colonoscopy Recommendations and the Provision of Genetic Counseling for Families of Colorectal Cancer Patients in Newfoundland & Labrador

By

Patrick J. McNicholas

A thesis submitted to the school of graduate studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine

Clinical Epidemiology Unit

Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University of Newfoundland

October 2021

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

ABSTRACT

Introduction

Family members of patients who develop colorectal cancer (CRC) are at higher than population risk of developing CRC. Screening can prevent CRC by finding and excising precancerous polyps. Family members at risk of CRC require screening, starting at different ages and varying frequency depending on family history. The purpose of this thesis is to investigate clinical, pathological, demographical and family history variables in patients with CRC in an attempt to predict clinical decisions important in their management: referral to genetic counselors and frequency of colonoscopy in family members.

Methodology

The cohort used was from a familial CRC clinic started in 2010 in urban and rural regions of Newfoundland and Labrador (NL). Patients in the clinic were pathologically confirmed incident CRC patients from the Newfoundland Cancer Registry presenting between 2008-2010. Of the 1091 cases presented to the two health regions, 525 were considered for analysis. Pedigrees were reviewed by genetic counselors and family risk was determined using a variety of criteria. Multivariate models were created to predict the need for genetic counseling and the frequency of screening colonoscopy in family members as recommended by the genetic counselor.

Results

The multivariate model created to predict the need for provision of genetic counseling (GC) included eight predictive variables, had a sensitivity of 81.3% and specificity of 87.4%. Scores in 25 of 134 (19%) patients recommended for GC differed from the decision of the genetic counselor. Review of clinical information demonstrated that the decision of our model was more clinically apt than that of the genetic counselor. The model to predict screening at 5-10-year intervals included nine predictive variables, had a sensitivity of 90.3% and specificity of 76.3%, and identified 30 (9%) patients that differed from the decision of the genetic counselor. The model to predict screening at 2-3-year intervals included 7 predictive variables, had a sensitivity of 69.1% and specificity of 87.4%, and identified 21 (31%) patients that differed from the decision made by the genetic counselor. The model to predict 3-5-year screening intervals compared to 2-3-year intervals included five predictive variables, had a sensitivity of 75.0% and specificity of 55.6%. This prediction of this decision was poor and was not considered to be clinically important.

Conclusion

Reasonable prediction models of patients who had families that needed to see a genetic counselor and of those whose family members needed colonoscopy at 5-10-year, or 2-3-year intervals were obtained. Clinical information on patients where the decision made by the multivariate score differed from the decision made by the genetic counselor suggested the score's decision was more clinically apt. Application of these multivariate scores in a population-based program of incident CRC patients has the potential to reduce mortality rates from CRC in NL.

GENERAL SUMMARY

Family members of patients with colorectal cancer (CRC) have a higher risk than the general population of developing CRC themselves. However, early identification and screening of these family members can identify and remove cancerous precursors before they manifest. This screening is done by colonoscopy, beginning at different ages and repeated at varying frequencies, dependent on family history, among other variables. In NL, these decisions are made by primary care providers, geneticists and genetic counselors.

In a previous study, we determined that the efficiency of these genetic counselor services in NL was poor, and the rate of referral to genetic counselors was high, which was the result of subjective interpretation of CRC patients' family histories by geneticists. Thus, the purpose of this project was to develop and assess the utility of multivariate prediction models that could (1) predict whether referral to a genetic counselor was necessary, and (2) make colonoscopy recommendations for families of patients with CRC. The electronic predictions of these models were then compared to the clinical decisions previously made by primary care providers, geneticists and genetic counselors.

Our models were able to accurately predict which patients required referral to a genetic counselor; as well as whether patients required annual screening, high-frequency colonoscopy screening (every 2-3 years), or low frequency screening (every 5-10 years). Prediction of intermediate-frequency screening (every 3-5 years) was more challenging.

In summary, our models yielded different recommendations than those from the geneticists and genetic counselors. On review of the clinical data, it appears they are more accurate recommendations. Application of these models to a population-based program of incident CRC patients has the potential to reduce colorectal cancer death rates in NL.

ACKNOWLDEGEMENTS

I would like to thank a number of people without whom this research project would not have been possible. Foremost, my supervisor Dr. Pat Parfrey, whose support and patience were central in the completion of this project. Despite the multitude of projects in which he is involved, I was afforded his time and attention whenever needed – thank you, Pat. I would also like to thank the other members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Brendan Barrett and Dr. Elizabeth Dicks. To my Mom, Dad, Alex, Kate, Lily, Whiskey and Effie, thank you for your constant love and support. I would also like to thank my colleagues within the faculty of Medicine for their help, advice and above all their company, namely Jack Thorburn, Patrick Parfrey, Owen Parfrey and Dr. Robert Wilson. I would also like to thank the families in the Newfoundland and Labrador Colorectal Cancer Registry, as well as the Familial Colorectal Cancer Clinic for their consent to participate in projects like this one.

I would also like to acknowledge my co-authors from a previously published study, as relevant findings were included in this research project: Dr. Pat Parfrey (primary author), Dr. Elizabeth Dicks, Owen Parfrey, Hayley Noseworthy, Dr. Michael Woods, Carol Negrijn, and Dr. Jane Green.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge NL Support, and the Translational and Personalized Medicine Initiative for their resources and support with this research project, in addition to their financial assistance.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
General Summary	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	viii
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	X
List of Appendices	xi
Chapter 1 – Introduction	1
1.1 Colorectal Cancer in Newfoundland and Labrador	1
Chapter 2 – Literature Review	3
2.1 Literature Search	3
2.2 Epidemiology	3
2.3 Hereditary Colorectal Cancer	4
2.4 Nonpolyposis Syndromes	5
2.4.1 Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer	5
2.4.2 Lynch Syndrome	5
2.4.3 Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X	7
2.5 Polyposis Syndromes	9
2.5.1 Familial Adenomatous Polyposis	9
2.5.2 MUTYH-Associated Polyposis and Polymerase Proofreading- Associated Polyposis 2.6 Hamartomatous Polyps	10 10
2.7 Hyperplastic Polyps	12
2.8 Familial Non-Autosomal-Dominant Colorectal Cancer	12
2.9 Molecular Pathways	13
2.9.1 Microsatellite Instability	14
2.9.2 Chromosomal Instability Pathway	15

2.9.3 Serrated Pathway	15
2.9.4 microRNA	17
2.10 Screening	18
2.10.1 Screening Techniques	18
2.10.2 Hereditary CRC Screening	21
2.11 Diagnostic Criteria to Measure Family Risk	22
2.11.1 Amsterdam Criteria	22
2.11.2 Bethesda Guidelines	23
2.11.3 Provincial Medical Genetics Criteria	24
2.11.4 Family History Score	25
2.11.5 MMRpredict Score	25
2.12 Colorectal Cancer Risk Factors	26
2.12.1 Family History	26
2.12.2 Inflammatory Bowel Disease	27
2.12.3 Dietary Effects	27
2.12.4 Lifestyle, Smoking	28
2.13 Colorectal Cancer Prevention	29
2.14 Study Rationale	30
2.15 Study Objectives	

Chapter 3 – Methodology	32
3.1 The Cohort	32
3.2 Variables	34
3.2.1 Risk Classification	34
3.2.2 Family History of Colorectal Cancer	34
3.2.3 Family History Score	35
3.2.4 MMRpredict Score	35
3.2.5 The Amsterdam Criteria	35
3.2.6 The Bethesda Criteria	36
3.2.7 ACMAC	36

3.2.8 Screening Recommendations and Colonoscopy Frequencies	37
3.3 Statistical Methods	37
Chapter 4 – Results	40
4.1 Results from the Newfoundland Colorectal Cancer Clinic	40
4.2 Electronic Prediction versus Clinical Recommendations	48
4.2.1 Prediction of Referral to a Genetic Counselor	49
4.2.2 Prediction of 5-10-year Screening Colonoscopy Frequency	57
4.2.3 Prediction of 2-3-year Screening Colonoscopy Frequency	66
4.2.4 Prediction of 2-3-year versus 3-5-year Screening Colonoscopy	
Frequency	74
Chapter 5 – Discussion	80
5.1 Introduction	80
5.2 Results from the Newfoundland Familial Colorectal Cancer Clinic	80
5.3 Electronic Prediction of Referral to a Genetic Counselor and Screening Recommendations	83
5.3.1 Referral to a Genetic Counselor	83
5.3.2 Decision on 5-10-year Screening Colonoscopy	84
5.3.3 Decision on 2-3-year Screening Colonoscopy	85
5.3.4 Decision on 2-3-year Screening Colonoscopy versus 3-5-year	86
5.4 Implications	87
5.5 Comparable Studies	91
5.6 Limitations	92
Chapter 6 – Summary and Conclusion	94
Chapter 7 – References	96
Chapter 8 – Appendices	120

Appendix A	121
Appendix B	122
Appendix C	123
Appendix D	125
Appendix E	126
Appendix F	128
Appendix G	129
Appendix H	131
Appendix I	132

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: CRC Patients Classified by Risk	45
Table 2: CRC Patients Classified by Frequency of Colonoscopy for Family Members	46
Table 3: CRC Patients Classified by Age Brackets	47
Table 4: Descriptive Data from the Multivariate Model Predictive of GC Referral	50
Table 5: Univariate and Multivariate Odds Ratios to Predict Referral to a Genetic Counselor	51
Table 6: Odds Ratios for Variables Predictive of Referral to a Genetic Counselor	52
Table 7: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Negatives of Multivariate Model Predictive of Genetic Counselor Referral	54
Table 8: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Positives ofMultivariate Model Predictive of Genetic Counselor Referral	55
Table 9: Predicted vs Observed Classification Table for Referral to a Genetic Counselor	56
Table 10: The Utility of the Multivariate Score for the Prediction of GC Referral if the D Made by Genetics had been Correctly Assigned based on the Clinical Data	ecision 56
Table 11: Descriptive Data from the Multivariate Model Predictive of 5-10-yearly Colonoscopy	58
Table 12: Univariate and Multivariate Analysis of the Prediction of 5-10 yearly Colonose versus More Frequent Colonoscopy as Recommended by the Genetic Counselor	сору 59

Table 13: Odds Ratios for Variables Predictive of Referral to a 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy Screening	60
Table 14: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Negatives ofMultivariate Model Predictive of 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy	63
Table 15: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Positives of Multivariate Model Predictive of 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy	64
Table 16: Predicted versus Observed Classification Table for 5-10-yearly Colonoscopy	64
Table 17: The Utility of the Multivariate Score for Prediction of 5-10-yearly Colonoscop Decision Made by Genetics had been Correctly Assigned based on the Clinical Data	by if the 65
Table 18: Descriptive Data from the Multivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy	67
Table 19: Two-three-year Screening Frequency versus Less Frequent	68
Table 20: Odds Ratios for variables predictive of 2-3-yearly Colonoscopy screening	69
Table 21: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Negatives of Multivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy	71
Table 22: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Positives ofMultivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy	72
Table 23: Predicted versus Observed Classification Table for 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy	73
Table 24: The Utility of the Multivariate Score for Prediction of 2-3-yearly Colonoscopy	if the
Decision Made by Genetics had been Correctly Assigned based on the Clinical Data	73

Table 25: Descriptive Data from the Multivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly	
versus 3-5-yearly Colonoscopy	75
Table 26: Two-three-year Screening Frequency versus 3-5 Year Screening Frequency	76
Table 27: Odds Ratios for variables predictive of 2-3-yearly versus 3-5-yearly	
Colonoscopy	77
Table 28: Predicted versus Observed Classification Table for 2-3-yearly versus	
3-5-yearly Colonoscopy	79
Table 29: Information Required to Generate Multivariate Scores for Family Members	88
Table 30: Summary of Predictive Variables for Each Decision	90

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Decision Tree for Incident Colorectal Cancer Patients in Newfoundland and Labrador	2
Figure 2: Decision Tree for Family Members of Colorectal Cancer Patients in Newfoundland and Labrador	2
Figure 3: The Geographic Boundaries of Eastern Health, NL	33
Figure 4: The Geographic Boundaries of Central Health, NL	34
Figure 5: Distribution of Family History Scores	41
Figure 6: Distribution of MMRpredict Scores	41
Figure 7: Risk-based Classification of Patients from the CRC Clinic	43
Figure 8: Screening Frequency-based Ascertainment of Patients from the CRC Clinic	44
Figure 9: Distribution of Multivariate Model Equation Scores for Patients Recommended for Referral to a Genetic Counselor	53
Figure 10: Distribution of Multivariate Model Equation Scores for Patients Recommended for 5-10-year Screening Intervals versus the Rest	61
Figure 11: Distribution of Multivariate Model Equation Scores for Patients Recommended for 2-3-year Screening Intervals versus the Rest	70

78

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

AC1	Amsterdam Criteria I
AC2	Amsterdam Criteria II
ACMAC	Age and Cancer Modified Amsterdam Criteria
AFAP	Attenuated Familial Adenomatous Polyposis
APC	Adenomatous Polyposis Coli
CI	Confidence Interval
CIN	Chromosomal Instability
CRC	Colorectal Cancer
FAP	Familial Adenomatous Polyposis
FCCTX	Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X
FDR	First Degree Relative
FHS	Family History Score
FIT	Fecal Immunochemical Test
HNPCC	Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer
HPP	Hyperplastic Polyposis
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
LS	Lynch Syndrome
MAP	MUTYH-Associated Polyposis
miRNA	MicroRNA
MMR	Mismatch Repair
MSI	Microsatellite Instability
MSS	Microsatellite Stable
NL	Newfoundland and Labrador
OR	Odds Ratio
PJS	Peutz-Jehgers Syndrome
PMG	Provincial Medical Genetics
PPAP	Polymerase Proofreading-Associated Polyposis
ROC	Receiver Operator Characteristic

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A	Revised Bethesda Criteria Guidelines
Appendix B	Provincial Medical Genetics Program Criteria
Appendix C	Ethics Approval
Appendix D	False Negatives from Multivariate Model for Genetic Counselor Referral
Appendix E	False Positives from Multivariate Model for Genetic Counselor Referral
Appendix F	False Negatives from Multivariate Model for 5-10-year Screening
Appendix G	False Positives from Multivariate Model for 5-10-year Screening
Appendix H	False Negatives from Multivariate Model for 2-3-year Screening
Appendix I	False Positives from Multivariate Model for 2-3-year Screening

Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION

1.1 Colorectal Cancer in Newfoundland and Labrador

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common form of cancer in Canada, accounting for 13% of all subtypes. It carries a lifetime risk of 6.3%, among which 12% of patients will die – the second highest mortality rate of all cancers [1]. Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) has both the highest incidence and mortality rates of CRC among males and females in Canada, in addition to the highest rate of familial CRC worldwide [2]. In 2019, age-standardized CRC incidence rates per 100,000 people in NL were 114 among males and 75 among females; compared to 72 in males and 51 in females across the rest of Canada. Similarly, age-standardized mortality rates per 100,000 people in NL were 46 among males and 32 among females; compared to 27 in males and 18 in females across the rest of Canada [1].

In a previous study [2], we concluded that NL's high rate of CRC mortality is neither a result of decreased survival after diagnosis, nor more adverse prognostic factors, but rather a direct result of a higher incidence rate. One of our proposed strategies to reduce CRC incidence was through a population-based familial CRC clinic that would provide colonoscopic screening recommendations to families of patients with CRC based on several variables, including a calculated risk score. The process has proven to be inefficient in the management of probands (particularly those at 'Intermediate' risk), in addition to yielding low response rates and inefficient usage of genetic counselors' time. The purpose of the current study was to evaluate the utility of multivariate prediction models for referral to a genetic counselor and for colonoscopy screening recommendations in families with CRC and using the recommendations made by genetic counselors as the comparator. The decisions assessed are outlined in Figures 1 and 2.



Figure 1: Decision Tree for Incident Colorectal Cancer Patients in Newfoundland and Labrador

Figure 2: Decision Tree for Family Members of Colorectal Cancer Patients in Newfoundland and Labrador



Chapter 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Literature Search

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using medical databases PubMed, MEDLINE, EMBASE, and The Cochrane Library. The World Wide Web was also searched without using a specific time frame, accessing the websites for key groups. Combinations of the following key words were used to perform the search: "colorectal cancer", "hereditary colorectal cancer", "familial colorectal cancer", "lynch syndrome", "hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer", "screening", "genetic counselor", "genetic counseling", "polyps", "tumorigenesis", "familial colorectal cancer type x", "genetics", "polyposis syndromes", "hamartomatous polyps", "molecular pathways", "prevention" and "newfoundland". When relevant, reference lists of papers were used to identify additional literature.

2.2 Epidemiology

Colorectal cancer is among the most common forms of cancer worldwide, carrying a 6.3% lifetime risk [1]. The prognosis in patients with CRC has steadily improved over the past number of decades in developed countries. In Canada, the 5-year relative survival has reached nearly 65% [3]. Two principal factors in determining survival rate are age at diagnosis and stage. Relative survival decreases with age, while stage at diagnosis is the single most important prognostic factor. A study in the United States reported the 5-year relative survival of patients diagnosed with CRC to be 90.1% for patients with localized stage, 69.2% for patients with regional spread, and 11.7% for patients with distant tumor spread [4].

No single risk factor accounts for most cases of CRC. Apart from age and male sex, several other independent risk factors have been identified in epidemiological studies, including family history of CRC, inflammatory bowel disease, smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, excessive consumption of red and processed meats, obesity and diabetes. Risk increase has been strongest in patients with one or multiple first-degree relatives with CRC, among which lower age of

diagnosis further increased risk. As a result, the focus on inherited etiology of CRC remains an important topic [5, 6].

2.3 Hereditary Colorectal Cancer

Colorectal cancer has a substantial heritable component, with upwards of 25-35% of incident cases being attributable to heritable factors. The two most common forms, Lynch Syndrome and Familial Adenomatous Polyposis occur via autosomal dominant inheritance, and together account for 5 percent of all CRC [7].

Lynch Syndrome (LS), often used synonymously with the term Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC) is the most common hereditary syndrome associated with CRC, representing 3 percent of incident CRC cases [8]. HNPCC tends to comprise of single adenomas that are difficult to distinguish from sporadic tumors. As such, despite being the most common hereditary syndrome, it is often underdiagnosed [9]. HNPCC refers to a broad spectrum of familial CRC that encompasses disorders that may mimic clinical features of LS, despite not having the mismatch repair gene mutations characteristic to Lynch Syndrome. As such, HNPCC is dichotomized into LS and Familial CRC Type X (FCCTX). LS is characterized by heritable germline mutations to one of four MMR genes: MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2. These mutations result in tumor microsatellite instability (MSI) that causes CRC as well as extracolonic cancer susceptibility (HNPCC also presents itself at extra-colonic sites, namely the endometrium, stomach, ovaries, pancreas, ureter, renal pelvis, biliary tract, brain, sebaceous gland, and small bowel) [10, 11]. FCCTX describes cases of CRC meeting the criteria for LS, but whose tumors are proficient in DNA MMR proteins and limited to the colorectum [12].

Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP) is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by the development of multiple (>100) adenomas throughout the colorectum [13]. Classical FAP is caused my inherited germline mutations in the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene on chromosome 5q21 [14, 15]. Half of FAP patients develop adenomas before the age of 15, and the lifetime risk of CRC approaches 100% in FAP patients who are not treated by prophylactic colectomy [16].

Lastly, Peutz-Jehgers syndrome (PJS) is another rare autosomal dominant, inherited condition caused by a mutated STK11 gene and characterized by unique gastrointestinal polyps and mucocutaneous pigmentation. PJS polyps can develop anywhere in the gastrointestinal tract, although commonly in the jejunum, ileum and duodenum. These polyps can display a phenomenon known as pseudo-invasion, which tends to mimic the features of an invasive carcinoma [17, 18].

2.4 Nonpolyposis Syndromes: Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer, Lynch Syndrome and Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X2.4.1 Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer

In 1913, Dr. Aldred Warthin published a large pedigree with a number of colorectal cancer cases in the absence of polyposis, in addition to cases with uterine and gastric cancer labelled 'Family G' [19]. In 1966, Lynch et al. reported two large Midwestern families labeled families 'N' and 'M' whose tumors were analogous to Warthin's Family G [20]. The study of these families, along with several others, were central in defining the original features of LS. In 1993, a genome analysis was performed in several large families with autosomal dominant inheritance of CRC which led to the discovery of 2 loci on chromosomes 2p and 3p [21, 22]. Tumors in these cases were distinguishable from non-familial cases due to instability of DNA microsatellites that implicated errors in MMR – a novel pathway in CRC development at the time [23, 24]. These discoveries provided the basis for cloning the 4 MMR genes most associated with HNPCC, MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 [25-27].

2.4.2 Lynch Syndrome

The term HNPCC was often criticized for its narrow focus on colorectal cancer and has since been replaced with the eponymous Lynch Syndrome to characterize families affected with germline mutations in DNA MMR genes. MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 code for proteins that are integral to the function in MMR, which correct nucleotide mismatches that have evaded the normal editing function of DNA polymerase. Single-base mismatch and insertion-deletion loop errors that form during DNA replication can result in mutations in genes that regulate cell growth and promote neoplasia. In an intact MMR system, proteins bind to nucleotide base mismatches of double-stranded DNA or loops of microsatellites to target them for repair. A heterodimer complex between MSH2-MSH6 (MutS) recognizes single nucleotide mis-pairs and binds to the mismatched sequence. A second heterodimer complex between MLH1-PMS2 (MutL) binds to MutS to remove bases from the new DNA strand, which allows for re-synthesis of DNA with the correct base pairing [28, 29].

Most individuals with LS have germline mutations in one of the 4 DNA MMR genes. A second 'hit' or somatic event in the wild-type (WT) allele is required to render both copies of the MMR gene inactive. Mutations in the MLH1 and MSH2 genes were originally thought to represent 90% of all LS cases [7]. However, a population-based study evaluating universal molecular tumor testing on consecutive CRC cases found the prevalence of MSH6 and PMS2 gene mutations to be as high as 13% and 9%, respectively [30].

Individuals with LS are at increased risk for developing CRC, as well as cancers of the endometrium, ovaries, stomach, small intestine, urinary tract, brain, pancreas and sebaceous glands. Colorectal cancer and polyps in LS tend to arise at an early age, although age of onset can vary. CRC tumors in LS are predominately right-sided, and the risk of developing metachronous CRC is close to 30% at 10 years after the first diagnosis. Histologically, LS-associated tumors are mucinous, poorly differentiated, have a large number of lymphocytes and more than 90% display a high-level of MSI [7].

The lifetime risk of developing CRC with LS is between 50-80% [7]. Other LS-associated cancer risks may vary according to which MMR gene is mutated. Studies assessing genotype-phenotype correlations have found higher risks for CRC in families with MLH1 gene mutations, in addition to younger age of onset when compared to cases with MSH2 and MSH6 mutations. [31, 32]. The risk of extra-colonic tumors appears higher among MSH2 carriers. MSH6 carriers appear to have a lower risk of CRC and at later ages than MLH1 and MSH2 carriers; however, the risk of

endometrial cancer appears to be higher in some families [33, 34]. In a large study that evaluated gene-specific risk estimates among 537 French families with identified MMR gene mutations, overall cancer risks were lower for MSH6 carriers, compared with MLH1 or MSH2 gene mutation carriers. Although risks of CRC were similar among MLH1 and MSH2 carriers, endometrial cancer risk was highest in MLH1 carriers, and the cumulative risks of other Lynch syndrome cancers were highest among MSH2 gene mutation carriers [35].

Data regarding cancer risk for PMS2 mutation carriers remains limited, but as aforementioned, these individuals appear to have lower overall risk of cancer compared to other MMR mutation carriers. Lifetime risk of CRC ranges from 15-20%, 15% for endometrial cancer, and 25-32% for any other LS-associated cancer up to 70 years of age [36].

The high variability in cancer risks among LS carriers is related in part to modifier genes and environmental factors [37]. Several studies on heterogeneity of age of CRC onset among carriers attribute this to modifier genes that include IGF1, RNASEL and HFE genes [38]. More recent associations have been made between genes regulating the cell cycle, xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes, telomerase and young age CRC onset in MMR gene mutation carriers [39].

2.4.3 Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X

Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X (FCCTX) describes a subset of colorectal cancer cases that meet the Amsterdam I criteria (AC1) of Lynch Syndrome, but whose tumors are DNA MMR-proficient when tested for MSI or tumor immunohistochemistry [40]. Between 2-5% of CRC cases fulfil the AC1. The heterogenous HNPCC subset of CRC is made up of the 4% linked to LS, the <1% with a Lynch-like syndrome, and the 2-4% classified as FCCTX. Approximately one-third of LS families fulfil the AC1, while several groups have reported that nearly half of CRC cases that fulfil AC1 are now classified as FCCTX [41, 42]. Despite FCCTX representing a major cause of hereditary CRC, it remains both poorly defined and investigated.

FCCTX pedigrees typically display autosomal-dominant inheritance, although the genetic etiology remaining largely unknown. Relative to LS, FCCTX has been associated with less

morbid outcomes. Lindor et al. have reported FCCTX to have lower predisposition to CRC (standard incidence ratio 2.3 vs 6.1), older mean age of diagnosis (50-60 years old vs 40 years old), left-sided in 70 percent of cases, less likely to be associated with synchronous or metachronous adenomas, and lastly, not associated with any extra-colonic cancers [40].

When compared to LS, FCCTX has also been associated with a more tubular growth pattern and less frequent mucinous histology [43]. FCCTX tumors typically show a more sporadic-like phenotype with medium to high differentiation, glandular and infiltrative growth patterns, as well as 'dirty' necrosis [44, 45]. The lack of explicit histopathological features makes the identification of FCCTX-associated cancers challenging. FCCTX surveillance programs target CRC, and feature screening colonoscopies, typically at 3-5-year intervals beginning 5-10 years prior to the earliest age of onset in the family [40, 46].

A number of genome association studies have investigated susceptibility loci in hereditary CRC. While they are not specifically linked to FCCTX, several candidate genetic variants have been identified, namely *CENPE, CDH18, GALNT12, ZNF367, HABP4, GABBR2, BMP4, GREM1, KIF24 AND BCR* [47]. Furthermore, two miRNA, *hsa-mir-491* and *hsa-mir-646* have shown preliminary association, with further data required [48].

The genomic profiles of FCCTX tumors mimic those of sporadic MMR-proficient CRC, making them a challenge to differentiate from one another [49]. Comparative genomic hybridization studies have suggested differences in both genomic and gene expression, most notably the gain of chromosome 20q, which has been specifically linked to FCCTX tumors [50]. Gene expression data from FCCTX tumors has also suggested upregulation of genes involved in peptidyl-amino acid modification, enzyme-linked receptor protein signaling, growth regulation, DNA repair pathways, vascular smooth muscle contraction, and G protein-coupled receptor signaling [51, 52].

In summary, the current understanding of the literature postulates that FCCTX tumor development is linked to inhibition of apoptosis, insensitive growth inhibitory signals and

increased migration that may result in infiltrative growth patterns and 'dirty' necrosis. The basic mechanisms of the FCCTX tumor genome continue to be defined.

2.5 Polyposis Syndromes

2.5.1 Familial Adenomatous Polyposis and Attenuated Familial Adenomatous Polyposis

Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) is the second most common inherited colorectal cancer syndrome, with a prevalence of 1:10,000. FAP is an autosomal dominant disorder, as a result of an inherited mutation in the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene on 5q21. The majority of mutations that affect APC occur on exon 15, resulting in 'truncated' proteins. The APC gene normally encodes a tumor suppressor protein responsible for binding and degrading cytoplasmic β -catenin. However, when β -catenin fails to bind to APC, the gene transcription in the nucleus activates, which enables the proliferation of MYC and cyclin D1. The result is adenomatous polyp formation and eventual carcinoma [53].

Approximately 10-30% of FAP patients develop the disorder spontaneously, without family history [54]. Phenotypic expression is often varied as a result of genetic variation from multiple mutation sites, in addition to environmental and dietary factors [55].

While classical FAP is the second most common hereditary CRC, it accounts for less than one percent of all CRC, yet germline mutations of APC are 100% penetrant [56]. The classical phenotype in FAP patients is the presence of hundreds to thousands of adenomatous polyps of the bowel by adolescence, and typically, CRC by the age of 40 [57]. As a result, patient often undergo prophylactic surgery, removing the bowel. FAP is also associated with other extracolonic disorders, namely upper GI carcinomas, desmoid tumors, epidermoid cysts, osteomas, congenital hypertrophy of the retinal pigmented epithelium and papillary thyroid cancers [58].

Attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis (aFAP) is another product of APC germline mutation. In comparison to FAP, aFAP is a much less severe disorder, characterized by fewer

polyps (<100), a tendency for proximal colonic adenomas, and a later age of onset of CRC at an average age of 59 years [59, 60].

2.5.2 MUTYH-Associated Polyposis and Polymerase Proofreading-Associated Polyposis

MUTYH-Associated Polyposis (MAP) is an autosomal recessive form of FAP that carries an incidence of 1 in 10,000 with near 100% penetrance due to mutations in the MutY homolog (hMUTYH) gene [61]. Similar to classical FAP, MAP is also associated with extracolonic disease that include desmoid tumors, duodenal adenomas, fundic gland polyps, as well as ovarian, bladder and endometrial cancers [62]. MAP results from mutations to the MUTYH gene, a base excision gene that monitors coupling in DNA replication. The mutation causes transversion of G:C to T:A coupling in the APC or KRAS gene [63]. The two most common mutations are Y179C and G396D, which lead to adenomatous polyposis with APC mutations and serrated polyposis with *KRAS* mutations. Increased risk of CRC has also been reported in MutY mutation carriers [64].

Polymerase Proofreading-Associated Polyposis (PPAP) is a highly penetrant autosomaldominant disorder. This particular syndrome is characterized by less than 100 adenomatous polyps and is linked to germline mutations in DNA polymerase ε and δ [65]. Germline mutations to DNA polymerase δ have been associated with increased risk of endometrial cancer. Both mutations interfere with the proofreading endonuclease function of DNA polymerase, which can result in mutations in the APC and KRAS genes, leading to adenomatous polyposis. The majority of resultant CRC cases are diagnosed between the ages of 30 and 50 [66].

2.6 Hamartomatous Polyps: Peutz-Jehgers Syndrome, Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome, PTEN-hamartoma Tumor Syndrome

Peutz-Jehgers Syndrome (PJS) is an autosomal-dominant disorder caused by germline mutations of STK11 on chromosome 19. Mutations on STK11, a tumor suppressor gene, result in dysfunctional or absent Serine-Threonine kinase enzyme activity, which in turn leads to unregulated cell proliferation and gastrointestinal hamartomatous polyposis – the fundamental

feature of PJS. PJS is also characterized by mucocutaneous pigmentation and extra-colonic cancers. The polyps are predominantly found in the small intestine, although they present in the colon in nearly half of cases as well [67]. PJS carries an incidence of 1:200,000 and 95% penetrance, in addition to a 40% lifetime risk of CRC [68]. Genetic testing for STK11 mutations is recommended for suspected patients. They include individuals with early-onset pigmented lesions, PJS-related hamartomatous polyps, and first-degree relatives of patients with PJS [69].

Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome (JPS) is a sporadic autosomal dominant disorder characterized by five or more juvenile polyps in the colon. It carries an incidence of 1:100,000 and 90% penetrance, in addition to a lifetime risk of up to 50% of developing CRC, and 20% risk of upper GI cancer [65, 70]. Mutations in SMAD4 on chromosome 18q21 and BMPR1A on 10q22 have both been linked to JPS. Both are involved in the TGF- β signaling pathway that regulates cell proliferation. As such, mutations to either have led to polyposis, dysplasia, and adenocarcinoma. Moreover, up to 60% and 15% of JPS patients in the United States have germline mutations in SMAD4 and BMPR1A, respectively [58]. JPS predominantly presents as rectal bleeding, anemia, and polyp prolapse by the age of 10. Colonoscopies are recommended every two years from the time of diagnosis, or at age 15 years for at-risk patients [69].

Lastly, PTEN-hamartoma tumor syndrome, commonly known as Cowden syndrome (CS), is an autosomal dominant syndrome characterized by colonic polyps, macrocephaly, and extra-colonic neoplasms [68]. It carries a lifetime risk of CRC between nine and 18 percent [69]. CS has been linked to germline mutations of the PTEN gene, a tumor suppressing gene on chromosome 10q23 that inhibits the mTOR/AKT signaling pathway used in cell proliferation, cell cycle progression and apoptosis [71]. The resultant mutation leads to increased pathway signaling, and eventually, large bowel polyposis [72]. Individuals with colonic polyps, extra-colonic disorders characteristic of CS, and first-degree relatives with CS are considered at-risk, and candidates for genetic testing and subsequent screening.

2.7 Hyperplastic Polyps

Hyperplastic polyposis (HPP) is a rare condition characterized by multiple large hyperplastic polyps on the colon. Little is known about the etiology, history or incidence of HPP. Diagnostic criteria include 20-30 cumulative hyperplastic polyps of any size, throughout the colon; 5 or more polyps proximal to the sigmoid colon (of which 2 are greater than 10mm in diameter); or 1 or more hyperplastic colonic polyp in first degree relatives of HPP patients [73]. Sessile serrated polyps have recently been added to the polyp histological type as well. HPP is often asymptomatic, and only identified during screening colonoscopies. HPP does present an increased risk of CRC, in the range of 30-35%. Synchronous and metachronous cancers are frequently observed, often in a patient's 50s or 60s [74]. There are currently no precise surveillance strategies against HPP. However, regular colonoscopies every 1-2 years has been widely accepted [75].

2.8 Familial Non-Autosomal-Dominant Colorectal Cancer

Despite approximately 30% of patients diagnosed with colorectal cancer having a family history of the disease, as few as five percent of them carry germline mutations inherited in an autosomal-dominant fashion [41]. As aforementioned in sections 2.4.1 and 2.5.1, the two major forms of autosomal-dominant inherited CRC are FAP and HNPCC, of which the latter is considerably more common. Familial non-autosomal-dominant CRC thus refers to cases with familial traits, but without identifiable genetic causes. This is of particular importance in NL, as it has the highest rate of familial CRC in the world.

A 2007 study by Green et al. [11] investigated the contribution of genetic and environmental factors to the incidence of CRC in NL and compared it with data from Ontario where the same recruitment and risk-assessment criteria are used. These data were then compared to results published from 13 other population-based studies across the world.

Out of 702 cases in NL, n=32 (4.6%) of patients were classified as high risk, compared to 2.7% in Ontario. Among this cohort, n=6 were a result of a diagnosis of family history of FAP. Twenty-four (3.4%) of the 702 cases met Amsterdam I criteria (see 2.11.1), which is 2.8-fold

higher than the aggregate from the 13 other populations (p<0.0001). Twenty-six patients met the criteria for Amsterdam Criteria II at a rate of 3.7%, and 1.7-fold higher than the aggregate from the other centers (p=0.02). Moreover, of the n=26 meeting Amsterdam criteria, n=15 of them (58%) had microsatellite-stable (MSS) tumors, and thus cannot be attributed to autosomal-dominant genetic factors, despite rampant family history.

Intermediate-risk cases were those that do not meet FAP or Amsterdam criteria, but one or more of the Bethesda criteria (see 2.11.2). This classification included 43% of the NL cases, compared to 31% in Ontario. Thus, the proportion of NL patients meeting Bethesda criteria is 1.4-fold higher than in Ontario (p<0.001). Furthermore, 31% of NL patients had at least one first-degree relative affected with CRC, compared to 20.4% in Ontario.

The higher number of intermediate and high-risk cases in NL can be attributed to a number of possibilities. A significant family history can indicate a familial trait, but not necessarily an inherited trait. This is to suggest that perhaps environmental and lifestyle factors specific to NL are responsible for the increased incidence of CRC, among it, familial non-autosomal-dominant cases. The high rate of familial CRC could also be due to the limited number of immigrants who established the NL population, and therefore attributable to founder mutations [11]. The incidence of CRC is 27% higher than the national average, and it is believed to be genetic, or at least familial.

2.9 Molecular Pathways

The pathogenesis of colorectal cancer is complex and varies according to a number of factors. It can be influenced by genetic predispositions, as well as dietary and lifestyle factors. The consensus understanding of these different pathways is characterized by models of genetic instability, clinical manifestations, and pathological characteristics. The majority of CRC follows the microsatellite instability (MSI) pathway or the chromosomal instability (CIN) pathway. Both the MSI and CIN pathways result in genomic instability, a major mechanism of colorectal tumorigenesis. The third novel pathway involved in pathogenesis is the serrated pathway, also

known as the CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP). Recently, a fourth pathway has been investigated, in which microRNA (miRNA) actively contribute to colorectal carcinogenesis.

2.9.1 Microsatellite Instability

Microsatellites are short, highly repetitive areas of repeat nucleotide sequences spread across the genome. The DNA mismatch repair (MMR) system recognizes and repairs mismatches that occur during DNA replication [76]. Microsatellite instability is caused by inactivity of the MMR system and can be identified by a change in the number of DNA microsatellites. There are five validated microsatellite markers used for reference in the detection of MSI, collectively known as the Bethesda panel. They are *BAT25*, *BAT26*, *D2S123*, *D5S346* and *D17S250*. MSI-high is defined by instability of at least two markers, MSI-low is defined by instability of one marker, while MSS (microsatellite-stable) tumors have no apparent instability [77].

The discovery of MSI, coupled with its link to HNPCC have led to recognition of MSI as a pathway in colorectal carcinogenesis. Genomic instability by way of germline mutation in MMR genes accounts for 95% of HNPCC cases, while somatic mutation or hypermethylation silencing of MMR genes account for approximately 15% of sporadic CRC [78].

The MMR system itself is composed of multiple interacting proteins, including MutS homologue 2 (MSH2) and MutL homologue 1 (MLH1). Other identified members of the MMR system include MSH6, PMS2, MLH3, MSH3, PMS1 and Exo1 [76].

Sporadic, MSI-high CRC is often caused by hypermethylation silencing of MLH1. Moreover, in 95% of HNPCC cases, mutations are present in *h*MLH1 and *h*MSH2 [79]. Clinical manifestations vary, depending on the mutated gene. Mutated MSH2 is associated with a 40-60% increased risk of endometrial cancer, while mutated MLH1 with a 50-80% increased risk of CRC. Moreover, MSH6 mutations are associated with an 11-19% increased risk of gastric cancer, while PMS2 with a 9-12% increased risk of ovarian cancer [80].

2.9.2 Chromosomal Instability Pathway

The chromosomal instability (CIN) pathway is the most common and well-defined colorectal pathway, accounting for 65-70% of sporadic colorectal cancer. Tumorigenesis involves mitotic spindle checkpoint regulators and proteins that influence chromosome stability [81]. The primary initial mutation is that of the APC tumor suppressor gene, involved in both sporadic CIN and FAP [82]. As aforementioned in section 2.5.1, there is a germline mutation of the APC gene that has been identified in 60-80 percent of families with FAP [83]. Following the initial mutations in the CIN pathway, new mutations are promoted, and benign tumors progress to malignant stages.

The proto-oncogene, *K-ras*, determines the transition of an adenoma to a carcinoma. Mutations to *K-ras* happen at codon 12 and 13, which keep the gene in an active state, thus evading apoptosis and continue growing [84]. The later stages of colorectal tumorigenesis often feature loss of function of the p53 system. Mutations to the p53 gene results in the loss of cell cycle control and apoptosis, subsequently stimulating high proliferative activity. As reported by Lanza *et al.* [85], loss of function of the p53 system is associated with loss of heterozygosity of chromosome 18q in 65.4% of cases. Loss of heterozygosity of 18q has been strongly associated with negative prognosis in CRC as a result of high metastatic potential [86].

2.9.3 Serrated Pathway

Serrated adenocarcinoma is a subset of colorectal cancer that accounts for approximately 10 percent of incident cases. It follows another pathway in which serrated polyps serve as the CRC precursor lesion [87]. Serrated polyps form a heterogeneous group of colorectal lesions, namely hyperplastic polyps, sessile serrated adenoma, traditional serrated adenoma and mixed polyps. Molecularly, classical adenoma-carcinoma pathways are governed by CIN and *KRAS* mutations [88]. The serrated pathway, however, included *BRAF* mutations and hypermethylation of gene promoter (CpG island methylator phenotype) [89]. The MSI pathway has also been detected in the serrated pathway, in addition to classical adenoma-carcinoma sequences. Morphologically, serrated carcinomas that develop from serrated adenomas are generally microsatellite stable

(MSS) or MSI-low (MSI-L). Those originating from sessile serrated adenomas are MSI-high (MSI-H). Common histological features include presence of epithelial serrations, clear and abundant cytoplasm, vesicular nuclei, absence of necrosis, mucin production, and presence of cell balls or rods. The presence of serrated lesion in the periphery of the infiltrative carcinoma is also indicative of a serrated carcinoma [90].

Hyperplastic polyps are the most common serrated polyp in the colon – accounting for approximately 90 percent of all serrated polyps, and 15 percent of all polyps of the colon. HPs are generally small (<5mm) and are most frequently located in the distal colon [91].

The most frequent genetic alterations in the serrated pathway involve *BRAF* and *KRAS* mutations. Both *BRAF* and *KRAS* encode for kinases of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade that mediates cellular signaling involving cell proliferation, apoptosis and differentiation. Mutations to *BRAF* and *KRAS* result in activation of the MAPK pathway and subsequent uncontrolled cell proliferation [92]. Sefanius et al. reported high frequency of *KRAS* mutations (45.2%) in serrated adenocarcinoma, suggesting a significant amount of *KRAS* mutated CRC originated from serrated polyps [93]. O'Brien et al. reported high frequencies of *BRAF* mutations (V600E) among serrated carcinomas (82%), also suggesting that this mutation is a marker of the serrated pathway. *KRAS* mutations occur predominantly at codon 12, the most common of which are G12D, G12V and G13D which are mutated in 0-73% of serrated polyps, 6-73% of HPs, 7-25% of SSAs, and 0-28% of TSAs. The most frequent mutation in *BRAF* is V600E, occurring in 0-88% of HPs, 32-83% of SSA and 60-76% of TSA [94].

Another molecular alteration in the serrated pathway is MSI. Tumors with two or more unstable markers are considered MSI high (MSI-H), those with only one unstable marker are considered MSI low (MSI-L), while tumors without unstable markers are considered stable (MSS) [95]. Sefanius et al. reported that 20.6% of serrated cancer showed MSI-H [93].

The CIMP phenotype is another feature of the serrated pathway. The methylation of the CpG island is considered to cause transcriptional silencing as well as inhibition of gene expression by binding methyl groups to cytosine-guanine dinucleotide sequences in the promoter regions [96].

This is commonly observed in precursor serrated lesions and colorectal polyps. The CIMP is frequent in serrated polyps in the proximal colon [87]. Among serrated adenomas, CIMP-H is overserved in 44-77% of SSA and 43-80% of TSA [94]. Hypermethylation of CpG island is more frequently associated with *BRAF* mutation than with *KRAS* mutations in serrated CRC. The status of CIMP is also often correlated with MSI status and mutations in both *KRAS* and *BRAF* oncogenes [97].

2.9.4 microRNA

Recently, microRNAs (miRNA) have been proposed to be involved in colorectal cancer pathogenesis. MicroRNAs are short, non-coding single-stranded RNAs ranging from 18-25 nucleotides long [98]. Through the inhibition of mRNA translation, they in turn modulate protein expression. A strong correlation between miRNA expression and tumorigenesis has led to a variety of research to investigate their potential as cancer biomarkers.

Typical disease progression in CRC involves both upregulation of oncogenes, and downregulation of tumor suppressor genes. Similarly, miRNA activity in CRC is also both upregulated and downregulated [99]. The first association between microRNA and CRC was identified in 2003 by Michael *et al.* [100], who observed decreased levels of miR-143 and miR-145 in CRC tissue compared to healthy tissue. Oncogenic miRNAs target and downregulate tumor-suppressor genes in their regulation of pathways, often leading to cancer formation. Conversely, tumor-suppressive miRNAs downregulate growth and metastasis genes.

A major pathway involved in uncontrolled proliferation in CRC is the MAP kinase pathway, which involves the protein RAS. A 2006 study by Bandres *et al.* investigated miRNA expression in both tumoral and non-tumoral CRC tissues [101]. They observed divergent expression of miRNAs in CRC cases with *KRAS* or *BRAF* mutations, suggesting a link between altered miRNA expression and the RAS pathway. miR-143 and miR-145 downregulate RAS and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor, and act as tumor-suppressive miRNAs in CRC [102]. Loss of apoptotic control is another necessary characteristic for uncontrolled cell growth. miR-195 and miR-491 have been shown to promote apoptosis by targeting certain B-cells [103]. miR-96

is upregulated in CRC, exerting downregulatory effects on p53 activity [104], while miR-34a has been found to increase p53 activity [105].

The diagnostic potential of miRNAs in CRC is important. They have shown promise in improving screening and diagnostic methods for primary and metastatic CRC tumors. The use of miRNAs as a screening tool not only eliminates common discomforts associated with colonoscopies, but also display stable, tissue specific expression – a useful trait for a potential biomarker [106]. Differential miRNA expression can differentiate colon cancers from rectal cancers, and MSI CRC from MSS CRC [107]. Current practice for CRC metastasis testing uses carcinoembryonic antigen as a biomarker. Chang and colleagues [108] have shown that miR-141 can be used in collaboration with CEA to increase predictive capabilities. The discovery of the relationship between miRNA and CRC pathogenesis is relatively novel, however, further understanding of miRNA will see its role in the diagnosis and treatment of CRC increase.

2.10 Screening

2.10.1 Screening Techniques

Despite ranking third among the most commonly diagnosed cancers worldwide, colorectal cancer is also one of the most preventable forms of cancer [109]. Recent treatment modalities for CRC have largely improved disease outcome and patient survival, but at a markedly increased cost. Screening and interventional strategies, however, have been shown to cost-effective strategies in preventing CRC incidence and mortality [110]. Survival is better at earlier stages of CRC, thus screening for early-stage CRC is worthwhile.

As a result of the invasive nature of colonoscopy, there are several widely used non-invasive screening methods for patients with a negative family history, namely fecal occult blood testing (FOBT), computed tomography colonography, flexible sigmoidoscopy and double-contrast barium enema. There are two types of FOBT, the first of which is guaiac-based (gFOBT) which detects peroxidase-like activity of heme. A 2008 study [111] provided level 1 evidence that 2-3 rounds of annual or biennial gFOBT would reduce CRC mortality by 16% (95% CI, 10-22%). However, the gFOBT has been criticized for its limited cancer sensitivity and poor detection of

adenomas. In an effort to improve sensitivity, the fecal immunochemical test (FIT) was developed. The FIT uses antibodies to human globin and can be varied to adjust sensitivity and specificity. Unlike the gFOBT, the FIT has no dietary restrictions, and RCTs have reported a 13-15% higher participation rate than the gFOBT [112, 113]. Cross-sectional studies using colonoscopy for reference observed FIT detecting cancer and advanced adenomas three times more frequently than the gFOBT [112]. Furthermore, in a 2012 study of 1256 participants who underwent both FIT and a colonoscopy, FIT detected 7 of 8 cancers and 38 of 111 adenomas [114]. The results of these studies as well as popular consensus suggests FIT as a viable replacement for gFOBT as the FOBT test of choice.

Computed tomography (CT) colonography is a relatively new, and attractive screening test for a number of reasons, namely its non-invasive nature and high (>90%) sensitivity for cancer and polyps (>1cm) [115]. CT colonography involves the administration of oral contrast agents, followed by bowel distention through anal insufflation of carbon dioxide. A colonoscopy is then ordered if there are any positive findings. Despite some of the attractive features of CT colonography, it's limited by its high cost, its inability to detect small or flat polyps like sessile serrated adenomas, and the fact that if a polyp is indeed found, it requires a follow-up scope to remove it anyway. Moreover, incidental lesions outside the GI tract are often detected, and necessitate further imaging or investigations. A randomized population-based trial also reported participants to find CT colonography more burdensome than colonoscopy due to the bowel dissention without sedation and subsequent disturbed bowel habit [112]. However, CT colonography offers an attractive alternative to double-contrast barium enema for patients unable to undergo colonoscopy.

Flexible sigmoidoscopy (FS) is an endoscopic examination of the rectum and sigmoid colon and is a common alternative to FOBT. It is performed using a flexible instrument inserted into the sigmoid colon through the anus. Both malignant tumors and benign lesions can be detected, the latter of which can be removed in the same session without anesthesia or patient discomfort. Follow-up colonoscopies are often offered. A 2014 randomized controlled trial [116] investigated the effectiveness of FS on CRC incidence and mortality. Compared to the control group, participants in the screening group had reduced CRC incidence at ages 50-54 (Hazard

Ratio 0.68, 95% CI: 0.49-0.94) and ages 55-64 (Hazard Ratio 0.83, 95% CI: 0.71-0.96). Flexible sigmoidoscopy has also proven effective in reducing CRC mortality. Four population-based, prospective, RCTs have shown a 22-31% decrease in CRC mortality using one-off FS [117]. Flexible sigmoidoscopy is limited in that its benefits are confined to distal cancers within reach of the sigmoidoscope.

Lastly, double-contrast barium enema is commonly employed to study the colon through radiologic imaging, involving a barium enema injection. Its strengths include its cost-effectiveness, and ability to detect CRC throughout the entire colon, beyond the range of incomplete colonoscopies [118]. A study comparing double-contrast barium enema to FOBT in detecting neoplastic lesions of the colon associated the procedure with increases in detection rates of cancer or adenoma of 2.3/1000 and 3.8/1000, respectively [119]. The procedure can be limited, however, by its low sensitivity to polyps [119], and a required follow-up colonoscopy to confirm findings.

The majority of CRC develop from a preclinical precursor, the adenoma, which can be identified and removed by colonoscopic polypectomy [120]. As such, worldwide guidelines often endorse screening after the age of 50 [121]. Despite being invasive in nature, the colonoscopy is widely viewed as a comfortable procedure. Coupled with its ability to examine the entire colon, the colonoscopy is the predominant screening strategy worldwide [122]. Despite the invasive nature of colonoscopy, a study of patients within the same practice receiving un-sedated flexible sigmoidoscopy were more than twice as likely not to be screened again versus those screened with sedated colonoscopy [123]. The major advantage of colonoscopy lies in its unmatched ability to detect precancerous lesions and cancer. While CT colonography can also detect cancer, it still requires bowel preparation, has radiation-associated risks and is costly [122]. Colonoscopy appears to be the standard in detection of serrated lesions as well. Neither CT colonography, gFOBT or FIT could detect serrated lesions when tested, while fecal DNA was the only noninvasive test with sensitivity to serrated lesions [124]. Lastly, an important advantage of colonoscopy is its long-lasting protection from CRC. Colonoscopy is the only available test with recommendations at 10-year intervals [121]. Moreover, a recent German case-control study on colonoscopy reported substantial protection against CRC up to 20 years [125].

Disadvantages of colonoscopy lie in its negative perception, high complication rate, high cost and operator dependence. Patients who haven't undergone colonoscopy often cite fear of procedure and need for bowel preparation as major deterrents [126]. Despite the benefit largely outweighing the harm, the occurrence of perforation, aspiration and splenic injuries can be both expensive and fatal. While colonoscopy is merely a screening test, it has a relatively high complication rate. Colonoscopies have been criticized for their high cost, despite being relatively cost-effective [127]. Lastly, subjectivity associated with operator dependence of colonoscopies remains a disadvantage, namely with respect to variance among colonoscopists on adenoma and CRC detection rate [128]. In many cases this has led to more frequent screening intervals (often to 5-year intervals), which threatens the cost-effectiveness of the procedure [129].

While there is a lack of RCT on the impact of colonoscopy on CRC incidence and mortality, there is sufficient evidence to suggest a positive impact on both. Despite improvements in non-invasive screening techniques, colonoscopy remains the most effective screening test due to its unmatched detection abilities, coupled with its ability to examine the entire colon. Furthermore, improvements in technique such as low-volume bowel preparation, and high-definition, wide-angle colonoscopy have produced significant advantages and reduced discomfort.

2.10.2 Hereditary CRC Screening

Thirty percent of incident CRC cases have a heritable component, among which 5% arise from established inherited disorders such as the aforementioned LS, FAP and MAP [64]. Early identification and screening of these high-risk individuals is important, likewise with individuals with a family history of CRC without a confirmed genetic mutation. The lifetime risk of CRC in patients with LS varies upon the mutated MMR gene, but the average age of CRC diagnosis ranges between 44 to 61 years, as compared to 69 years in sporadic CRC patients. Screening for LS, however, saves lives, as LS patients have improved stage-to-stage survival of CRC than sporadic CRC patients [130]. Individuals suspected of LS with confirmed germline mutations of one of their MMR genes are recommended to undergo colonoscopy screening every 1-2 years beginning between the ages of 20-25, or ten years earlier than the youngest CRC onset in the
family [131]. Primary treatment for LS-affected patients with CRC is collectomy with ileorectal anastomosis [130].

As aforementioned in 2.5.1, FAP is an autosomal dominant inherited syndrome caused by germline mutation in the APC gene. Depending on the mutation location, FAP can manifest in either classical or attenuated form. Fifty percent of classical FAP patients develop adenomas by age 15, while 95 percent develop them by age 35. If left untreated, FAP patients develop CRC at an average age of 39. Patients with aFAP carry a 70% lifetime risk of CRC, about 12 years later than in classical FAP [132]. Patients at risk of FAP are recommended to be screened between the ages of 10-12. APC gene testing is the test of choice, but if it cannot be obtained, annual sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy is recommended between the ages of 10-15. Each subsequent decade, screening frequency can be reduced by a year until age 50, when screening should take place every 3 years [132]. Individuals suspected of aFAP are recommended for gene testing if more than 20 cumulative colorectal adenomas are found. Patients at risk for aFAP should begin screening with colonoscopy at age 12, 15, 18 and 21, then every 2 years [132]. Prophylactic colectomy should be performed upon diagnosis of FAP to prevent CRC development [64].

MUTYH-associated polyposis (MAP) is caused by germline mutation of both alleles of the MUTYH gene, and its colonic phenotype mimics that of aFAP. The risk of CRC in patients with MAP is 19% by age 50 and 43% by age 60, with an average age of onset of 48 years. Relatives of MAP patients with a heterozygous MUTYH mutation have a similar risk of CRC to that of sporadic CRC FDRs [133]. Patients with MAP are recommended for colonoscopy every 1-2 years. If endoscopy fails or CRC develops, subtotal colectomy is recommended [130].

2.11 Diagnostic Criteria to Measure Family Risk 2.11.1 Amsterdam Criteria

The International Collaborative Group on Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer (IGN-HNPCC) met in 1991 to develop the original Amsterdam Criteria (AC1) in an attempt to standardize diagnostic criteria for multicenter studies on HNPCC, and ultimately improve uniformity in the literature. The AC1 were subsequently developed as a high-specificity guideline for identifying HNPCC families for the purposes of genetic research and analysis [134]. Fulfilment of AC1 requires that: i) at least 3 relatives should have CRC; ii) one of the relatives is a first-degree relative of the other two; iii) two successive generations are affected; iv) at least one individual was diagnosed before 50 years of age; v) Familial Adenomatous Polyposis is excluded; and vi) the tumors are verified by a pathological exam.

While widely accepted, the AC1 were also criticized as some investigators felt that the criteria excluded extracolonic cancers that are part of the syndrome. The criteria were revised in 1998 with the aim of increasing sensitivity by improving physician's identification of families and extracolonic cancers associated with HNPCC, now termed the AC2 [135]. The extracolonic cancers include cancers of the endometrium, ureter, renal pelvis and small bowel.

The Amsterdam criteria were ultimately developed for the selection of families for research and were therefore more focused on specificity than sensitivity. Thus, many HNPCC families may be missed if the criteria were applied in a clinical setting. As a result, investigators developed additional criteria with increased sensitivity to identify other potential HNPCC families, chief among them the Bethesda Guidelines.

2.11.2 Bethesda Guidelines

Criticism of the Amsterdam criteria's clinical sensitivity coupled with improved understanding of clinical and histologic manifestations of HNPCC led to the development of the Bethesda Guidelines at a 1996 National Cancer Institute workshop [136]. The goal of the Bethesda Guidelines was to identify colorectal tumors that should undergo MSI testing. If they are found to have MSI, then MMR testing is recommended for them. A follow-up workshop was conducted to further aid in the identification of HNPCC kindreds for genetic testing, leading to the Revised Bethesda Guidelines release in 2004 [137]. The criteria are as follows: 1) a CRC patient who is less than 50 years of age; 2) presence of synchronous or metachronous CRC or other HNPCC-related tumor, any age; 3) CRC with MSI-high histology diagnosis in a patient who is less than 60 years of age; 4) individual and one first-degree relative with an HNPCC-related tumor with one of the cancers being diagnosed under the age of 50 years old; 5)

individual and 2 first- or second-degree relatives with HNPCC-related tumors, at any age. HNPCC-related tumors include colorectal, endometrial, stomach, ovarian, pancreas, renal, pelvic, biliary tract, brain (glioblastoma), small intestine, sebaceous gland adenomas and keratoacanthomas.

A 2007 assessment of both the revised Bethesda and Amsterdam criteria determined the sensitivity for detection of mutation carriers was 90% and 40%, respectively [46]. The positive predictive value of the revised Bethesda and Amsterdam criteria was 50% and 10-20%, respectively. Ultimately the assessment determined that the revised Bethesda criteria were appropriate for patients whose tumors require MSI testing.

2.11.3 Provincial Medical Genetics Criteria

The Provincial Medical Genetics (PMG) program developed criteria for the cascade testing protocol for MMR mutation identification. These criteria were developed by local expert opinion following review of the literature [2]. Families meeting these criteria had tumors and DNA sent to Toronto for cascade testing to diagnose HNPCC or LS. The criteria are collectively referred to as the age and cancer modified Amsterdam criteria (ACMAC), and are as follows:

PMG1: ACMAC

- (a) Three or more relatives with colorectal cancer or an HNPCC-associated cancer (colorectal, endometrial, stomach, ovarian, pancreas, ureter and renal pelvis, biliary tract, brain, sebaceous gland and small bowel carcinoma) AND
- (b) Colorectal or HNPCC-associated cancer in at least two generations AND
- (c) One or more colorectal or HNPCC-associated cancers diagnosed before age 60

Or one of the following PMG criteria:

PMG2: Colorectal carcinoma before age 40

PMG3: Endometrial carcinoma before age 45

PMG4: Sebaceous tumor (adenoma, carcinoma, epithelioma) before age 50 or multiple tumors at any age

PMG5: Presence of multiple HNPCC-related cancers in an individual, with one cancer before age 60

2.11.4 Family History Score

The Family History Score (FHS) was developed on the basis that a consistent predictor of cancer is family history of the disease. The score is calculated by describing the observed deviations from expected risk for each family during an observation period, while also taking into account family structure and risk covariates of family members like age, sex, race and birth cohort.

The expected risk of CRC for each family member is calculated using data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) program from the National Cancer Institute [8]. It multiplies age-, race- and time-specific US cancer incidence rates by age-, race- and birth cohort-specific person-years at risk. A negative FHS indicates that a family contains fewer members with cancer than expected, while a positive FHS indicates more. The magnitude of negative values is primarily determined by family size and average age of family members. Larger families with older average age among members without a family history of CRC have larger negative FHS values because the expected values were high. Similarly, small families with younger average age and a family history of CRC have larger positive FHS scores [138].

2.11.5 MMRpredict Score

The diagnosis of Lynch Syndrome or HNPCC is a complex process. One of the more efficient strategies at doing so has been through the use of MMR mutation prediction algorithms that use patient and family history to estimate the likelihood of being a MMR mutation carrier. Several models have been developed to predict the occurrence of these mutations in high-risk patients and families, namely the Lieden, PREMM, MMRpro and MMRpredict models. A 2009 study by Green et al. [8] compared several of these models with one another and assessed their performance on CRC patients from the general population. Risk scores were calculated from each of the models for all 725 patients participating in the study. The risk score represented the

probability that the patient with CRC was carrying a pathogenic mutation in an MMR gene. While all four models could discriminate between carriers and noncarriers of MMR mutations, the best performing model was MMRpredict which achieved a sensitivity of 94% and specificity of 91% when using a cutoff criterion of 1.66 and adjusting for family size. MMRpredict also identified a smaller proportion (11%) of patients than the revised Bethesda criteria (50%) as those who require molecular testing.

Variables in the MMRpredict model include age at diagnosis of CRC, sex, location of tumor, multiple CRCs, occurrence of, and age at, diagnosis of CRC in first-degree relatives, and occurrence of endometrial cancer in any first-degree relative [139].

2.12 Colorectal Cancer Risk Factors

Unlike most other cancers, there is no single risk factor accounting for the majority of colorectal cancer cases. Epidemiological studies have identified family history of CRC, smoking, alcohol consumption, obesity, diabetes, inflammatory bowel disease and consumption of red and processed meats as prominent risk factors [140].

2.12.1 Family History

Among the most prominent risk factors for developing colorectal cancer is family history. Specifically, the number of first-degree relatives (FDRs) with CRC, and their age at diagnosis. A 2013 meta-analysis based on 8091 cases of CRC in 16 studies reported a RR of 1.80 (95% CI: 1.61-2.02) for CRC development when an FDR was also affected [141]. Another meta-analysis of 27 studies reported a RR of 2.25 (95% CI: 2.00-2.53) under the same conditions [142]. That same meta-analysis reported increased RR (4.2; 95% CI: 3.01-6.08) if more than one FDR was affected, as well as if an FDR was 45 years or younger when affected (RR: 3.87; 95% CI: 2.40-6.22). Furthermore, RR was reduced to 1.82 if the FDR was 59 years or older when diagnosed (95% CI: 1.47-2.72).

2.12.2 Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) are also at a substantially increased risk of colorectal cancer development, although incidence of IBD-associated CRC has steadily decreased in the western world [143]. Both duration and extent are the most important risk factors when considering IBD-associated CRC. A meta-analysis [141] using data from 13 cohort studies observed the RR of IBD-associated CRC to be 2.93 (95% CI: 1.79-4.81).

2.12.3 Dietary Effects

Dietary factors have long been a conflicting topic in reference to their implication as a colorectal cancer risk factor; namely alcohol consumption, red and processed meat consumption, fruit- and vegetable-rich diets, and high-fiber diets. Alcohol consumption has been linked to slight increases in risk of CRC. An analysis of 8 cohort studies reported that alcohol consumption increased risk of CRC significantly (RR:1.23; 95% CI: 1.07-1.42) [144]. Consumption of both red and processed meats have also been linked to CRC, likely due to carcinogens present in processed meat, and produced in charred red meat [145]. A meta-analysis reported the linear trend between processed meat and CRC risk to be statistically insignificant [141]. Conversely, the same meta-analysis observed both a significant and positive correlation between red meat consumption in excess of four servings per week, and CRC (RR:1.13, 95% CI: 1.09-1.16). A fruit and vegetable-rich diet has been suggested to reduce CRC risk, however a meta-analysis of 9 studies found insignificant and non-linear results [141]. Lastly, despite a large European cohort study [146] reporting reduced risk of CRC in association with a high-fiber diet, many other cohort studies [147, 148] have reported the contrary.

2.12.4 Lifestyle, Smoking

Metabolic syndrome is a cluster of emerging risk factors associated with a primary clinical outcome of cardiovascular disease [149]. These risk factors include abdominal obesity, atherogenic dyslipidemia, hypertension, insulin resistance, proinflammatory state and prothrombotic state. The American National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute considers the "obesity epidemic" as being primarily responsible for the rising prevalence of the syndrome, as it has been shown to contribute to many of these risk factors (hypertension, high serum LDL, low HDL, and hyperglycemia). Patients meeting the criteria for metabolic syndrome have consistently been associated with a 50% increased risk of colorectal cancer, as well [150]. A 2010 review [151] of 1378 cases of CRC observed odds ratios (OR) in men of 1.27 (95% CI, 0.95 - 1.69) for diabetes, 1.24 (95% CI, 1.03 - 1.48) for hypertension, 1.14 (95% CI, 0.82 - 1.75) for hypercholesterolemia and 1.26 (95% CI, 1.08 - 1.48) for men with BMI greater than 25. Moreover, in both men and women, the OR of CRC increased in correspondence with the number of metabolic syndrome components. The corresponding ORs were 0.95 (95% CI, 0.84 - 1.06), 1.15 (95% CI, 0.98 - 1.37), and 1.69 (95% CI, 1.23 - 2.33) for 1, 2 and 3 components of metabolic syndrome, respectively.

Despite the mechanism by which it happens remaining unclear, there is widespread epidemiological evidence that strongly indicates an association between cigarette smoking and risk of CRC. While several large cohort studies and meta-analyses have linked smoking to CRC [152-154], others have refuted the association [155, 156]. A 2008 systematic review and metaanalysis [157] of 106 observational studies, however, reported a statistically significant pooled relative risk of 1.18 (95% CI, 1.11 - 1.25). The same systematic review observed CRC mortality of smokers versus non-smokers in 17 cohort studies, reporting a pooled relative risk of 1.25 (95% CI, 1.14 - 1.37). Similarly, a 2013 meta-analysis [141] investigated the effects of smoking measured in pack-years on relative risk of CRC using data from 9399 CRC cases. Compared to non-smokers, the relative risks of CRC were 1.06 (95% CI, 1.03 - 1.08), 1.11 (95% CI, 1.07 -1.16), 1.21 (95% CI, 1.13 - 1.29) and 1.26 (95% CI, 1.17 - 1.36) for 5, 10, 20 and 30 pack-years, respectively. The consistency of evidence suggests that cigarette smoking increases risk of CRC. Both the extent and the mechanisms by which it does, however, remain unclear.

2.13 Colorectal Cancer Prevention

The chemoprevention of colorectal cancer refers to the use of pharmaceutical compounds intended to prevent adenomatous polyp formation, and if CRC is already present, inhibit its progression. A number of therapies have emerged as potential chemopreventative agents against CRC. Among them are non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), statins, hormone replacement therapy (HRT) and COX-2 inhibitors.

The potential of NSAIDs – namely Aspirin – as CRC chemopreventative agents has received the most attention and provided the most promise in terms of results. Briefly, Aspirin works mechanistically through inhibition of prostaglandin E2 synthesis by inhibiting cyclooxygenase (COX-1&2) activity that is characteristic of CRC. Aspirin has also been shown to exhibit chemopreventative potential against CRC through the modulation of the wnt/ β – catenin signaling pathway [158].

A significant body of evidence has suggested that 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors, commonly referred to as Statins, may have a role in colorectal chemoprevention, specifically as an anti-neoplastic agent in the colon. Statins have exhibited growth-inhibitory and pro-apoptotic effects in a number of human colorectal cancer cell lines in vitro [159]. While the mechanisms of which statins modulate colorectal cancer cell growth remain poorly understood, the mechanisms by which statins are believed to act are via increased oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and altered expression of apoptotic and proliferative signalling molecules of CRC cells [160].

While the use of hormone replacement therapy (HRT) in the treatment of CRC has received considerable interest, previous research has generated inconsistent results. A 2017 study, however, observed the use of HRT in women diagnosed with CRC to reduce the risk of CRC mortality by 26% (HR =0.67, 95% CI: 0.56-0.79) [161].

No therapy is currently recommended as a chemopreventative agent. Despite the current lack of evidence, the fact that both adenomatous polyp development and existing CRC progression appear to be influenced by chemopreventative agents is promising.

2.14 Study Rationale

The rationale of this study is rooted in the results of a previous study [2] by many of the same authors. In 2010, a familial colorectal cancer clinic was started in two regions of NL to provide screening recommendations to families of incident CRC patients based on family risk of CRC because guidelines recognize family members of CRC patients as high-risk individuals who require screening colonoscopies, and because incidence of familial CRC in NL is high. The aforementioned study provided two conclusions concerning the clinic: (1) the experience with the clinic in NL was disappointing considering the response rate was only 52% of the probands, and the efficiency of genetic counselor services was poor; and (2) the rate of referral to a genetic counselor for probands with CRC was high (28%) and the decision seemed to reflect a subjective assessment of the pedigree. This study also surmised that the decisions for genetic counselor referral for patients in the intermediate risk groups was likely based on subjective interpretation of family history by geneticists, as there was little difference in other criteria that contribute to screening recommendation decisions i.e. Family History Score, MMRpredict score, Bethesda criteria. Furthermore, the efficiency in the provision of counseling was poor as only 30% of high and intermediate-high risk families were seen by genetic counselors during the duration of the study. The poor efficiency was the result of delays in ensuring family history accuracy, and obtaining information from hospitals, which in turn created a large waitlist for referral to genetic counselors for high and intermediate-high risk patients. This produced a workload that was too large for genetic counselors.

The NL population is a valuable resource for the hereditary study of colorectal cancer for a number of reasons. For one, approximately 90% of its 510,000 inhabitants are descendants from its original 20,000 - 30,000 founders [162]. Secondly, the population has been genetically isolated, homogenous, had low in-or-out-migration rates, and families were consistently large over several generations [163]. Finally, in a study of thirteen founder populations, the

Newfoundland population had the greatest genetic generalizability to Caucasian populations when compared to the other twelve [164].

The abovementioned value of the NL population for studying heritable colorectal cancer, coupled with advances in our understanding of genetics and recent emphasis on preventative medicine [165] were important factors in rationalizing this study. Furthermore, the large workload required of genetic counselors, the inefficient use of their time, as well as the unavoidable subjectivity in interpreting family history and proving screening recommendations highlight the need to determine whether an algorithmic approach to risk definition and screening recommendations was possible. This subsequently makes the identification and management of families with high susceptibility of CRC an important topic of research and ultimately provides the rationale for this study.

2.15 Study Objectives

The first objective of this study was to assess the effectiveness with which the previously established population-based familial colorectal cancer clinic provided colonoscopic screening recommendations to families at different degrees of risk of CRC. The second objective of this study was to develop and assess the utility of multivariate prediction models that could facilitate screening recommendations in families with CRC and compare the electronic predictions to the clinical decisions previously made by genetic counselors.

Chapter 3 – METHODOLOGY

3.1 The Cohort

The cohort used to develop the model was from a Familial colorectal cancer clinic that was started in 2010 in urban (Eastern Health) [Figure 3] and rural (Central Health) [Figure 4] regions of NL to provide risk-based screening recommendations to families of patients with incident CRC [2]. The rationale behind the clinic was that family members of CRC patients are recognized as a high-risk group who require screening colonoscopies [156], and that NL has a high incidence of familial CRC [7]. Patients invited to the clinic were pathologically confirmed incident CRC patients from the Newfoundland Cancer Registry who presented between 2008-2010. Patients were asked to provide a family history, including cancer occurrence in first and second-degree relatives. When necessary, medical records and release of information consent was requested of family members. Patients and family members were afforded the right of refusal, and their reasons for doing so were recorded. Family pedigrees were reviewed by a medical geneticist and genetic counselor. Family risk for HNPCC and CRC was determined using the Amsterdam criteria, age and cancer modified Amsterdam criteria (ACMAC), Bethesda criteria, presence of multiple adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative, and local expert opinion.

From 2008-2010, n=784 incident CRC cases were presented to Eastern Health, while n=307 presented to Central Health. Following the abovementioned process, of the n=1,091 CRC cases presented at the two health regions, n=529 were enrolled into the clinic. Genetic counselors stopped working at the end of 2013 when funding for this project ceased. All patients received recommendations for colonoscopy screening in family members pending work-up for Lynch Syndrome. Contact information was available for 99.6% of patients. Incident endometrial and ovarian cancer patients were also contacted but are not included in this report. Of the n=529 patients enrolled in the clinic, n=525 were considered for analysis, as n=4 patients had no information available, and were listed as 'Waiting on Records'.

Patients' demographic information including age at diagnosis, sex, and region was collected from the NFCCR. Clinical information including histologic type, name of tumor site and tumor grade were collected from pathology reports.

Patients with families at high or intermediate-high risk of CRC were referred to attend the genetic counselor to provide colonoscopy screening recommendations to families and obtain consent if necessary, for tumor/DNA cascade testing to diagnose possible LS. Patients with family at low or intermediate-low risk of CRC received a letter or phone call summarizing the family history and were provided with screening recommendations thereafter.

At Eastern Health, clinical staffing included a genetic counselor, a clerk, an information technology and data management research assistant and a subject matter expert research assistant. At Central Health, clinical staffing included a nurse and a clerk.

Ethics approval was granted by the Health Research and Ethics Board of Memorial University of Newfoundland (#2016.147); Researcher Portal File (#20170239) [Appendix C].



Figure 3: The Geographic Boundaries of Eastern Health, NL [166]

Image of the Eastern Health Region with site locations depicted. Retrieved from: http://www.easternhealth.ca/AboutEH.aspx?d=1&id=1995&p=73



Figure 4: The Geographic Boundaries of Central Health, NL [167]

Image of the Central Health Region with site locations depicted. Retrieved from: https://www.centralhealth.nl.ca/about-us

3.2 Variables

3.2.1 Risk Classification

The definitions of family risk for developing colorectal cancer used by genetic counselors are as follows. *Low*: No criteria of increased family risk of CRC. *Intermediate-Low*: Increased family risk of CRC but not necessary to see a genetic counselor. *Intermediate-High*: Increased family risk of CRC such as to make it necessary to see a genetic counselor. *High*: Fulfilled Amsterdam or ACMAC criteria, necessary to see a genetic counselor.

3.2.2 Family History of Colorectal Cancer

Familial colorectal cancer was defined as having at least one first-degree relative (FDR) with CRC. Family History was classified according to the Amsterdam criteria definition.

3.2.3 Family History Score

The Family History Score (FHS) compares each family member to age and sex-matched population controls with respect to probability of cancer. The score compares the observed number of cases in a family over a specific period of time to the expected number of cases and is calculated based on family member covariates such as age, sex and race, as well as overall family structure [8].

3.2.4 MMRpredict Score

The MMRpredict score is a model for identifying colorectal cancer patients at high risk of carrying a DNA MMR gene mutation and thus require LS screening. It has been shown to be the best-performing model as compared to other similar models in showing presence of DNA MMR gene mutations, where a cutoff criterion of 1.66 showed optimal specificity (91%) and sensitivity (94%) when corrected for family size. Variables in the model include age at diagnosis of CRC, sex, location of tumor, multiple CRCs, occurrence of, and age at, diagnosis of CRC in first-degree relatives, and occurrence of endometrial cancer in any first-degree relative.

3.2.5 The Amsterdam Criteria

Amsterdam I Criteria: at least 3 family members with colorectal cancer plus:

- One is a first degree relative of the other two
- Two successive generations represented
- At least 1 individual younger than 50 years at diagnosis
- FAP excluded
- Tumors verified by pathological examination

Amsterdam II Criteria: 3 family members with HNPCC-related cancer (CRC, endometrial, small bowel, ureter, renal pelvis) plus:

- One is a first degree relative of the other two
- Two successive generations represented

- At least 1 individual younger than 50 years at diagnosis
- FAP excluded
- Tumors verified by pathological examination

3.2.6 The Bethesda Criteria

The Revised Bethesda Criteria:

- 1) CRC Patient who is less than 50 years of age.
- 2) Presence of synchronous or metachronous CRC or other HNPCC-related tumor, any age.
- 3) CRC with MSI-H histology diagnosis in a patient who is less than 60 years of age.
- 4) Individual and one first-degree relative with an HNPCC-related tumor with one of the cancers being diagnosed under the age of 50 years old.
- 5) Individual and two first- or second-degree relatives with HNPCC-related tumors*, any age.

* HNPCC-related tumors include colorectal, endometrial, stomach, ovarian, pancreas, renal, pelvic, biliary tract, brain (glioblastoma), small intestine, sebaceous gland adenomas and keratoacanthomas.

[Appendix A]

3.2.7 ACMAC

PMG1: ACMAC

- (d) Three or more relatives with colorectal cancer or an HNPCC-associated cancer
 (colorectal, endometrial, stomach, ovarian, pancreas, ureter and renal pelvis, biliary tract, brain, sebaceous gland and small bowel carcinoma) AND
- (e) Colorectal or HNPCC-associated cancer in at least two generations AND
- (f) One or more colorectal or HNPCC-associated cancers diagnosed before age 60

Or one of the following PMG criteria:

PMG2: Colorectal carcinoma before age 40

PMG3: Endometrial carcinoma before age 45

PMG4: Sebaceous tumor (adenoma, carcinoma, epithelioma) before age 50 or multiple tumors at any age

PMG5: Presence of multiple HNPCC-related cancers in an individual, with one cancer before age 60

[Appendix B]

3.2.8 Screening Recommendations and Colonoscopy Frequencies

Screening recommendations to family members are presented as age recommended for first colonoscopy, frequency of subsequent colonoscopies, and referral for tumor/DNA cascade testing for Lynch syndrome.

The recommended screening frequencies are as follows: (i) 1-2 years, (ii) 2-3 years, (iii) 3-5 years, and (iv) 5-10 years. For 1-2 years, those recommended for yearly and 1-2 years were included; for 2-3 years, those recommended for 2 yearly or 2-3 yearly were included; for 3-5 years, those recommended for 3 yearly, 4 yearly or 3-5 yearly were included; for 5-10 years, those recommended for 5 yearly, 10 yearly or 5-10 yearly were included.

Screening options for patients over the age of 65 years with a negative family history of CRC could also include fecal immunochemical testing (FIT) every 2 years in lieu of colonoscopy.

3.3 Statistical Methods

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM's SPSS version 25.0, in which a database was constructed with patient demographics and tumor characteristics, as well as various categorical, nominal and continuous variables pertaining to colorectal cancer risk, family history and screening information. Specifically, patient demographic information refers to a unique and confidential study ID, the region of the clinic attended, gender, age at diagnosis, and whether the patient had been recommended for a meeting with a genetic counselor, received a phone call, or

a letter in the mail. Among variables pertaining to risk of CRC were risk as defined by a genetic counselor, family history of CRC, Family History Score, MMRpredict Score and whether or not they fulfil Amsterdam, Bethesda or Provincial Medical Genetics criteria. Variables associated with recommended CRC screening interval were colonoscopy frequency and age at first colonoscopy.

Pearson chi-square tests were performed to test for baseline differences and possible associations among gender, risk and frequency of colonoscopy. The test is applied to sets of categorical data, often within a contingency table, and Pearson's X^2 statistic is used to test the independence of the jointly multinomial variables in the rows and columns [168].

Binary logistic regression models were used to assess the relationship between outcome variables and the independent clinical and demographic variables associated with subsets of patients. This relationship was estimated using Odds Ratio. Separate univariate logistic regressions were performed for each variable. Variables with a p < 0.20 were tested in subsequent multivariate regression models. Variables with p<0.050 were included in the final multivariate model, with their respective Adjusted Odds Ratio (AOR). The multivariate logistic regression models, along with sensitivity and specificity, were used to identify and assess predictive variables among the three brackets of screening frequencies, as well as to compare patients recommended for genetic counseling to those who were not. For high and low risk patients especially, sensitivity was important as a matter of accurately ruling in patients.

The multivariate regression models produced the following equation:

 $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \dots + \beta_n x_n$; where β represents the regression coefficient of the multivariate model; and x represents variables in the model. The multivariate model scores were then converted to a probability score (P) between 0-1; where:

$$Y = \log(\frac{P}{1-P}) \qquad \qquad e^{Y} = \left(\frac{P}{1-P}\right) \qquad \qquad P = \frac{e^{Y}}{1+e^{Y}}$$

A receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve is produced using sensitivities and specificities for different values of a continuous test measure. The result is a list of various test values and corresponding sensitivity and specificity of the test at that value. The graphical ROC curve is produced by plotting sensitivity on the y-axis and 1-specificity on the x-axis for various values tabulated [169]. Positive and negative predictive values are used as estimates of the accuracy of the test. Specifically, the positive predictive value (PPV) estimates the fraction of patients who are diagnosed/classified correctly as positive, while the negative predictive value (NPV) estimates the fraction of patients who are diagnosed/classified correctly as negative [170].

The area under the ROC curve is a measure of the ability of a test to discriminate whether or not a specific condition is present. An area of 0.5 represents a test with no discriminating ability, while an area of 1.0 represents a test with perfect discrimination. Selecting an optimal threshold requires careful consideration of the significance of false positives and false negatives. Giving equal importance to sensitivity and specificity is the most commonly used approach. This is achieved by choosing the point nearest the top-left corner of the curve, known as the Youden Index [171]. However, selecting a threshold at the Youden Index assumes that the balance between false-positive and false-negative rates is not clinically important. Thus, the selection of a threshold depends on the purpose of the test and not simply giving equal weight to sensitivity and specificity in order to achieve higher accuracy [172].

As identification of the Amsterdam criteria in a family indicates screening colonoscopy at 1-2year intervals in family members, these 10 families were omitted from the multivariate modelling. Multivariate models were created for prediction of:

- (1) Referral to a genetic counselor
- (2) Screening colonoscopy recommended every 5-10 years in family members
- (3) Screening colonoscopy recommended every 2-3 years in family members
- (4) Screening colonoscopy recommended every 3-5 years in family members

Chapter 4 – RESULTS

4.1 Results from the Newfoundland Colorectal Cancer Clinic

The task flows in the Familial colorectal cancer clinic from 2010-2013 are outlined in Figures 7 and 8. Of n=1091 CRC patients eligible to attend clinic contact was made with n=1085 (99.6%), n=691 (63.7%) agreed to participate and n=558 of 1085 (51.4%) provided a completed Family History Questionnaire. Of those n=558 patients, n=29 were members of existing families, while n=4 were waiting on records, leaving n=525 patients eligible for analysis.

In comparing patients who provided a family history to those who did not, n=233 (43%) versus n=147 (55%) were older than 75 years, n=316 (58%) versus n=157 (57%) were male, and n=355 (60%) versus n=202 (76%) were from Eastern Health Region. Thus, on average family history was more likely to be available from younger probands and those from Central Health.

Reasons for refusal to attend the clinic were as follows: of n=267 who refused, 52.4% (n=140) had no interest, 19.4% (n=52) did so because they had no family history of CRC, 17.6% (n=47) were too old or too sick, n=15 (6%) said family were already in screening program, and the remaining 4.9% (n=13) had miscellaneous reasons. A further n=134 (12.3%) agreed to provide a family history but never did so.

Of the n=256 patients who were asked to complete a release of information form to confirm tumor pathology, n=146 (57%) completed this task, comprising 292 tumors.

Twenty percent of probands had familial CRC (n=106). Only n=10 (1.9%) families fulfilled Amsterdam I or II criteria, while 18.7% (n=98) fulfilled ACMAC criteria, and 37.0% (n=194) Bethesda criteria. Fifty-seven percent (n=300) of families were considered to be at low risk for CRC by the geneticist, 15% (n=81) intermediate low, 23.4% (n=123) intermediate high and 4.0% (n=21) high risk for CRC. The latter 2 groups were asked to attend the genetic counselor. The distribution of FHS is shown in Figure 5. Twenty-three percent fulfilled the Provincial Medical Genetics Program criteria for Lynch Syndrome testing. Twenty-four percent had an MMRpredict score > 1.66. Distribution of MMRpredict is provided in Figure 6.



Figure 5: Distribution of Family History Scores

Figure 6: Distribution of MMRpredict Scores



Population Descriptives

Table 1: CRC Patients Classified by Risk

 Table 2: CRC Patients Classified by Frequency of Colonoscopy for Family Members

 Table 3: CRC Patients Classified by Age Brackets

These tables include number of cases (n), percentages for given variables, and p-values for Pearson chi-square tests when applicable. The Pearson chi-square test was performed to test for baseline differences and possible association among variables. The test is applied to sets of categorical data, often within a contingency table, and Pearson's statistic is used to test the independence of the jointly multinomial variables in the rows and columns [163].

The clinical and family characteristics of the patients by family risk of CRC as defined by the geneticist are outlined in Table 1. Mean ages were significantly lower when comparing high risk patients to the rest. Among the rest, there was little difference in patient age. Similarly, Family History Scores and MMRpredict scores were significantly higher among the high-risk patients. There was little difference in both scores among intermediate high and intermediate low patients. Patients at intermediate high risk were recommended for significantly more frequent screening than those in intermediate low, however. Rates of ACMAC fulfilment, polyps and family history of CRC were also significantly different among intermediate high and intermediate low patients.

Clinical and family characteristics of patients by frequency of colonoscopy recommended to family members are outlined in Table 2. Fifteen percent of the families were recommended for screening colonoscopies in the 1-3-year brackets, 21% in the 3-5-year bracket, and the remaining 64% in the 5-10-year bracket. More frequent screening recommendations were associated with higher FHS and MMRpredict scores, proportions fulfilling Amsterdam criteria and ACMAC, history of polyps, and a lower mean age at diagnosis.





Figure 8: Screening Frequency-based Ascertainment of Patients from the CRC Clinic



Risk (N)	High (21)	Int High (123)	Int Low (81)	Low (300)	p-value
Region					1
GFW. N (%)	6 (3.4)	26 (14.9)	29 (16.7)	110 (63.2)	
SJ. N (%)	15 (4.2)	97 (27.3)	52 (14.6)	190 (53.5)	0.010
Sex					
Male, N (%)	9 (3.0)	66 (21.6)	47 (15.4)	179 (58.7)	
Female, N (%)	12 (5.4)	57 (25.4)	34 (15.2)	121 (54.0)	0.190
Screening Frequency					
1-3, N (%)	19 (24.4)	54 (69.2)	4 (5.1)	1 (1.3)	
3-5, N (%)	2 (1.9)	53 (49.1)	34 (31.5)	19 (17.6)	
5-10, N (%)	0 (0.0)	16 (4.7)	43 (12.7)	280 (82.6)	0.000
Age Bracket					
≤50	7 (26.9)	9 (34.6)	7 (26.9)	3 (11.5)	
51-64	9 (5.0)	53 (29.3)	16 (8.8)	103 (56.9)	
≥65	5 (1.6)	61 (19.2)	58 (18.2)	194 (61.0)	0.000
Mean Age \pm SD	56.2 ± 15.0	65.0 ± 10.9	68.1 ± 11.5	68.9 ± 9.9	
FHS Median	7.8	3.1	2.5	1.9	
01-03	5.1-9.8	1.9-4.9	1.8-4.1	1.4-2.5	
MMRpred Median	7.8	1.0	0.8	0.2	
01 - 03	2.5-34.2	0.3-3.2	0.2-2.8	0.1-0.6	
%>1.66	12.2	34.1	24.4	27.6	0.000
Amsterdam N (%)	9 (90.0)	1 (10.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
ACI	8 (88.9)	1 (11.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
AC II	1 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
Bethesda N (%)	17 (8.4)	108 (53.5)	74 (36.6)	3 (1.5)	0.000
B1	7 (26.9)	9 (34.6)	7 (26.9)	3 (11.5)	0.000
B2	2 (4.8)	22 (52.4)	18 (42.9)	0 (0.0)	0.000
B3	2 (13.3)	10 (66.7)	3 (20.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
B4	5 (20.0)	13 (52.0)	7 (28.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
B5	6 (4.7)	73 (57.5)	48 (37.8)	0 (0.0)	0.000
Polyps, N (%)	0 (0.0)	11 (64.7)	5 (29.4)	1 (5.9)	0.000
FamCRC, N (%)	18 (17.0)	56 (52.8)	32 (30.2)	0 (0.0)	0.000
ACMAC (PMG1)	11 (11.2)	60 (61.2)	27 (27.6)	0 (0.0)	0.000
PMG2	1 (11.1)	6 (66.7)	2 (22.2)	0 (0.0)	0.007
PMG3	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	0 (0.0)	0.060
PMG4	2 (9.1)	10 (45.5)	10 (45.5)	0 (0.0)	0.000
PMG5	0 (0.0)	8 (80.0)	2 (20.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
Ready For, N (%)					
Genetic Counseling	21 (13.7)	122 (79.7)	0 (0.0)	9 (5.9)	
Low Risk Letter	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	8 (2.8)	280 (97.2)	
Phone Call/Letter	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (42.9)	1 (14.3)	0.000

Table 1: CRC Patients Classified by Risk

Screening Freq (N)	1-3 Years	3-5 Years (108)	5-10 Years (339)	p-value
	(78)			
Region				
GFW, N (%)	23 (13.5)	28 (16.4)	120 (70.2)	
SJ, N (%)	55 (15.5)	80 (22.6)	219 (61.9)	0.154
Sex				
Male, N (%)	43 (14.3)	59 (19.6)	199 (66.1)	
Female, N (%)	35 (15.6)	49 (21.9)	140 (62.5)	0.692
Family Risk of CRC				
High	19 (90.5)	2 (9.5)	0 (0.0)	
Int High	54 (43.9)	53 (43.1)	16 (13.0)	
Int Low	4 (4.9)	34 (42.0)	43 (53.1)	
Low	1 (0.3)	19 (6.3)	280 (93.3)	0.000
Age Bracket				
≤50	13 (50.0)	11 (42.3)	2 (7.7)	
51-64	35 (19.3)	45 (24.9)	101 (55.8)	
≥65	30 (9.4)	52 (16.4)	236 (74.2)	0.000
Mean Age \pm SD	60.8 ± 13.3	64.7 ± 11.4	69.7 ± 9.3	
FHS Median	4.4	2.7	2.0	
Q1 – Q3	2.4-6.4	1.9-4.4	1.4-2.6	
MMRpred Median	2.5	0.6	0.2	
Q1 - Q3	0.5-10.4	0.2-2.3	0.1-0.7	
%>1.66	33.9	26.4	39.7	0.000
Amsterdam N (%)	10 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
ACI	9 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
AC II	1 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.057
Bethesda N (%)	67 (33.2)	84 (41.6)	51 (25.2)	0.000
B1	13 (50.0)	11 (42.3)	2 (7.7)	0.000
B2	11 (26.2)	13 (31.0)	18 (42.9)	0.008
B3	8 (53.3)	6 (40.0)	1 (6.7)	0.000
B4	13 (52.0)	8 (32.0)	4 (16.0)	0.000
B5	35 (27.6)	59 (46.5)	33 (26.0)	0.000
Polyps, N (%)	7 (41.2)	4 (23.5)	6 (35.3)	0.005
FamCRC, N (%)	47 (44.3)	42 (39.6)	17 (16.0)	0.000
ACMAC (PMG1)	37 (37.8)	40 (40.8)	21 (21.4)	0.000
PMG2	4 (44.4)	2 (22.2)	3 (33.3)	0.034
PMG3	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	0.500
PMG4	5 (22.7)	6 (27.3)	11 (50.0)	0.334
PMG5	6 (60.0)	3 (30.0)	1 (10.0)	0.000
Ready For, N (%)	, í			
Genetic Counseling	73 (48.0)	61 (40.1)	18 (11.8)	
Low Risk Letter	0 (0.0)	9 (3.1)	279 (96.9)	
Phone Call/Letter	4 (4.9)	37 (45.7)	40 (49.4)	0.000

Table 2: CRC Patients by Frequency of Colonoscopy Recommended to Family Members

Age Bracket (N)	≤50 (26)	51-64 (181)	≥65 (318)	p-value
Region				
GFW, N (%)	7 (4.1)	48 (28.1)	116 (67.8)	
SJ. N (%)	19 (5.4)	133 (37.6)	202 (57.1)	0.061
Sex				
Male, N (%)	12 (4.0)	107 (35.5)	182 (60.5)	
Female, N (%)	14 (6.3)	74 (33.0)	136 (60.7)	0.457
Screening Frequency				
1-3. N (%)	13 (16.7)	35 (44.9)	30 (38.5)	
3-5. N (%)	11 (10.2)	45 (41.7)	52 (48.1)	
5-10. N (%)	2 (0.6)	101 (29.8)	236 (69.6)	0.000
Risk				
High	7 (33.3)	9 (42.9)	5 (23.8)	
Int High	9 (7.3)	53 (43.1)	61 (49.6)	
Int Low	7 (8.6)	16 (19.8)	58 (71.6)	
Low	3 (1.0)	103 (34.3)	194 (64.7)	0.000
FHS Median	4.1	2.5	1.9	
Q1 – Q3	2.7-6.9	1.9-4.3	1.3-3.0	
MMRpred Median	2.8	0.6	0.2	
Q1 - Q3	1.4-9.3	0.3-2.6	0.1-0.8	
%>1.66	13.0	48.0	39.0	0.000
Amsterdam N (%)	5 (50.0)	2 (20.0)	3 (30.0)	0.000
ACI	4 (44.4)	2 (22.2)	3 (33.3)	0.000
AC II	1 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
Bethesda N (%)	26 (12.8)	66 (32.7)	110 (54.5)	0.002
B1	26 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.000
B2	1 (2.4)	11 (26.2)	30 (71.4)	0.300
B3	3 (20.0)	9 (60.0)	3 (20.0)	0.001
B4	0 (0.0)	8 (32.0)	17 (68.0)	0.453
B5	8 (6.3)	45 (35.4)	74 (58.3)	0.669
Polyps, N (%)	0 (0.0)	8 (47.1)	9 (52.9)	0.397
FamCRC, N (%)	7 (6.6)	32 (30.2)	67 (63.2)	0.451
ACMAC (PMG1)	7 (7.1)	44 (44.9)	47 (48.0)	0.017
PMG2	1 (11.1)	0 (0.0)	8 (88.9)	0.079
PMG3	0 (0.0)	1 (33.3)	2 (66.7)	0.919
PMG4	1 (4.5)	7 (31.8)	14 (63.6)	0.954
PMG5	0 (0.0)	5 (50.0)	5 (50.0)	0.495
Ready For, N (%)				
Genetic Counseling	16 (10.5)	68 (44.7)	68 (44.7)	
Low Risk Letter	3 (1.0)	92 (31.9)	193 (67.0)	
Phone Call/Letter	6 (7.4)	21 (25.9)	54 (66.7)	0.000

Table 3: CRC Patients Classified by Age Bracket

The clinical and family characteristics of the patients by age are outlined in Table 3. Fifty percent (n=13) of patients under 50 years old were in the most frequent screening bracket of 1-3 years. Conversely, 74% of patients 65 years and older were in the least frequent screening bracket of 5-10 years. The median of MMRpredict scores was 2.8 in patients under the age of 50, compared to 0.2 in those greater than 65 years old. Sixty-one percent of patients were \geq 65 years of age, of whom 20.8% had families at high or intermediate-high risk of CRC, compared to 37.7% of patients under 65 years of age. Nevertheless, 34.6% of patients older than 65 years of age fulfilled at least one Bethesda criterion, compared to 40.6% of patients under 65 years old. Moreover, 14.8% of patients 65 years and older fulfilled ACMAC, while 21.1% had a family history of CRC.

Twenty-nine percent (n=152/525) were referred to the genetic counselor, n=21 (14%) of whom had high family risk and n=122 (80%) intermediate high risk. No patients with intermediate low risk were referred to a genetic counselor, however, n=9 (6%) of low-risk patients were.

4.2 Electronic Prediction versus Clinical Recommendations

For the purposes of this study specifically, screening frequency and age brackets were both amended from their originals referenced in section 4.1. Recommended colonoscopy screening frequencies were reduced from four categories to three, now reading: 2-3 years, 3-5 years and 5-10 years. Age brackets were adjusted to classify patients as ≤ 50 , 51-64, or ≥ 65 years old. Patients fulfilling Amsterdam criteria (n=10) were excluded from the univariate and multivariate regression models, on the basis of being too high a predictive variable and skewing the model. Thus, any patient fulfilling Amsterdam criteria was automatically recommended for a screening frequency of 1-2 years. The Bethesda 1 criteria (CRC diagnosis in a patient who is less than 50 years of age) was excluded from the univariate and multivariate regression models in favor of the 'Age at Diagnosis' brackets, to avoid possible confounding factors.

FHS and MMRpredict data was excluded from multivariate regression models on account of potential collinear data stemming from their multivariate nature.

4.2.1 Prediction of Referral to a Genetic Counselor

Every patient fulfilling Amsterdam criteria were referred to see a genetic counselor, so for the purposes of this particular analysis, they were omitted. Moreover, the test variable of 'Family history of CRC' was amended to include only patients with a family history of CRC but *without* fulfilling ACMAC, termed: 'FamCRC without ACMAC'.

We compared patients recommended for genetic counseling to those who were not [Table 5]. In univariate analysis, patients referred to a genetic counselor were more likely to fulfil ACMAC (p<0.0001), have a family history of CRC without fulfilling ACMAC (p<0.0001), have a FHS in the fifth quintile (p<0.0001), a MMRpredict score >1.66 (p<0.0001), fulfil Bethesda 2 (p<0.0001), Bethesda 3 (p<0.0001), Bethesda 4 (p<0.0001) and Bethesda 5 (p<0.0001) criteria, and have polyps (p=0.001). Patients referred to a genetic counselor were also more likely to fulfil ACMAC criteria (p=0.008), PMG3 criteria (p=0.003), PMG4 criteria (p=0.002), and be 50 years old or younger (p<0.0001).

In multivariate analysis, independent factors predicting referral to a genetic counselor were ACMAC (OR= 12.5; p<0.0001), have family history of CRC independent of ACMAC (OR= 10.3; p<0.0001), fulfil Bethesda 2 criteria (OR= 8.4; p<0.0001), Bethesda 3 criteria (OR= 5.6; p=0.042), Bethesda 4 criteria (OR= 3.9; p=0.050) and have polyps (OR= 16.5; p<0.0001). Patients referred to a genetic counselor were also more likely to be 50 years old and younger (OR= 8.7; p=0.001), or between the ages of 51-64 (OR= 2.7; p=0.001), when compared to patients aged 65 years and older.

There is a strong statistically significant association between the predictive variables and the referral to a genetic counselor [X^2 = 244.4; df=9; p<0.0001]. Using a cut-off of 0.4, the model had a sensitivity of 81.3% and a specificity of 87.4%. The model also had a PPV of 69.4% and an NPV of 93.0%. The c-statistic of this model, which represents Area Under the Curve (AUC) of the Receiver Operator Characteristic curve was 0.912 [Table 4].

Table 4: Descriptive Data from the Multivariate Model Predictivity	ve of GC
*	
Multivariate Model Descriptive Statistics	

Table 4: Descrip Referral

Number of patients	514		
Patients referred to GC	134		
Patients not referred to GC	380		
Chi-square Statistic, X ²	244.4		
Degrees of Freedom	9		
P-value	<0.0001		
Model's Predicted Probability of GC Referral			
Cut-off	0.400		
Mean	0.261		
Standard Deviation	0.300		
Minimum	0.032		
Maximum	0.996		
Sensitivity	81.3%		
Specificity	87.4%		
Positive Predictive Value	69.4%		
Negative Predictive Value	93.0%		
Area Under the Curve	0.912		

The multivariate model yielded the following equation, where 'Y' represents patients referred for genetic counseling:

 $Y = \beta 0 + \beta 1 x 1 + \beta 2 x 2 + \beta 3 x 3 + \beta 4 x 4 + \beta 5 x 5 + \beta 6 x 6 + \beta 7 x 7 + \beta 8 x 8$

Y = -3.399 + 2.331 [FamCRC w/o ACMAC] + 2.125 [Bethesda 2] + 1.723 [Bethesda 3] + 1.357 [Bethesda4] + 2.803 [Polyps] + 2.527 [ACMAC] + 2.164 [Age≥50] + 0.991 [Age51-64]

Predictor	N, %	N, %	OR ^a ,	р-	AOR ^b ,	p-
Variable	H+IH	IL+L	Univariate	value	Multivariate	value
			(95% CI)		(95%CI)	
Amsterdam	10 (6.9)	0 (0.0)	∞	0.000	ni ^c	ni
FamCRC w/o	28 (20.9)	17 (4.5)	5.7	0.000	10.3	0.000
ACMAC			(3.0 - 10.7)		(3.3 - 32.5)	
FHS in 5 th	52 (39.1)	42 (11.0)	5.1	0.000	ni	ni
Quintile			(3.2 - 8.2)			
MMRpredict	51 (38.3)	64 (17.0)	3.0	0.000	ni	ni
Score >1.66			(2.0 - 4.7)			
Bethesda 1	11 (8.2)	10 (2.6)	3.3	0.008	ni	ni
			(1.4 - 8.0)			
Bethesda 2	24 (17.9)	18 (4.7)	4.4	0.000	8.4	0.000
			(2.3 - 8.4)		(3.4 - 20.7)	
Bethesda 3	12 (9.0)	3 (0.8)	12.4	0.000	5.6	0.042
			(3.4 – 44.6)		(1.1 - 29.5)	
Bethesda 4	17 (12.7)	7 (1.8)	7.8	0.000	3.9	0.050
			(3.1 – 19.2)		(1.0 - 15.2)	
Bethesda 5	79 (59.0)	48 (12.6)	10.0	0.000	ns ^d	ns
			(6.3 – 15.8)			
Polyps	11 (8.2)	6 (1.6)	5.6	0.001	16.5	0.000
			(2.0 - 15.4)		(4.8 - 57.3)	
ACMAC	70 (52.2)	27 (7.1)	14.3	0.000	12.5	0.000
(PMG1)			(8.5 - 24.0)		(4.0 - 39.5)	
PMG2	6 (4.5)	2 (0.5)	8.9	0.008	ns	ns
			(1.8 – 44.6)			
PMG3	2 (1.5)	1 (0.3)	5.8	0.154	ns	ns
			(0.5 - 64.0)			
PMG4	12 (9.0)	10 (2.6)	3.6	0.003	ns	ns
			(1.5 - 8.6)	0.000		
PMG5	8 (6.0)	2 (0.5)	12.0	0.002	ns	ns
			(2.5-57.4)	0.000	~ -	0.001
Age ≤50	11 (8.2)	10 (2.6)	3.3	0.008	8.7	0.001
		106	(1.4 - 8.0)	0.004	(2.4 - 31.6)	0.001
Age 51-64	67 (50.0)	136		0.004	$\frac{2.7}{1.5}$	0.001
	EC (11.0)	(35.7)	(1.2 - 2.7)	0.000	(1.5 - 4.8)	0.000
Age ≥65	56 (41.8)	235		0.000	1.0	0.000
		(61.7)	(0.3 - 0.7)		(Reterence)	

Table 5: Univariate and Multivariate Odds Ratios to Predict Referral to a Genetic Counselor: Yes (n=134) versus No (n=381)

a: Odds Ratio estimated by binary logistic regression b: Adjusted Odds Ratio estimated by multivariate logistic regression

c: Not included for potential confounding reasons

d: Not significant

Table 6: Odds Ratios for variables predictive of referral to a Genetic Counselor

Predictive Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative	16.5	4.8 - 57.3
Age and Cancer Modified Amsterdam Criteria (ACMAC)	12.5	4.0 - 39.5
At least one first-degree relative with Colorectal cancer, but without ACMAC	10.3	3.3 - 32.5
Age at diagnosis less than 50 years	8.7	2.4 - 31.6
Presence of synchronous or metachronous colorectal, or other HNPCC-associated tumors, regardless of age	8.4	3.4 - 20.7
Colorectal cancer with MSI-high histology diagnosed in a patient less than 60 years of age	5.6	1.1 – 29.5
Colorectal cancer diagnosed in 1 or more first-degree relatives with an HNPCC-related tumor, with one of the cancers being diagnosed under age 50 years	3.9	1.0 - 15.2
Age at diagnosis between 51 – 64 years	2.7	1.5 – 4.8

The multivariate model scores were then converted to a probability score between 0-1 for the clinical decision made by genetics. The distribution of these scores in in Figure 9.

Figure 9: Distribution of Multivariate Model Equation Scores for Patients Recommended for Referral to a Genetic Counselor



Probability (P) predicted by the model (Y); where:

$$Y = \log(\frac{P}{1-P}) \qquad \qquad e^{Y} = \left(\frac{P}{1-P}\right) \qquad \qquad P = \frac{e^{Y}}{1+e^{Y}}$$

The optimal sensitivity and specificity for the probability score was obtained at a cut-off of 0.4. Table 9 reveals the utility of the score >0.4 compared to the clinical decision made by genetics to refer the patient to a genetic counselor. The sensitivity was 81% and the specificity was 87%.

The biggest concern in using the multivariate score for clinical decision-making is the harm associated with false negative scores: 25 of the 134 patients referred to genetics would not be referred if the decision was based on the score. However, review of the clinical data for each of the 25 patients [Table 7, Appendix D] revealed that 10 were over 50 years of age without any predictive variable for screening. In addition, 3 patients were younger than 50 years of age with no indicators, and 12 patients fulfilled Bethesda 2 or 3 criteria, dependent on pathology results, and no family history of CRC. It thus appears that 10 of the patients referred by genetics should not have been referred based on their clinical data.

Table 7: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Negatives of Multivariate Model Predictive of Genetic Counselor Referral (n=25)

Predictive Variables Fulfilled	Age Bracket	n
	≤ 50	3
None	51-64	5
	≥ 65	5
	Total	13
Bethesda 2	51-64	3
	≥ 65	7
	Total	10
Bethesda 3	51-64	2
	Total	2

Another concern is false positive results: patients not referred to a genetic counselor who would have been referred based on the multivariate score. Of 380 patients not referred by genetics, 48 had scores >0.4. Review of predictor variables in the 48 patients [Table 8, Appendix E] revealed that 26 should have been referred because their family fulfilled ACMAC criteria and a further 3 patients fulfilled Bethesda criteria. Of the remaining 19 patients, 15 had a family history of CRC without fulfilling ACMAC criteria and 4 had a family history of polyps only. Thus, it appears that 29 of the 48 patients with a score that indicated referral to genetics should have been referred although they had not been.

<u>Table 8: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Positives of Multivariate</u> <u>Model Predictive of Genetic Counselor Referral (n=48)</u>

Predictive Variables Fulfilled	Age Bracket	n
	51-64	5
Age and cancer modified Amsterdam criteria (ACMAC)	≥ 65	10
	Total	15
	51-64	1
ACMAC; Bethesda 2	≥ 65	3
	Total	4
ACMAC; Bethesda 2; Bethesda 3	≥ 65	1
	Total	1
ACMAC; Bethesda 4	≥ 65	5
	Total	5
ACMAC; Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative;	51-64	1
Bethesda 3	Total	1
	≤ 50	1
Family History of CRC without ACMAC	51-64	1
	≥ 65	13
	Total	15
Family History of CRC without ACMAC; Bethesda 4	≥ 65	2
	Total	2
Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative	≥ 65	4
	Total	4
Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative; Family History	\geq 65	1
of CRC without ACMAC; Bethesda 2	Total	1

Assuming that the research team had collected all the data used by genetics to make decisions, then it appeared that 10 of the 25 false negative and 29 of the 48 false positive groups should have had a different clinical decision. This would alter the sensitivity of the multivariate score to 90% and the specificity to 95% [Table 10].

	Genetics Decision			
MV Score	GC Yes	GC No		
GC Yes	109	48		
GC No	25	332		

Table 9: Predicted versus Observed Classification Table for Referral to a Genetic Counselor

<u>Table 10: The Utility of the Multivariate Score if the Decision Made by Genetics had been</u> <u>Correctly Assigned based on the Clinical Data</u>

	Genetics Decision			
MV Score	GC Yes	GC No		
GC Yes	138	19		
GC No	15	342		

4.2.2 Prediction of 5-10-year Screening Colonoscopy Frequency

We compared the patients in the 5-10-year recommended screening frequency bracket (n=339) to the rest (n=186) [Table 12]. In univariate analysis, patients in the 5-10-year bracket were more likely to have no family history of CRC (p<0.0001), less likely to fulfil ACMAC (p<0.0001), Bethesda 2 (p=0.003), Bethesda 3 (p=0.001), Bethesda 4 (p<0.0001) or Bethesda 5 (p<0.0001) criteria, have presence of multiple adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative (p=0.015), be between the ages of 51 and 64 (p=0.004) or 65 years and older (p<0.0001). The cohort were also less likely to have an FHS in the fifth quintile (p<0.0001) or an MMRpredict score >1.66 (p<0.0001).

In multivariate analysis, every variable remained significantly associated with patients in the 5-10-year bracket with the exception of ACMAC, PMG2, PMG3 and PMG5 criteria. Specifically, having no Family History of CRC [OR=8.1; p<0.0001]; fulfilling Bethesda 2 criteria [OR=0.1; p<0.0001]; fulfilling Bethesda 3 criteria [OR=0.1; p=0.018]; fulfilling Bethesda 4 criteria [OR=0.1; p=0.001]; fulfilling Bethesda 5 criteria [OR=0.1; p<0.0001]; presence of multiple adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative [OR=0.1; p=0.002]; and fulfilling PMG4 criteria [OR=6.6; p=0.016]. These patients were also more likely to be 65 years and older [OR=103.2; p<0.0001], or between the ages of 51-64 [OR=23.8; p<0.0001], when compared to patients in the Age \leq 50 bracket.

There is a strong statistically significant association between the predictive variables and the 5-10-year screening bracket [X^2 = 289; df=9; p<0.0001]. Using a cut-off of 0.5, the model had a sensitivity of 90.3% and a specificity of 76.3%. In this analysis, a low specificity that rules out patients for 5-10-yearly colonoscopy means that they would get more frequent colonoscopy and not be exposed to failure to diagnose a CRC. The c-statistic of this model, which represents Area Under the Curve (AUC) of the Receiver Operator Characteristic curve was 0.901 [Table 11].
Multivariate Model Descriptive Statisti	cs
Number of patients	525
Patients recommended for 5-10 yearly colonoscopy	339
Patients recommended for more frequent colonoscopy	186
\mathbf{C}	200.4
Chi-square Statistic, X ²	289.4
Degrees of Freedom	9
P-value	< 0.0001
Model's Predicted Probability of 5-10 y	yearly Colonoscopy
Cut-off	0.500
Mean	0.640
Standard Deviation	0.337
Minimum	0.000
Maximum	0.944
Sensitivity	90.3%
Specificity	76.3%
Positive Predictive Value	86.0%
Negative Predictive Value	81.9%
Area Under the Curve	0.901

Table 11: Descriptive Data from the Multivariate Model Predictive of 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy

The multivariate model yielded the following equation, where 'Y' represents patients in the 5-10-year screening bracket:

 $Y = \beta 0 + \beta 1 x 1 - \beta 2 x 2 - \beta 3 x 3 - \beta 4 x 4 - \beta 5 x 5 - \beta 6 x 6 + \beta 7 x 7 + \beta 8 x 8 + \beta 9 x 9$

Y= -3.800 + 2.053 [NoFamCRC] - 1.751 [Bethesda 2] - 2.075 [Bethesda 3] - 2.255 [Bethesda4] - 1.934 [Bethesda 5] - 1.866 [Polyps] + 1.894 [PMG4] + 4.563 [Age65] + 3.194 [Age5164]

Predictor	N, % 5-	N, %,	OR ^a ,	р-	AOR ^b ,	р-
Variable	10 years	Rest	Univariate	value	Multivariate	value
No FamCRC	322	98	17.0	0.000	(3570 CI) 8 1	0.000
ito i unerte	(95.0)	(52.7)	(9.6 - 30.0)	0.000	(3.7 - 17.4)	0.000
FHS in 5 th	31 (9.2)	70	0.2	0.000	ni ^c	ni
Ouintile	(,)	(38.9)	(0.1 - 0.3)			
MMRpredict	48 (14.3)	73	0.2	0.000	ni	ni
Score >1.66	× ,	(40.6)	(0.2 - 0.4)			
No Bethesda 1	2 (0.6)	25	25.0	0.000	ni	ni
	. ,	(13.4)	(5.8 – 111.1)			
No Bethesda 2	18 (5.3)	24	2.6	0.003	14.3	0.000
		(12.9)	(1.4 - 5.0)		(4.7 - 47.5)	
No Bethesda 3	1 (0.3)	14 (7.5)	27.8	0.001	13.9	0.018
			(3.6 - 200.0)		(1.6 – 125.0)	
No Bethesda 4	4 (1.2)	21	10.6	0.000	9.9	0.001
		(11.3)	(3.6 - 31.3)		(2.6 - 37.0)	
No Bethesda 5	33 (9.7)	94	9.4	0.000	7.4	0.000
		(50.5)	(5.9 – 14.9)		(4.0 – 13.9)	
No Polyps	6 (1.8)	11 (5.9)	3.5	0.015	7.1	0.002
			(1.3 – 9.6)		(2.1 - 24.4)	
ACMAC	21 (6.2)	77	0.1	0.000	ns ^d	ns
(PMG1)		(41.4)	(0.06 - 0.2)			
PMG2	3 (0.9)	6 (3.2)	0.3	0.065	ns	ns
			(0.06 - 1.1)			
PMG3	1 (0.3)	2 (1.1)	0.3	0.289	ns	ns
			(0.03 - 3.0)			
PMG4	11 (3.3)	11 (5.9)	0.5	0.152	6.6	0.016
			(0.2 - 1.3)		(1.4 - 31.0)	
PMG5	1 (0.3)	9 (4.8)	0.06	0.007	ns	ns
			(0.01 - 0.5)			
Age ≤50	2 (0.6)	24	0.04		1.0	0.000
		(12.9)	(0.01 - 0.2)	0.000	(Reference)	
Age 51-64	117	88	0.6	0.004	23.8	0.000
	(34.5)	(47.3)	(0.4 - 0.8)		(5.1 - 111.0)	
Age ≥65	220	74	2.8	0.000	103.2	0.000
	(64.9)	(39.8)	(1.9 - 4.4)		(21.4 - 496.5)	

Table 12: Univariate and Multivariate Analysis of the Prediction of 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy (n=339) vs More Frequent Colonoscopy (n=186) as Recommended by the Genetic Counselor

a: Odds Ratio estimated by binary logistic regression

b: Adjusted Odds Ratio estimated by multivariate logistic regression

c: Not included for potentially confounding reasons

d: Not significant

Table 13: Odds Ratios for variables predictive of referral to a 5-10 yearly colonoscopy screening

Predictive Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Age at diagnosis 65 years and older	103.2	21.4 - 496.5
Age at diagnosis between 51 and 64 years old	23.8	5.1 - 111.0
No Presence of synchronous or metachronous colorectal, or other HNPCC-associated tumors, regardless of age	14.3	4.7 – 43.5
No Colorectal cancer with MSI-high histology diagnosed in a patient less than 60 years of age	13.9	1.6 – 125.0
No Colorectal cancer diagnosed in 1 or more first-degree relatives with an HNPCC-related tumor, with one of the cancers being diagnosed under age 50 years	9.9	2.6 - 37.0
No first-degree relatives with Colorectal cancer	8.1	3.7 – 17.4
No Colorectal cancer diagnosed in 2 or more first- or second-degree relatives with HNPCC-related tumors, regardless of age	7.4	4.0 - 13.9
No Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative	7.1	2.1 - 24.4
Sebaceous tumor (adenoma, carcinoma, epithelioma) before age 50 or multiple tumors at any age	6.6	1.4 - 31.0

The multivariate model scores were then converted to a probability score between 0-1 for the clinical decision made by genetics. The distribution of these scores in in Figure 10.

Figure 10: Distribution of Multivariate Model Equation Scores for Patients Recommended for 5-10-year Screening Intervals versus the Rest



Probability (P) predicted by the model (Y); where:

$$Y = \log(\frac{P}{1-P}) \qquad \qquad e^{Y} = \left(\frac{P}{1-P}\right) \qquad \qquad P = \frac{e^{Y}}{1+e^{Y}}$$

For the decision to refer family members for 5-10 yearly colonoscopy, the implication of a false negative result is more frequent colonoscopy. In the false negative group who had scores below the cut-off of 0.5, there were 30 families whose first-degree family members were actually advised to have colonoscopy at 5-10-year intervals. All of them had a Bethesda criterion in

support of the decision except for 3 patients, 2 of whom were aged 50 years or younger [Table 14, Appendix F].

The specificity of the model was 73% with 50 patients having a score above the cut-off, but not receiving advice for 5-10-yearly colonoscopy, whose family members would consequently receive more frequent colonoscopy. Twenty-seven of the 50 patients had no family history of CRC, had no criteria for more frequent colonoscopy, and were older than 50 years of age. These families should have more appropriately been offered 5-10 yearly colonoscopy [Table 15, Appendix G].

Correction of the clinical decision in the one false negative patient and 27 of the false positive patients increases the sensitivity of the model to 92% and the specificity to 86% [Table 17].

Predictive Variables Fulfilled	Age Bracket	n
Bethesda 4	≥ 65	1
	Total	1
	51-64	3
Bethesda 5	≥ 65	8
	Total	11
Bethesda 2; Bethesda 5; PMG4	51-64	1
	Total	1
Bethesda 2; Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative; PMG4	≥ 65	1
	Total	1
	< 50	2
No Family History of CRC	> 65	1
	- Total	3
	51-64	1
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 2	≥ 65	1
	- Total	2
	51-64	5
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 5	≥ 65	1
	_ Total	6
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 2; Bethesda 5	≥ 65	1
		1
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 4; Bethesda 5	≥ 65	1
	Total	1
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 5; Adenomatous polyps in a	≥ 65	1
first-degree relative	Total	1
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 2; Adenomatous polyps in a	51-64	1
first-degree relative; Sebaceous tumor before age 50 or multiple	Total	1
tumors at any age (PMG4)		
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 2; Bethesda 3; Bethesda 5;	≥ 65	1
PMG4	Total	1

Table 14: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Negatives of Multivariate Model Predictive of 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy (n=30)

Predictive Variables Fulfilled	Age Bracket	n
None	≥ 65 <i>Total</i>	2 2
Bethesda 2	≥ 65 Total	1 1
No Family History of CRC	$ \leq 50 \\ 51-64 \\ \geq 65 \\ Total $	2 18 5 25
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 2	$51-64$ ≥ 65 $Total$	4 3 7
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 5	51-64 ≥ 65 <i>Total</i>	1 7 8
No Family History of CRC; Adenomatous polyps in a first- degree relative	\geq 65 Total	2 2
No Family History of CRC; Bethesda 2; PMG4	51-64 ≥ 65 <i>Total</i>	3 2 5

Table 15: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Positives of Multivariate Model Predictive of 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy (n=50)

Table 16: Predicted versus Observed Classification Table for 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy

	Observed Cases				
Predicted	5-10 Yes 5-10 No				
Cases					
5-10 Yes	308	50			
5-10 No	30	136			

<u>Table 17: The Utility of the Multivariate Score if the Decision Made by Genetics had been</u> <u>Correctly Assigned based on the Clinical Data</u>

	Observed Cases			
Predicted	5-10 Yes	5-10 No		
Cases				
5-10 Yes	335	23		
5-10 No	29	137		

4.2.3 Prediction of 2-3-year Screening Frequency versus the Rest

We compared the patients in the 2-3-year recommended screening frequency bracket (n=68) against the rest (n=447) with the aim of identifying predictive variables for family members recommended for high frequency screening [Table 19]. Patients fulfilling Amsterdam criteria are automatically placed in the 1-2-year bracket, thus for the purpose of this analysis, these families were excluded. In univariate analysis, patients in the 2-3-year bracket were more likely to fulfil ACMAC (p<0.0001), have a family history of CRC independent of ACMAC (p<0.0001), have a FHS in the fifth quintile (p<0.0001), a MMRpredict score >1.66 (p<0.0001), fulfil Bethesda 2 (p=0.012), Bethesda 3 (p<0.0001), Bethesda 4 (p<0.0001) and Bethesda 5 (p<0.0001) criteria, and have a family member with polyps (p=0.002). Patients in the 2-3-year bracket were also more likely to fulfil PMG5 criteria (p<0.0001) and were 50 years old or younger (p=0.001).

In multivariate analysis, variables that were statistically significantly predictive of the 2-3-year screening bracket were the fulfilment of ACMAC (OR= 11.1; p<0.0001), family history of CRC independent of ACMAC (OR= 9.9; p<0.0001), fulfilment of Bethesda 4 criteria (OR = 4.0; p=0.005), presence of polyps in a family member (OR= 14.6; p<0.0001) and fulfil PMG5 criteria (OR= 11.1; p=0.001). Patients in the 2-3-year bracket were also more likely to be 50 years old or younger (OR= 11.9; p<0.0001), or between the ages of 51 and 64 (OR= 3.1; p=0.001), when compared to patients aged 65 years and older.

There is a strong statistically significant association between the predictive variables in the 2-3year screening bracket [$X^2 = 130$; df=8; p<0.0001]. With a cut-off value to 0.3, sensitivity was 69.1%, while specificity was 87.4%. A high sensitivity is important in this bracket, as it rules in high frequency colonoscopy. The c-statistic of this model, which represents Area Under the Curve (AUC) of the Receiver Operator Characteristic curve was 0.897 [Table 18].

Multivariate Model Descriptive Statistics				
Number of patients	515			
Patients recommended for 2-3 yearly colonoscopy	68			
Patients recommended for less frequent colonoscopy	447			
Chi-square Statistic X^2	130.5			
	150.5			
Degrees of Freedom	8			
P-value	< 0.0001			
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy				
Cut-off	0.300			
Mean	0.132			
Standard Deviation	0.190			
Minimum	0.015			
Maximum	0.946			
	1			
Sensitivity	69.1%			
Specificity	87.4%			
Positive Predictive Value	45.6%			
Negative Predictive Value	94.9%			
Area Under the Curve	0.897			

Table 18: Descriptive Data from the Multivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy

The multivariate model yielded the following equation, where 'Y' represents patients in the 2-3year screening bracket:

Y = B0 + B1x1 + B2x2 + B3x3 + B4x4 + B5x5 + B6x6 + B7x7

Y = -4.157 + 2.290 (FamCRC w/o ACMAC) + 1.376 (Bethesda 4) + 2.679 (Polyps) + 2.403 (ACMAC) + 2.410 (PMG4) + 2.473 (Age50) + 1.128 (Age5164)

Predictor	N, % 2-	N, %,	OR ^a ,	p-	AOR ^b ,	p-value
Variable	3 years	Rest	Univariate	value	Multivariate	-
	-		(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
Amsterdam	10	0 (0.0)	8	0.000	ni ^c	ni
	(12.8)					
FamCRC w/o	15	30 (6.7)	3.9	0.000	9.9	0.000
ACMAC	(22.1)		(2.0 - 7.8)		(3.9 - 25.3)	
FHS in 5 th	32	62	5.4	0.000	ni	ni
Quintile	(47.1)	(14.1)	(3.1 - 9.4)			
MMRpredict	35	80	4.8	0.000	ni	ni
Score >1.66	(51.5)	(18.1)	(2.7 - 8.2)			
Bethesda 1	8 (11.8)	13 (2.9)	4.5	0.001	ni	ni
			(1.8 - 11.2)			
Bethesda 2	11	31 (6.9)	2.6	0.012	ns ^d	ns
	(16.2)		(1.2 - 5.4)			
Bethesda 3	8 (11.8)	7 (1.6)	8.4	0.000	ns	ns
			(2.9 - 24.0)			
Bethesda 4	12	12 (2.7)	7.8	0.000	4.0	0.005
	(17.6)		(3.3 - 18.1)		(1.5 - 10.4)	
Bethesda 5	35	92	4.1	0.000	ns	ns
	(51.5)	(20.6)	(2.4 - 7.0)			
Polyps	7 (10.3)	10 (2.2)	5.0	0.002	14.6	0.000
			(1.8 - 13.7)		(4.2 - 50.0)	
ACMAC	36	61	7.1	0.000	11.1	0.000
(PMG1)	(52.9)	(13.6)	(4.1 – 12.3)		(5.2 - 23.3)	
PMG2	3 (4.4)	5 (1.1)	4.1	0.058	ns	ns
			(1.0 - 17.5)			
PMG3	1 (1.5)	2 (0.4)	3.3	0.330	ns	ns
			(0.3 – 37.1)			
PMG4	5 (7.4)	17 (3.8)	2.0	0.187	ns	ns
			(0.7 - 5.6)			
PMG5	6 (8.8)	4 (0.9)	10.7	0.000	11.1	0.001
			(2.9 – 39.0)		(2.5 - 49.0)	
Age ≤50	8 (11.8)	13 (2.9)	4.5	0.001	11.9	0.000
			(1.8 – 11.2)		(3.5 - 40.5)	
Age 51-64	38	165	2.2	0.003	3.1	0.001
	(55.9)	(36.9)	(1.3 – 3.6)		(1.6 - 6.1)	
Age ≥65	22	269	0.3	0.000	1.0	0.000
	(32.4)	(60.2)	(0.2 - 0.5)		(Reference)	

Table 19: Two-three-year Screening Frequency (n=68) versus Less Frequent (n=447)

a: Odds Ratio estimated by binary logistic regressionb: Adjusted Odds Ratio estimated by multivariate logistic regression

c: Not included for potential confounding reasons

d: Not significant

Table 20: Odds Ratios for variables predictive of 2-3 yearly colonoscopy screening

Predictive Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative	14.6	4.2 - 50.0
Age at diagnosis less than 50 years of age	11.9	3.5 - 40.5
Age and Cancer Modified Amsterdam Criteria (ACMAC)	11.1	5.2 - 23.3
Presence of multiple HNPCC-related cancers in an individual, with one cancer before age 60	11.1	2.5 - 49.0
At least one first-degree relative with Colorectal cancer, but without ACMAC	9.9	3.9 – 25.3
Colorectal cancer diagnosed in 1 or more first-degree relatives with an HNPCC-related tumor, with one of the cancers being diagnosed under age 50 years	4.0	1.5 – 10.4
Age at diagnosis between ages 51-64	3.1	1.6 – 6.1

The multivariate model scores were then converted to a probability score between 0-1 for the clinical decision made by genetics. The distribution of these scores is in Figure 11.

Figure 11: Distribution of Multivariate Model Equation Scores for Patients Recommended for 2-3-year Screening Intervals versus the Rest



Probability (P) predicted by the model (Y); where:

$$Y = \log(\frac{P}{1-P}) \qquad \qquad e^{Y} = \left(\frac{P}{1-P}\right) \qquad \qquad P = \frac{e^{Y}}{1+e^{Y}}$$

For the decision to refer family members for 2-3 yearly colonoscopy, the implication of a false negative result is more frequent colonoscopy. In the false negative group who had scores below the cut-off of 0.3, there were 21 patients whose first-degree family members were actually advised to have colonoscopy at 2-3-year intervals. Four of the 21 families fulfilled none of the predictive variables and were older than 50 years of age. Two of the 21 patients were 65 years of

age or older, and the only predictive variable they fulfilled was adenomatous polyps in a firstdegree relative [Table 21, Appendix H].

The specificity of the model was 87% with 56 patients having a score above the cut-off of 0.3, but not receiving advice for 2-3-yearly colonoscopy, whose family members would consequently receive less frequent colonoscopy. Among the 56 false positives patients, 41 of them fulfilled ACMAC. These families should have more appropriately been offered 2-3-yearly colonoscopy [Table 22, Appendix I].

If six of the 21 false negative patients and 41 of the 56 false positive patients were re-classified based on their clinical information, the sensitivity of the model would improve to 85%, and the specificity would improve to 96% [Table 24].

Table 21: Frequencies of	Predictive Varia	ble Combinations	s for False I	Negatives	of Multivariate
Model Predictive of 2-3	yearly Colonosco	<u>ppy (n=21)</u>		-	

Predictive Variables Fulfilled	Age Bracket	n
	\leq 50	4
None	51-64	3
	≥ 65	1
	Total	8
Age and cancer modified Amsterdam criteria (ACMAC)	≥ 65	9
	Total	9
Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative	≥ 65	2
	Total	2
Family History of CRC without ACMAC	≥ 65	2
	Total	2

Predictive Variables Fulfilled	Age Bracket	n
None	≤ 50	1
	Total	1
	\leq 50	4
Age and cancer modified Amsterdam criteria (ACMAC)	51-64	22
	≥ 65	3
	Total	29
ACMAC; Colorectal cancer diagnosed in one or more first-degree	51-64	1
relatives with an HNPCC-related tumor, with one of the cancers	≥ 65	8
being diagnosed under age 50 years (Bethesda 4)	Total	9
	51 (A	1
ACMAC; Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative	51-64	
	Total	1
ACMAC; Presence of multiple HNPCC-related cancers in an	≥ 65	2
individual, with one cancer before age 50 (PMG5)	Total	2
	51 (A	1
	51-64	
PMG5	≥ 65	
	Total	2
	-1 (4	
Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative	51-64	2
	Total	2
	\leq 50	1
Family History of CRC without ACMAC	51-64	2
	≥ 65	2
	Total	5
	51-64	1
Family History of CRC without ACMAC; Bethesda 4	≥ 65	2
	Total	3
Family History of CRC without ACMAC, adenomatous polyps in a	≥ 65	2
first-degree relative	Total	2

Table 22: Frequencies of Predictive Variable Combinations for False Positives of Multivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy (n=56)

	Observed Cases		
Predicted	2-3 Yes	2-3 No	
Cases			
2-3 Yes	47	56	
2-3 No	21	390	

Table 23: Predicted versus Observed Classification Table for 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy

Table 24: The Utility of the Multivariate Score if the Decision Made by Genetics had been Correctly Assigned based on the Clinical Data

	Observed Cases		
Predicted	2-3 Yes	2-3 No	
Cases			
2-3 Yes	88	15	
2-3 No	15	396	

4.2.4 Prediction of 2-3-year versus 3-5-year Screening Frequency

We compared n=68 patients in the 2-3-year recommended screening frequency bracket (excluding Amsterdam) against those in the 3-5-year bracket (n=108) with the aim of identifying predictive variables that can sensitively and specifically distinguish the 2-3-year bracket from the 3-5 yearly group [Table 26].

In univariate analysis, patients in the 2-3-year bracket were more likely to fulfil Bethesda 4 criteria (p=0.04); have a family history of CRC (p=0.045), a FHS in the 5th quintile (p=0.020) an MMRpredict score >1.66 (p=0.006) and fulfil ACMAC (p=0.039).

In multivariate analysis, variables that were statistically significant and predictive of the 2-3-year bracket were the fulfilment of ACMAC (OR= 2.2; p=0.025), family history of CRC (OR=2.5; p=0.011), have a family member with polyps (OR= 5.8; p=0.013), fulfilment of PMG5 (OR=5.9; p=0.020), and have an age at diagnosis of 65 years or older (OR= 0.4; p=0.014).

There is a strong statistically significant association between the predictive variables in the 2-3year screening bracket [$X^2 = 23.814$; df= 5; p<0.0001]. Using a cut-off value of 0.5, the sensitivity of the model was poor at only 35.3%, while the specificity was 89.8%. Using a cut-off value of 0.4, the model had a sensitivity of 75.0% and a specificity of 55.6%. The c-statistic of this model, which represents Area Under the Curve (AUC) of the Receiver Operator Characteristic curve was 0.707 [Table 25].

Table 25: Descriptive Data from the Multivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly versus 3-5yearly Colonoscopy

Multivariate Model Descriptive Statistics			
Number of patients	176		
Patients recommended for 2-3 yearly colonoscopy	68		
Patients recommended for less frequent colonoscopy	108		
Chi-square Statistic X^2	23.8		
Degrees of Freedom	5		
P-value	<0.0001		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly	early Colonoscopy		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off	early Colonoscopy		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean	early Colonoscopy 0.400 0.386		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean Standard Deviation	<i>early Colonoscopy</i> 0.400 0.386 0.176		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean Standard Deviation Minimum	0.400 0.386 0.176 0.118		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean Standard Deviation Minimum Maximum	<i>early Colonoscopy</i> 0.400 0.386 0.176 0.118 0.914		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean Standard Deviation Minimum Maximum	<i>early Colonoscopy</i> 0.400 0.386 0.176 0.118 0.914		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean Standard Deviation Minimum Maximum Sensitivity	<i>early Colonoscopy</i> 0.400 0.386 0.176 0.118 0.914 75.0%		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean Standard Deviation Minimum Maximum Sensitivity Specificity	0.400 0.386 0.176 0.118 0.914		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean Standard Deviation Minimum Maximum Sensitivity Specificity Positive Predictive Value	0.400 0.386 0.176 0.118 0.914 75.0% 55.6% 51.5%		
Model's Predicted Probability of 2-3 ye versus 3-5 yearly Cut-off Mean Standard Deviation Minimum Maximum Sensitivity Specificity Positive Predictive Value Negative Predictive Value	0.400 0.386 0.176 0.118 0.914 75.0% 55.6% 51.5% 77.9%		

The multivariate model yielded the following equation, where 'Y' represents patients in the 2-3year screening bracket:

 $Y=\beta0+\beta1x1+\beta2x2+\beta3x3+\beta4x4-\beta5x5$

Y= -1.111 + 0.930 (FamCRC) + 1.761 (Polyps) + 0.781 (ACMAC) + 1.769 (PMG5) – 0.905 (Age65)

Table 26: Two-three-year Screening Frequency (n=68) vs 3-5 Year Screening Frequency

<u>(n=108)</u>

Predictor	N, % 2-	N, % 3-5	OR ^a ,	p-	AOR ^b ,	p-
Variable	3 years	years	Univariate	value	Multivariate	value
	•		(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
FamCRC	37	42 (38.9)	1.9	0.045	2.5	0.011
	(54.4)		(1.0 - 3.5)		(1.2 - 5.2)	
Family	32	31 (28.7)	2.2	0.014	ni ^c	ni
History Score	(47.1)		(1.2 - 4.2)			
in 5 th Quintile						
MMRpredict	35	32 (30.5)	2.4	0.006	ni	ni
Score >1.66	(51.5)		(1.3 - 4.6)			
Bethesda 1	8 (11.8)	12 (11.1)	1.1	0.894	ni	ns
			(0.4 - 2.8)			
Bethesda 2	11	13 (12.0)	1.4	0.437	ns ^d	ns
	(16.2)		(0.6 - 3.4)			
Bethesda 3	8 (11.8)	6 (5.6)	2.3	0.147	ns	ns
			(08 - 6.8)			
Bethesda 4	12	8 (7.4)	2.7	0.043	ns	ns
	(17.6)		(1.0 - 6.9)			
Bethesda 5	35	59 (54.6)	0.9	0.683	ns	ns
	(51.5)		(0.5 - 1.6)			
Polyps	7 (10.3)	4 (3.7)	3.0	0.091	5.8	0.013
			(0.8 - 10.6)		(1.4 - 23.4)	
ACMAC	36	40 (37.0)	1.9	0.039	2.2	0.025
(PMG1)	(52.9)		(1.0 - 3.5)		(1.1 – 4.3)	
PMG2	3 (4.4)	2 (1.9)	2.4	0.334	ns	ns
			(0.4 – 15.0)			
PMG3	1 (1.5)	1 (0.9)	1.6	0.742	ns	ns
			(0.1 - 26.0)			
PMG4	5 (7.4)	6 (5.6)	1.3	0.633	ns	ns
			(0.4 – 4.6)	0.000		0.020
PMG5	6 (8.8)	3 (2.8)	3.4	0.092	5.9	0.020
	0 (11.0)	11 (10 0)	(0.8 - 14.0)	0.540	(1.3 - 26.1)	
Age ≤50	8 (11.8)	11 (10.2)	1.2	0.743	ns	ns
A 71 64	20		(0.4 - 3.1)	0.1.40		
Age 51-64	58 (55 0)	48 (44.4)	1.0	0.140	ns	ns
A	(55.9)	40 (45 4)	(0.9 - 2.9)	0.000	0.4	0.014
Age ≥65	(32 4)	49 (43.4)	$(0.2 \ 1.1)$	0.088	(0,2,0,8)	0.014
	(32.4)		(0.3 - 1.1)	1	(0.2 - 0.8)	

a: Odds Ratio estimated by binary logistic regressionb: Adjusted Odds Ratio estimated by multivariate logistic regression

c: Not included for potential confounding reasons

d: Not significant

Table 27: Odds Ratios for variables predictive of 2-3 yearly colonoscopy screening versus 3-5 yearly

Predictive Variable	Odds Ratio ^b	95% CI
Presence of multiple HNPCC-related cancers in an individual, with one cancer before age 60	5.9	1.3 – 26.1
Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative	5.8	1.4 - 23.4
At least one first-degree relative with Colorectal cancer	2.5	1.2 – 5.2
Age and Cancer Modified Amsterdam Criteria (ACMAC)	2.2	1.1 – 4.3
Age at diagnosis at 65 years and older	0.4	0.2 - 0.8

The multivariate model scores were then converted to a probability score between 0-1 for the clinical decision made by genetics. The distribution of these scores is in Figure 12.

Figure 12: Distribution of Multivariate Model Equation Scores for Patients Recommended for 2-3-year Screening Intervals versus 3-5-years



Probability (P) predicted by the model (Y); where:

$$Y = \log(\frac{P}{1-P}) \qquad \qquad e^{Y} = \left(\frac{P}{1-P}\right) \qquad \qquad P = \frac{e^{Y}}{1+e^{Y}}$$

This poor prediction of decisions recommending 2-3-yearly colonoscopy compared to 3-5-yearly frequency was not considered to be clinically important as by default, families would be recommended for 3-5 yearly colonoscopy if not recommended for 2-3 yearly colonoscopy or 5-10 yearly colonoscopy.

<u>Table 28: Predicted versus Observed Classification Table for 2-3 yearly versus 3-5 yearly</u> <u>Colonoscopy</u>

	Observed Cases		
Predicted	2-3 Yes	2-3 No	
Cases			
2-3 Yes	51	48	
2-3 No	17	60	

Chapter 5 – DISCUSSION

5.1 Introduction

In this research project, we investigated the effectiveness with which the previously established population-based familial colorectal cancer clinic provided colonoscopic screening recommendations to families at different degrees of risk of CRC. In doing so, we identified important predictive variables with which we could develop and assess the utility of multivariate prediction models to facilitate future screening recommendations in families with CRC. We compared the predictions made using these models to the clinical decisions previously made by genetic counselors.

5.2 The Newfoundland Familial Colorectal Cancer Clinic

The results from the Newfoundland Familial Colorectal Cancer Clinic (NFCCC) supported five conclusions: (i) the clinic had a relatively low response rate (51%) and the efficiency of genetic counseling was poor; (ii) there was a high rate of referral to genetic counselors at 27%; (iii) risk-specific colonoscopic screening recommendations are necessary for all family members, regardless of proband age; (iv) a family history first approach to identify risk of Lynch Syndrome proved inefficient; and (v) the efficiency in the provision of counseling was poor, as only 30% of the high and intermediate-high risk families were seen by genetic counselors during the duration of the study. This was a result of delays in family history checks and obtaining information from hospitals, which in turn resulted in long waitlists to genetic counseling and a workload that was too great.

Incident cases with CRC were invited to attend the clinic but only 51% provided sufficient family history to provide screening recommendations to their family members. The majority of non-responders had no interest in the project, most of whom were 75 years and older. Upon pedigree assessment by the medical geneticist, 27% of incident cases were referred to a genetic counselor. Among intermediate-high and intermediate-low risk patients, a clinical decision was made based on family history interpretation. While guidelines exist for the genetic/familial high-

risk assessment of CRC, their applicability to specific families remains unclear [169]. Newfoundland families are large and family information is extensive, thus clinical interpretation is often necessary when assessing family risk and providing colonoscopic screening recommendations. Thus, decisions for the purpose of this study were made by experienced geneticists, while considering a multitude of parameters.

The role of genetic counselors in family cancer clinics includes review and assessment of family pedigrees, provision of colonoscopic screening recommendations, and obtaining consent for tumor/genomic DNA cascade testing when required. If a mutation is identified, the genetic counselor will discuss the results with the proband and detail them in a letter to share with relatives. If no mutation is identified but significant family history is present, the genetic counselor provides screening recommendations to the patient and asks them to share them with relatives.

The efficiency in the provision of genetic counseling in the NFCCC was poor, as only 30% of high and intermediate-high risk families were seen by genetic counselors as a result of delays in family history checking and release of information from hospitals. This resulted in a long waitlist and subsequent burden on genetic counselors. It is worth noting that the decision not to refer intermediate-low risk patients to a genetic counselor was driven by the limited resources of genetic counseling, and the probability of further increasing the waitlist. It is therefore possible that some families with Lynch Syndrome were missed.

The prevalence of high-risk CRC families was lower in this study than in a previous populationbased cohort study from Newfoundland [42]. When comparing the previous study to the current, Amsterdam I and II criteria were fulfilled in 3.7% vs 1.7%, familial CRC was present in 31% vs 19.8%, and low risk families comprised 52.7% vs 57%, respectively. We proposed that the lower prevalence of high-risk families was a direct result of screening, as families with previously identified HNPCC have received screening already.

When examining high risk families classified by age of proband, the rate of higher risk families decreased the older the proband. Nevertheless, the prevalence was still quite high in probands 75

years and older: 19.4% had familial CRC, while 31.3% fulfilled at least one Bethesda criterion. Screening colonoscopy frequency recommended to family members was in the 5-10-year bracket for 23% of families.

The family history-first approach of assessing Lynch Syndrome failed to assess 48% of incident cases of LS risk due to a lack of family history provided. However, 36% of those who did not provide a family history were 75 years and older thus at lower risk of having a LS mutation. Among responders, 23% fulfilled the criteria for tumor/genomic DNA cascade testing for LS mutations. If families at risk of LS as defined by MMRpredict were referred to genetic counselors, the proportion of probands referred would have been 24%. The process in which patients were identified as requiring tumor/genomic DNA cascade testing for LS mutations was inefficient, as 66% of high/ intermediate-high risk families were waiting to see a genetic counselor by the end of the study. Of the 48 patients seen by the genetic counselor, 50% were referred for LS testing. Of the 95 patients not seen by genetic counselors, all received recommendations for colonoscopic screening based on family history, but data on those who needed work-up for LS is not yet available. The efficiency of the process could be improved by narrowing criteria for referral to genetic counselors, hiring more genetic counselors, or exploring the use of electronic predictive models.

An alternative process to the family history first approach is a tumor first approach with immunohistochemistry testing for the four MMR proteins and or microsatellite instability testing in CRCs at the time of surgery. Universal tumor MMR testing among CRC probands had a greater sensitivity for identification of LS compared to multiple alternative strategies, although the increase in diagnostic test yield was modest [169]. The decision to undertake universal testing will be influenced by the utility of defining MMR deficiency for immunotherapies [173].

We concluded that the high CRC mortality rate in NL is likely the result of high CRC incidence, and because the rate of familial CRC in the province is high, we recommended the development of population-based screening strategies to target families at risk of CRC, and algorithmic approaches to defining risk and providing screening recommendations should be investigated. The strategy in this study proved inefficient in the management of high and intermediate risk families. The workload of genetic counselors was too broad despite being limited to high and intermediate-high risk families.

The age recommended for starting colonoscopies in family members, were determined primarily by family history, generally 10 years earlier than the youngest person in the pedigree with CRC. The provision of screening frequency recommendations requires information on the patient (age, tumor pathology, incidence of HNPCC cancers) and on the family (age of CRC, polyps, and HNPCC in first- and second-degree relatives), which requires expertise. The geographical and financial limitations for genetic counseling led us to investigate the use of predictive models to determine whether electronic algorithms could accurately reflect screening recommendations made by genetic counselors [174].

The clinical decisions tested using multivariate models were (1) referral of the patient to a genetic counselor, (2) colonoscopy at 5-10-year intervals for family members, (3) colonoscopy at 2-3-year intervals for family members. No model was necessary for patients who fulfilled Amsterdam criteria, as these family members automatically require colonoscopy at 1-2-year intervals. Furthermore, we examined the logic that if patients did not have scores suggesting high or low interval colonoscopy, they would automatically require screening at 3-5-year intervals, by modelling 2-3-year colonoscopy frequency versus 3-5-year frequency.

5.3 Electronic Prediction of Referral to a Genetic Counselor and Screening Recommendations

5.3.1 Referral to a Genetic Counselor

Families at high and intermediate-high risk were referred for genetic counseling by the geneticist, including all 10 families fulfilling Amsterdam I or II criteria. In the remaining 515 families that did not fulfil Amsterdam criteria, multivariate analysis identified the following factors as significant and independent predictors of referral: Family history of CRC independent of ACMAC, Bethesda criteria 2, 3 and 4, presence of adenomatous polyps in a family member, ACMAC, age less than or equal to 50, and age between 51-64 [Tables 5, 6]. The multivariate model score cut-off had an area under the curve (AUC) of 0.912. The sensitivity of the

multivariate score cut-off was 81.3% for prediction of referral and specificity 87.4% using a cut-off of 0.4.

We compared the decision made by the multivariate score to that made by the geneticist and identified 25 (19%) patients recommended for genetic counseling, whose multivariate score fell below the cut-off of 0.4. There is concern in using multivariate scores for clinical decision-making on the basis of the harm associated with false negatives. However, review of the clinical data revealed that 10 of the patients referred by genetics should not have been referred. Specifically, they were over 50 years of age without any of the predictive variables for referral. We also identified 48 patients not referred to a genetic counselor, whom on the basis of their multivariate score, should have been. Review of the clinical data of these 48 patients identified 29 patients with a score indicative of referral to a genetic counselor that should have been, although they were not. Specifically, 26 should have been referred on account of fulfilling ACMAC criteria, while a further 3 patients fulfilled Bethesda criteria. Had these 10 false negative patients and 29 false positive patients had the proper clinical decision, the sensitivity of our model would have increased to 90%, and our specificity to 95%. Nevertheless, it appears that the multivariate model was more clinically accurate than the geneticist.

If applied to all incident CRC patients recorded in the Newfoundland Colorectal Cancer Registry, our model would screen patients for referral to genetic counseling, and diminish the labour required by geneticists to assess the patient.

5.3.2 Decision on 5-10-year Screening Colonoscopy

The majority of families (n=339) were recommended to have screening colonoscopy at intervals between five and ten years. When compared to the families who were recommended for more frequent intervals, the decision of the geneticist was influenced by age, absence of family history of CRC, any of the Bethesda criteria, some of the PMG criteria and polyps in family members [Tables 12, 13].

In this instance, the sensitivity is ruling in patients with an appropriate score to have low frequency colonoscopy and ruling out patients not in the range for higher frequency colonoscopy. Thus, they would be unlikely to suffer from failing to get low frequency colonoscopy. We compared the computer-generated cut-off for the multivariate score to decisions made by geneticists. The sensitivity was 90%, the specificity was 76% and the area under the curve was 0.901.

We identified 30 patients recommended for 5-10 yearly colonoscopy whose multivariate scores fell below the cut-off of 0.5. Review of the clinical data determined that 1 of these 30 false negative patients did not fulfil any Bethesda criteria, nor an age of diagnosis that would support the decision, and therefore should have been offered less frequent colonoscopy than they were. We also identified 50 false positive patients, who had multivariate scores above the model's cut-off of 0.5, but who weren't advised for 5-10 yearly colonoscopy. Review of their clinical data identified 27 patients who had no family history of CRC, no other criteria for more frequent colonoscopy, and who were older than 50 years of age. Per our model, these 27 families should have been offered 5-10 yearly colonoscopy instead. Had the one false negative patient and the 27 false positive patients had the proper clinical decision, the sensitivity of our model would improve to 92%, and the specificity to 86%.

This is a significant result both for this cohort and in terms of application to future families who may be screened less frequently than their data indicates.

5.3.3 Decision on 2-3-year Screening Colonoscopy

As it is accepted practice to provide colonoscopy at 1-2 yearly intervals in families who fulfil Amsterdam criteria, that is what was recommended in the 10 families we excluded from the multivariate models.

The decision by the genetic counselor to recommend frequent screening at 2-3-year intervals was influenced primarily by age, fulfilment of Amsterdam, Bethesda and Provincial Medical

Genetics criteria, in addition to family history of CRC and presence of polyps in a family member [Tables 19, 20].

When we compared the computer-generated cut-off for the multivariate score to the decisions made by genetic counselors, the sensitivity was 69.1% while the specificity was 87.4% when using a cut-off value of 0.3. The area under the curve (AUC) of the model was 0.897.

The relatively low sensitivity of 69.1% was a concern, but in reviewing the clinical data we determined that four of the 21 false negative patients did not fulfil any of the predictive variables and were older than 50 years of age. A further two patients aged 65 years and older only fulfilled the predictive variable of adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative. We also identified 56 false positive patients, who had multivariate scores above the cut-off of 0.3 but weren't advised for 2-3-yearly colonoscopy. Review of their clinical data identified 41 of those patients fulfilled ACMAC. Thus, it appears that genetic counselors are ignoring the fulfilment of ACMAC when deciding on the provision of frequent colonoscopy, despite it being listed first among criteria used in the testing algorithm for suspected HNPCC families developed by the Provincial Medical Genetics program. Had the six false negative patients and the 41 false positive patients had the proper clinical decision, the sensitivity of our model would have increased to 85%, and our specificity to 96%. Nevertheless, it appears that the multivariate model was more clinically accurate than the genetic counselor.

This is a significant result both for this cohort and in terms of application to future families who may be screened less frequently than their data indicates.

5.3.4 Decision on 2-3-year Screening Colonoscopy versus 3-5-year

By a process of elimination, patients without Amsterdam criteria, and who do not have scores consistent with either High (2-3 year) or Low (5-10 year) frequency colonoscopy should have colonoscopies at 3-5-year intervals. Nevertheless, we tried to create a multivariate model to compare the 3-5-year interval group to the 2-3-year group.

The multivariate model identified significant and independent factors as more likely to have a family history of CRC, have presence of multiple adenomatous polyps in a family member, fulfil ACMAC, PMG5 criteria, and be 65 years of age and older [Tables 26, 27]. Using a cut-off value to 0.4, the model's sensitivity was 75.0%, and the specificity 55.6%.

The area under the curve (AUC) of our multivariate model was 0.707 which is borderline. These results further reinforce that distinguishing between these two brackets remains difficult and may still require interpretation from genetic counselors, as well as more data on the effectiveness of the two screening intervals. Nevertheless, our model did outperform Family History Score, and the identification of four new predictive variables will improve decision-making for genetic counselors, particularly for intermediate-risk patients.

To reiterate points made in sections 5.3.1 and 5.3.3, the application of this model for future use will still address several of our previously observed limitations, particularly in reducing the burden on genetic counselors through reduced referral rates, improved efficiency in their time and provision of counseling.

This poor prediction of decisions recommending 2-3-yearly colonoscopy compared to 3-5-yearly frequency was not considered to be clinically important. By default, families would be recommended for 3-5 yearly colonoscopy if not recommended for 2-3 yearly colonoscopy or 5-10 yearly colonoscopy.

5.4 Implications

Failure to accurately screen colorectal cancer patients' family history places family members at increased risk of CRC if a positive family history is missed. Genetic counselling services have a long waitlist and often are referred patients whose families are not at increased risk. In addition, family members undergo colonoscopy at more frequent intervals than indicated by their family history.

This study demonstrates that important clinical decisions can be made for families using electronically generated scores provided that patient and family history confirmation are collected appropriately. Table 29 details the information required to generate multivariate scores to help make important decisions on whether to refer to genetic counselors and how often family members should have colonoscopies. A summary of the predictive variables that contribute to these decisions can be found in Table 30.

Туре	Data Required
Demographical	• Age of the individual
Tumor	 Is it Synchronous or Metachronous? Does it have MSI-high Histology? Age of the individual at onset Is it an HNPCC-associated tumor? Is it Sebaceous?
Family History	 Amsterdam Criteria ACMAC Family History of CRC (independent of Amsterdam or ACMAC) Bethesda Criteria Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative

Table 29: Information Required to Generate Multivariate Scores for Family Members

The challenges are (1) identifying CRC patients, (2) collecting accurate family histories, (3) defining criteria for the scores in an electronic decision tool, (4) operationalizing the use of multivariate scores in the health system.

We suggest that (1) patients should be identified through the NL Colorectal Cancer Registry at the NL Cancer program, (2) patients should be provided with a family history form to collect information on age of CRC, HNPCC tumors and diagnosis of polyps in first- and second-degree relatives. Alternatively, a tumor-first approach in which colorectal cancers undergo universal

immunohistochemical testing for the four MMR proteins and/or MSI testing at the time of initial surgery can be explored. (3) The decision form needs to include the criteria for calculation of the scores and the backend of the e-tool needs the equations to calculate the multivariate scores. The e-tool should be accessible via an icon on the electronic health record, 'Health-e-NL'. A healthcare professional should enter the data, whether it be a family physician, nurse practitioner, or an employee within the Cancer Care Program. Completion of the e-tool will require patient-specific data, tumor pathology and family history on hand.

If a patient needs referral to Provincial Medical Genetics, the initial work-up will have been completed and available on Health-e-NL saving the counselor hours of work. A decision to obtain hospital level documents on individual family members can be made by the counselor, along with a decision on whether molecular genetic work-up is necessary.

The scores on recommended frequency of colonoscopy will be available to both the referring doctor and the colonoscopist, thus facilitating accurate appraisal of the available data. This should help high risk family members get frequent colonoscopies and low risk family members get infrequent colonoscopies or FIT. A population-based approach to familial CRC has the potential to prevent CRC in NL and reduce the high mortality rates from CRC observed in NL.

Decision	Predictive Variables
	• ACMAC
	• Family History of CRC independent of ACMAC
Referral to a Genetic Counselor	• Bethesda 2, 3 or 4 criteria
	• Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative
	• Age 50 years or younger
	• Age between 51 and 64
	No family history of CRC
	• No Bethesda 2, 3, 4 or 5 criteria
5-10-yearly Colonoscopy	• No adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative
	No PMG4 criteria
	• Age between 51-64
	• Age 65 years or older
	No Amsterdam Criteria
3-5-yearly Colonoscopy	• Not recommended for 2-3-yearly colonoscopy
	• Not recommended for 5-10-yearly colonoscopy
	• ACMAC
	• Family History of CRC independent of ACMAC
	Bethesda 4 criteria
2-3-yearly Colonoscopy	• Adenomatous polyps in a first-degree relative
	• PMG5 criteria
	• Age 50 years or younger
	• Age between 51 and 64 years
1-2-yearly Colonoscopy	Amsterdam criteria

Table 30: Summary of Predictive Variables for Each Decision

5.5 Comparable Studies

Similar practices exist in New Zealand, where the incidence of colorectal cancer is also high by international standards. In 2014, the age-standardized incidence rate was 91 cases per 100,000 people (51 males, 40 females) [175]. This compares to 99 cases per 100,000 people (59 males, 40 females) in Canada, and 139 (86 males, 53 female) in NL over the same time period [176]. Practices in New Zealand also follow a family-first approach similar to that in NL. Risk stratifications depend on number and age of FDRs diagnosed with CRC, and are termed 'Slightly Increased', 'Moderately Increased' and 'Potentially High'. The latter are referred to genetic services or the New Zealand Familial Gastrointestinal Cancer Registry (NZFGCR) for a more accurate risk assessment and surveillance plan. Moreover, NZ patients with a history of polyps receive a risk assessment upon examination and are offered one of three colonoscopy screening frequencies according to the NZFGCR: Low Risk (every 5 years), Intermediate Risk (every 3 years) and High Risk (every year) [177].

An exploratory study by authors in New Zealand and Australia has also investigated the utility of a similar electronic risk assessment and prediction tool used to implement precision screening in primary care [178]. The rationale for the study cites many of the same complications experienced in NL, namely the poor identification of individuals at increased risk of CRC, and over-referral of individuals at average risk.

The paper describes the protocol for a phase II randomized controlled trial exploring the utility of a colorectal cancer risk predictor (CRISP) tool - a web-based risk assessment tool used to compute absolute risk of developing CRC based on analysis of the Colon Cancer Family Registry [179]. The CRISP tool presents the risk information and provides clinical decision support about recommended screening. The CRISP tool used a 2.5% 5-year absolute risk of CRC as the threshold for switching from biennial FOBT testing to colonoscopy in 5-year intervals. The CRISP tool also identifies individuals with family histories indicative of inherited syndromes (Lynch Syndrome, FCCTX, etc.) and these individuals are referred to family cancer clinics rather than the provision of screening advice.

The objective of the CRISP tool was to evaluate its use in general practice compared to the provision of generic cancer prevention information, and to assess whether it increases the proportion of participants who undergo risk-appropriate CRC screening.

5.6 Limitations

One of the primary limitations of this study is the lack of evidence supporting our comparison group: genetic counselors. While recommendations for screening by a genetic counselor are the standard of care, it cannot be considered the gold standard unless it has been shown to be superior to any other means to denote risk and link it to screening recommendations. Thus, in the absence of a trial comparing outcomes both with and without the involvement of a genetic counselor, we don't know what is best.

Many limitations of this study come from the data arising from the familial colorectal cancer clinic itself. First and foremost, we were limited by the low response rate, with only 51% of the 1091 incident CRC cases providing a family history. (2) The disparity in clinical staffing at the two sites may have influenced the quality of data collection. At the Eastern Health site, clinical staff included a genetic counselor, a clerk, an information technology and data management research assistant and a subject matter expert research assistant. Conversely, clinical staffing at Central Health only included a nurse and a clerk. (3) Subjective decision making by genetic counselors may have occurred because the disparity in decisions made by the genetic counselor and by the multivariate model more favored the accuracy of the score. Indeed, the score may be the preferred method, not the genetic counselor. (4) In a few instances there was either missing data or inaccurate recording of data in the database, but the risk of bias is mitigated by our large data set. Inaccurate recordings were corrected when possible, and the few instances of missing data should have minimal impact on the results, if any. (5) Assessment of an accurate pedigree is probably best provided by subject matter experts in a central location. However, in the absence of such a clinic, algorithmic approaches to defining risk and subsequent screening recommendations are dependent on getting accurate family histories on colorectal cancer, polyps and HNPCC-related cancer in first- and second-degree relatives. (6) Family history data is likely

to be more accurate if there are dedicated health professionals encouraging patients to collect information from family members rather than a dependence on a variety of health care professionals. In addition, the need for patient tumor information to complete the score provides a further burden on a health care professional to obtain the data. (7) Although this project was really an evaluation of a health care intervention it benefitted from the rigor associated with research. In the real world, data collection may not be as good as some details are cumbersome to collect (8) Use of the multivariate scores in medical practice may have low acceptance and better penetration of the health system may occur if the interventions were propagated and operationalized by the NL Cancer Care program.
Chapter 6 – SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Colorectal cancer mortality rates in Canada have declined significantly among both males (-2.3% per year between 2004-2015) and females (-1.7% per year between 1984-2015). This decline is driven by a decrease in incidence, and improvements in treatment. Half of CRCs in Canada are detected at stages III or IV. Given the well-documented relationship between stage at diagnosis and survival for CRC, the implementation of accurate and effective screening recommendations will reduce CRC mortality rates even further [1]. This is of particular importance in NL, as we have the highest mortality rates for colorectal cancer in the country.

Between 2009-2011, a CRC screening program was organized for average-risk individuals between the ages of 50-74 in five Canadian provinces (B.C., Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Nova Scotia, P.E.I.). The program has since expanded to every province in the country, including NL since 2012. Among similar initiatives worldwide, participation rates in Canada were the lowest of any, at 16.1% [180]. Similarly, the aforementioned Newfoundland familial CRC clinic was limited by the same plight: low participation rates coupled with low response rates. Moreover, the World Health Organization are estimating an increase of 77% in the number of incident CRC cases, and an increase of 80% in deaths due to CRC by 2030 [181]. These data confirm the need to urgently incorporate measures to improve both participation in screening programs and more accurate and efficient provision of screening, including among high-risk families, and particularly in NL, where we have the highest rate of familial CRC in the world, and where 44% of the population are 50 years of age and older [182].

We believe the results from this research project are relevant to future colorectal screening and prevention practices. Specifically, we were able to accurately predict which patients required referral to a genetic counselor, and whether patients require high-frequency colonoscopy screening (2-3-years), low-frequency colonoscopy screening (5-10-years), at high sensitivity and specificity. No score was necessary for 1-2 yearly interval screening because this is the standard of care for Amsterdam criteria families. Furthermore, review of clinical data to assess false positive and false negative results of the scores suggest that the scores were more accurate than the decision of the genetic counselor, or that data not recorded influenced the decision made by

the geneticist. Prediction of colonoscopic screening recommendations for patients at intermediate risk was more challenging from an analytical viewpoint, but from a practical perspective, families that were non-Amsterdam, with low multivariate scores for both high and low frequency screening would automatically require 3-5 yearly screening.

In summary, the models based on validated risk score components yielded different recommendations than those from the geneticists and genetic counselors, and on review it seems they are better recommendations. We feel that our study can improve both the efficiency and accuracy of interventions important to families with colorectal cancer: referral to genetics and the provision of colonoscopy screening in family members. Prospective validation of the screening recommendations arising from the models should be done in the future.

Chapter 7 – REFERENCES

- Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2015. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society, 2019.
- Parfrey PS, Dicks E, Parfrey O et al. Evaluation of a population-based approach to familial colorectal cancer. *Clin Genet*. 2017; 91(5):672-682. doi: 10.1111/cge.12877 [doi].
- Brenner H, Kloor M, Pox CP. Colorectal cancer. *The Lancet*. 2014;383(9927):1490-1502. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61649-9 [doi].
- Siegel R, DeSantis C, Virgo K et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin. 2012;62(4):220-241. doi: 10.3322/caac.21149 [doi].
- Brenner H, Chang-Claude J, Seiler CM, Rickert A, Hoffmeister M. Protection from colorectal cancer after colonoscopy: a population-based, case-control study. *Ann Intern Med* 2011; 154: 22–30. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-154-1-201101040-00004 [doi].
- Song M, Garrett WS, Chan AT. Nutrients, foods, and colorectal cancer prevention. *Gastroenterology*. 2015;148(6):60.e16. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.12.035 [doi].
- Stoffel E, Mukherjee B, Raymond MS et al. Calculation of risk of colorectal and endometrial cancer among patients with Lynch syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 2009;137(5):1621-7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.07.039 [doi].
- Green RC, Parfrey PS, Woods MO, Younghusband HB. Prediction of Lynch syndrome in consecutive patients with colorectal cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2009: 101: 331–340. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn499 [doi].
- Steinke V, Engel C, Buettner R et al. Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC)/Lynch Syndrome. *Dtsch Arztebl Int* 2013; 110(3): 32–8. doi:

10.3238/arztebl.2013.0032 [doi].

- Peltomaki P. Role of DNA mismatch repair defects in the pathogenesis of human cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2003; 21:1174–1179. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2003.04.060 [doi].
- Green RC, Green JS, Buehler SK et al. Very high incidence of familial colorectal cancer in Newfoundland: a comparison with Ontario and 13 other population-based studies. *Fam Cancer* 2007; 6: 53–62. doi: 10.1007/s10689-006-9104-x [doi].
- Warden G, Harnett D, Green J et al. A population-based study of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer: evidence of pathologic and genetic heterogeneity. *Clin Genet* 2013; 84:522-530. doi: 10.1111/cge.12080 [doi].
- Bussey HJR, and Morson BC. Familial Polyposis Coli. *Gastrointestinal Tract Cancer* 1978; 275-294. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4684-2442-3_11 [doi].
- 14. Nishisho I, Nakamura Y, Miyoshi Y et al. Mutations of chromosome 5q21 genes in FAP and colorectal cancer patients. *Science* 1991; 253:665–669. doi: 10.1126/science.1651563 [doi].
- 15. Kinzler KW, Nilbert MC, Su L et al. Identification of FAP locus genes from chromosome 5q21. *Science* 1991; 253:661–665. doi: 10.1126/science.1651562 [doi].
- Petersen GM, Slack J, Nakamura Y. Screening guidelines and premorbid diagnosis of familial adenomatous polyposis using linkage. *Gastroenterology* 1990; 100:1658–1664. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(91)90666-9 [doi].
- 17. Tomas C, Soyer P, Dohan A et al. Update on imaging of Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. World J Gastroenterol 2014 August 21;20(31): 10864-10875. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i31.10864 [doi].

- Giardiello FM, Brensinger JD, Tersmette AC et al. Very high risk of cancer in familial Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 2000; 119: 1447-1453. doi: 10.1053/gast.2000.20228 [doi].
- Warthin AS. Heredity with reference to carcinoma as shown by the study of the cases examined in the pathological laboratory of the University of Michigan, 1895-1913. *Arch Intern Med* 1913; 12:546-555. doi: 10.1001/archinte.1913.00070050063006 [doi].
- Lynch HT, Shaw MW, Magnuson CW et al. Hereditary factors in cancer: study of two large Midwestern kindreds. *Arch Intern Med* 1966; 117:206-212. doi: 10.1001/archinte.1966.03870080050009 [doi].
- Peltomaki P, Aaltonen LA, Sistonen P et al. Genetic mapping of a locus predisposing to human colorectal cancer. *Science* 1993; 260:810–812. doi: 10.1126/science.8484120 [doi].
- Lindblom A, Tannergard P, Werelius B et al. Genetic mapping of a second locus predisposing to hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer. *Nat Genet* 1993; 5:279–282. doi: 10.1038/ng1193-279 [doi].
- 23. Ionov Y, Peinado MA, Malkhosyan S et al. Ubiquitous somatic mutations in simple repeated sequences reveal a new mechanism for colonic carcinogenesis. *Nature* 1993; 363:558–561.
 doi: 10.1038/363558a0 [doi].
- Thibodeau SN, Bren G, Schaid D et al. Microsatellite instability in cancer of the proximal colon. *Science* 1993; 260:816–819. doi: 10.1126/science.8484122 [doi].
- Fishel R, Lescoe MK, Rao MR et al. The human mutator gene homolog MSH2 and its association with hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer. *Cell* 1993; 75:1027–1038. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90546-3 [doi]

- Leach FS, Nicolaides NC, Papadopoulos N et al. Mutations of a MutS homolog in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Cell* 1993; 75:1215–1225. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90330-S [doi].
- Bronner CE, Baker SM, Morrison PT et al. Mutation in the DNA mismatch repair gene homologue hMLH1 is associated with hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer. *Nature* 1994; 368:258–261. doi :10.1038/368258a0 [doi].
- Grady WM, Carethers JM. Genomic and epigenetic instability in colorectal cancer pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 135:1079–1099. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.07.076 [doi].
- Grady WM. Genetic testing for high-risk colon cancer patients. *Gastroenterology* 2003; 124:1574–1594. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(03)00376-7 [doi].
- Hampel H, Frankel WL, Martin E et al. Screening for the Lynch syndrome (hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer). *N Engl J Med* 2005; 352:1851–1860. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043146 [doi].
- Plaschke J, Engel C, Kruger S et al. Lower incidence of colorectal cancer and later age of disease onset in 27 families with pathogenic MSH6 germline mutations compared to families with MLH1or MSH2 mutations. *J Clin Oncol* 2004; 22:4486–4494. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.02.033 [doi].
- 32. Goecke T, Schulmann K, Engel C et al. Genotype-phenotype comparison of German MLH1 and MSH2 mutation carriers clinically affected with Lynch syndrome: a report by the German HNPCC Consortium. *J Clin Oncol* 2006; 24:4285–4292. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.03.7333 [doi].

- Peterlongo P, Nafa K, Lerman GS et al. MSH6 germline mutations are rare in colorectal cancer families. *Int J Cancer* 2003; 107:571–579. doi:10.1002/ijc.11415 [doi].
- Wijnen J, De Leeuw W, Vasen H et al. Familial endometrial cancer in female carriers of MSH6 germline mutations. *Nat Genet* 1999; 23:142–144. doi: 10.1038/13773 [doi].
- Bonadona V, Bonaiti B, Olschwang S et al. Cancer risks associated with germline mutations in MLH1, MSH2, and MSH6 genes in Lynch syndrome. *JAMA* 2011; 305:2304–2310. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.743 [doi].
- 36. Senter L, Clendenning M, Sotamaa K et al. The clinical phenotype of Lynch syndrome due to germline PMS2 mutations. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 135:419–428. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.04.026 [doi].
- Talseth-Palmer BA, Wijnen JT, Grice DM et al. Genetic modifiers of cancer risk in Lynch syndrome: a review. *Fam Cancer* 2013; 12:207–216. doi: 10.1007/s10689-013-9614-2 [doi].
- Reeves SG, Rich D, Meldrum CJ et al. IGF1 is a modifier of disease risk in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Int J Cancer* 2008; 123:1339–1343. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23668 [doi].
- Chen J, Pande M, Huang YJ et al. Cell cycle-related genes as modifiers of age of onset of colorectal cancer in Lynch syndrome: a large-scale study in non-Hispanic white patients. *Carcinogenesis* 2013; 34:299–306. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgs344 [doi].
- 40. Lindor NM, Rabe K, Petersen GM et al. Lower cancer incidence in Amsterdam-I criteria families without mismatch repair deficiency: familial colorectal cancer type X. JAMA 2005; 293(16): 1979-1985. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.16.1979 [doi]

- Lynch HT, de la Chapelle A. Hereditary colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2003; 348(10): 919-932. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra012242 [doi].
- Woods MO, Hyde AJ, Curtis FK et al. High frequency of hereditary colorectal cancer in Newfoundland likely involves novel susceptibility genes. *Clin Cancer Res* 2005; 11(19): 6853-6861. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0726 [doi].
- 43. Schiemann U, Muller-Koch Y, Gross M et al. Extended microsatellite analysis in microsatellite stable, MSH2 and MLH1 mutation-negative HNPCC patients: genetic reclassification and correlation with clinical features. *Digestion* 2004; 69(3): 166-176. doi: 10.1159/000078223 [doi].
- 44. Klarskov L, Holck S, Bernstein I et al. Hereditary colorectal cancer diagnostics: morphological features of familial colorectal cancer type X versus Lynch syndrome. J *Clin Pathol* 2012; 65: 352–356. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2011-200535 [doi].
- Llor X, Pons E, Xicola RM et al. Differential features of colorectal cancers fulfilling Amsterdam criteria without involvement of the mutator pathway. *Clin Cancer Res* 2005; 11: 7304–7310. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0965 [doi].
- 46. Vasen HF, Moslein G, Alonso A et al. Guidelines for the clinical management of Lynch Syndrome (hereditary non-polyposis cancer). *J Med Genet* 2007; 44:353-362. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2007.048991 [doi].
- 47. Segui N, Pineda M, Navarro M et al. GALNT12 is not a major contributor of familial colorectal cancer type X. *Hum Mutat* 2014; 35:50–52. doi: 10.1002/humu.22454 [doi].
- 48. Venkatachalam R, Verwiel ET, Kamping EJ et al. Identification of candidate predisposing copy number variants in familial and early-onset colorectal cancer patients. *Int J Cancer* 2011; 129:1635–1642. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25821 [doi].

- 49. Middeldorp A, Jagmohan-Changur SC, van der Klift HM et al. Comprehensive genetic analysis of seven large families with mismatch repair proficient colorectal cancer. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 2010; 49: 539-548. doi: 10.1002/gcc.20763 [doi].
- 50. Abdel-Rahman WM, Ollikainen M, Kariola R et al. Comprehensive characterization of HNPCC-related colorectal cancers reveals striking molecular features in families with no germline mismatch repair gene mutations. *Oncogene* 2005; 24: 1542-1551. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208387 [doi].
- 51. Dominguez-Valentin M, Therkildsen C, Veerla S et al. Distinct gene expression signatures in lynch syndrome and familial colorectal cancer type x. *PLoS One* 2013; 8:e71755. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071755 [doi].
- Lee WS, Seo G, Shin HJ et al. Identification of differentially expressed genes in microsatellite stable HNPCC and sporadic colon cancer. *J Surg Res* 2008; 144:29–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2007.02.005 [doi].
- 53. Turner JR. The gastrointestinal tract. In: Kumar V, Abbas AK, Fausto N, Aster JC, eds. Robbins and Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders Elsevier; 2010: 763–831.
- Petersen GM, Slack J, Nakamura Y. Screening guidelines and premorbid diagnosis of familial adenomatous polyposis using linkage. *Gastroenterology* 1991; 100(6):1658–64. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(91)90666-9 [doi].
- 55. Plawski A, Banasiewicz T, Borun P et al. Familial adenomatous polyposis of the colon. *Hered Cancer Clin Pract* 2013;11(1):15. doi: 10.1186/1897-4287-11-15 [doi].
- Wennstrom J, Pierce ER, McKusick VA. Hereditary benign and malignant lesions of the large bowel. *Cancer* 1974;34(3):850–857. doi: 10.1002/1097-

0142(197409)34:3+<850::AID-CNCR2820340711>3.0.CO;2-S [doi].

- 57. Esplin ED, Snyder MP. Genomic era diagnosis and management of hereditary and sporadic colon cancer. *World J Clin Oncol* 2014; 5(5):1036–1047. doi: 10.5306/wjco.v5.i5.1036 [doi].
- Giglia MD, Chu DI. Familial Colorectal Cancer: Understanding the Alphabet Soup. *Clin Colon Rectal Surg* 2016; 29:185–195. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1584290 [doi].
- Ellis CN. Colonic adenomatous polyposis syndromes: clinical management. *Clin Colon Rectal* Surg 2008; 21(4):256–262. doi: 10.1055/s-0028-1089940 [doi].
- Lynch HT, de la Chapelle A. Genetic susceptibility to non-polyposis colorectal cancer. J Med Genet 1999; 36(11):801-18. doi: 10.1136/jmg.36.11.801 [doi].
- Al-Tassan N, Chmiel NH, Maynard J et al. Inherited variants of MYH associated with somatic G:C T:A mutations in colorectal tumors. *Nat Genet* 2002; 30(2):227–232. doi: 10.1038/ng828 [doi].
- 62. de Ferro SM, Suspiro A, Fidalgo P et al. Aggressive phenotype of MYH-associated polyposis with jejunal cancer and intra-abdominal desmoid tumor: report of a case. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2009; 52(4):742–745. doi: 10.1007/DCR.0b013e318199db93 [doi].
- Boparai KS, Dekker E, Van Eeden S et al. Hyperplastic polyps and sessile serrated adenomas as a phenotypic expression of MYH associated polyposis. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 135(6):2014–2018. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.09.020 [doi].
- 64. Jasperson KW, Tuohy TM, Neklason DW, Burt RW. Hereditary and familial colon cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2010; 138(6):2044–2058. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.054 [doi].

- Ricci MT, Salemme M, Villanacci V, Varesco L. The genetics of inherited predispositions to colorectal polyps: a quick guide for clinicians. *Colorectal Dis 2015*; 17(Suppl 1):3–9. doi: 10.1111/codi.12814 [doi].
- Church JM. Polymerase proofreading-associated polyposis: a new, dominantly inherited syndrome of hereditary colorectal cancer predisposition. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2014; 57(3):396–397. doi: 10.1097/DCR.00000000000084 [doi].
- McGarrity TJ, Kulin HE, Zaino RJ. Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2000; 95(3):596–604. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.01831.x [doi].
- Nagy R, Sweet K, Eng C. Highly penetrant hereditary cancer syndromes. *Oncogene* 2004; 23(38):6445–6470. /doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207714 [doi].
- 69. National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Genetic/familial high-risk assessment: colorectal (2015); version 1.2015. Available at: http://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/genetics_colon.pdf. Accessed April 2, 2018
- Calva D, Howe JR. Hamartomatous polyposis syndromes. *Surg Clin North Am* 2008; 88(4):779–817, vii. doi: 10.1016/j.suc.2008.05.002 [doi].
- Murday V, Slack J. Inherited disorders associated with colorectal cancer. *Cancer Surv* 1989; 8(1):139–157.
- Stambolic V, Suzuki A, de la Pompa JL, et al. Negative regulation of PKB/Aktdependent cell survival by the tumor suppressor PTEN. *Cell* 1998; 95(1):29–39. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81780-8 [doi].
- 73. Boparai KS, Dekker E, Polak MM et al. A serrated colorectal cancer pathway predominates over the classic WNT pathway in patients with hyperplastic polyposis

syndrome. *Am J Pathol* 2011; 178(6): 2700-2707. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.02.023 [doi].

- 74. Yeoman A, Young J, Arnold J, Parry S. Hyperplastic polyposis in the New Zealand population: a condition associated with increased colorectal cancer risk and European ancestry. NZ Med J 2007; 120(1266):U2827.
- Jasperson KW, Tuohy TM, Neklason DW, Burt RW. Hereditary and familial colon cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2010; 138(6):2044–2058. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.054 [doi].
- Boland CR, Goel A. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology*. 2010; 138:2073-87. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.12.064 [doi].
- 77. Boland CR, Thibodeau SN, Hamilton SR et al. A National Cancer Institute Workshop on Microsatellite Instability for cancer detection and familial predisposition: development of international criteria for the determination of microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Research* 1998; 58:5248-5257.
- Thomas DC, Umar A, Kunkel TA. Microsatellite instability and mismatch repair defects in cancer. *Mutat Res* 1996; 350:201-205. doi: 10.1016/0027-5107(95)00112-3 [doi].
- Vasen HF, Moslein G, Alonso A et al. Guidelines for the clinical management of Lynch Syndrome (hereditary non-polyposis cancer). *J Med Genet* 2007; 44:353-362. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2007.048991 [doi].
- Liu B, Parsons R, Papadopolous N et al. Analysis of mismatch repair genes in hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer patients. *Nat Med* 1996; 2:169-174. doi: 10.1038/nm0296-169 [doi].

- Bardi G, Johansson B, Pandis N et al. Cytogenic analysis of 52 colorectal carcinomas-Non-random aberration pattern and correlation with pathologic parameters. *Int J Cancer* 1993; 55:422-428. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910550317 [doi].
- 82. Shih IM, Zhou W, Goodman SN et al. Evidence that genetic instability occurs at an early stage of colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* 2001; 61:818-822.
- Powell SM, Petersen GM, Krush AJ. Molecular diagnosis of familial adenomatous polyposis. *N Engl J Med* 1993; 329:1982-1987. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199312303292702 [doi].
- Malumbres M, Barbacid M. Ras oncogenes: the first 30 years. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2003;
 3:459-465. doi: 10.1038/nrc1097 [doi].
- 85. Lanza G, Matteuzzi M, Gafa R et al. Chromosome 18q allelic loss and prognosis in stage II and III colon cancer. *Int J Cancer* 1998; 79:390-395. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19980821)79:4<390::AID-IJC14>3.0.CO;2-9 [doi].
- Kern SE, Fearon ER, Tersmette KW et al. Clinical and pathological associations with allelic loss in colorectal carcinoma. *JAMA* 1989; 261:3099-3103. doi: 10.1001/jama.1989.03420210047014 [doi].
- Yamane L, Scapulatempo-Neto C, Reis RM, Guimaraes DP. Serrated pathway in colorectal carcinogenesis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20(10): 2634-2640. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i10.2634 [doi].
- Pino MS, Chung DC. The chromosomal instability pathway in colon cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2010; 138: 2059-2072. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.12.065 [doi].

- Leggett B, Whitehall V. Role of the serrated pathway in colorectal pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology* 2010; 138: 2088-2100. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.12.066 [doi].
- Makinen MJ. Colorectal serrated adenocarcinoma. *Histopathology* 2007; 50: 131-150. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2006.02548.x [doi].
- Groff RJ, Nash R, Ahnen DJ. Significance of serrated polyps of the colon. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 2008; 10: 490-498. doi: 10.1007/s11894-008-0090-z [doi].
- 92. Sebolt-Leopold JS, Herrera R. Targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to treat cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2004; 4:937-947. doi: 10.1038/nrc1503 [doi].
- 93. Stefanius K, Ylitalo L, Tuomisto A et al. Frequent mutations of KRAS in addition to BRAF in colorectal serrated adenocarcinoma. *Histopathology* 2011; 58: 679-692. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2011.03821.x [doi].
- 94. O'Brien MJ, Yang S, Mack C et al. Comparison of microsatellite instability, CpG island methylation phenotype, BRAF and KRAS status in serrated polyps and traditional adenomas indicates separate pathways to distinct colorectal carcinoma end points. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2006; 30:1491-1501. doi: 10.1097/01.pas.0000213313.36306.85 [doi].
- 95. Vilar E, Gruber SB. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer- the stable evidence. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 2010; 7:153-162. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.237 [doi].
- 96. Moran A, Ortega P, de Juan C et al. Differential colorectal carcinogenesis: Molecular basis and clinical relevance. *World J Gastrointest Oncol* 2010; 2:151-158. doi: 10.4251/wjgo.v2.i3.151 [doi].
- 97. Jass JR. Classification of colorectal cancer based on correlation of clinical, morphological and molecular features. *Histopathology* 2007; 50:113-130. doi:

10.1111/j.1365-2559.2006.02549.x [doi].

- Mlcochova J, Faltejskova P, Nemecek R et al. MicroRNAs targeting EGFR signaling pathway in colorectal cancer. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 2013; 129(10): 1615-24. doi: 10.1007/s00432-013-1470-9 [doi].
- Colussi D, Brandi G, Bazzoli F and Ricciardiello L. Molecular Pathways Involved in Colorectal Cancer: Implications for Disease Behavior and Prevention. *Int J Mol Sci* 2013; 14: 16365-16385. doi: 10.3390/ijms140816365 [doi].
- Wang F, Wong SC, Chan LWC. Multiple Regression Analysis of mRNA-miRNA Associations in Colorectal Cancer Pathway. *Biomed Res Int* 2014; 2014:676-724. doi: 10.1155/2014/676724 [doi].
- 101. Bandres E, Cubedo E, Agirre X et al. Identification by Real-time PCR of 13 mature microRNAs differentially expressed in colorectal cancer and non-tumoral tissues. *Mol Cancer* 2006; 5:29. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-5-29 [doi].
- 102. Johnson SM, Grosshans H, Shingara J et al. RAS is regulated by the let-7 microRNA family. *Cell* 2005; 120:635–647. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.01.014 [doi].
- 103. Liu L, Chen L, Xu Y, Li R, Du X. MicroRNA-195 promotes apoptosis and suppresses tumorigenicity of human colorectal cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2010; 400: 236–240. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.08.046 [doi].
- 104. Gao F, Wang W. MicroRNA-96 promotes the proliferation of colorectal cancer cells and targets tumor protein p53 inducible nuclear protein 1, forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1) and FOXO3a. *Mol Med Rep* 2015; 11:1200–1206. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2014.2854 [doi].

- 105. Yamakuchi M, Ferlito M, Lowenstein C.J. miR-34a repression of SIRT1 regulates apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2008; 105:13421–13466. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0801613105 [doi].
- Mitchell PS, Parkin RK, Kroh EM et al. Circulating microRNAs as stable blood-based markers for cancer detection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2008; 105:10513–10318. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804549105 [doi].
- 107. Slattery ML, Wolff E, Hoffman MD et al. MicroRNAs and colon and rectal cancer: Differential expression by tumor location and subtype. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 2011; 50:196–206. doi: 10.1002/gcc.20844 [doi].
- 108. Cheng H, Zhang L, Cogdell DE et al. Circulating plasma miR-141 is a novel biomarker for metastatic colon cancer and predicts poor prognosis. *PLoS ONE* 2011; 6:e17745. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017745 [doi].
- 109. Xiao H, Zhang Q, Lin Y, Reddy BS and Yang CS. Combination of atorvastatin and celecoxib synergistically indices cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in colon cancer cells. *Int Jour Canc* 2008; 112:2115-2224. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23315 [doi].
- 110. Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, van Ballegooijen M, Zauber AG et al. Effect of rising chemotherapy costs on the cost savings of colorectal cancer screening. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2009; 101:1412-22. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djp319 [doi].
- Hewitson P, Glasziou P, Watson E, Towler B, Irwig L. Cochrane systematic review of colorectal cancer screening using the fecal occult blood test (hemoccult): an update. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008; 103: 1541–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.01875.x [doi].
- 112. Kuipers EJ, Rosch T, Bretthauer M. Colorectal cancer screening–optimizing current strategies and new directions. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 2013; 10:130–42. doi:

10.1038/nrclinonc.2013.12 [doi].

- 113. Cole SR, Young GP, Esterman A, Cadd B, Morcom J. A randomised trial of the impact of new faecal haemoglobin test technologies on population participation in screening for colorectal cancer. *J Med Screen* 2003; 10:117–22. doi: 10.1177/096914130301000304 [doi].
- de Wijkerslooth TR, Stoop EM, Bossuyt PM et al. Immunochemical fecal occult blood testing is equally sensitive for proximal and distal advanced neoplasia. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2012; 107:1570–8. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2012.249 [doi].
- 115. Kahi CJ, Anderson JC, Rex DK. Screening and surveillance for colorectal cancer: state of the art. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77:335–50.
- Holme O, Loberg M, Kalager M et al. Effect of flexible sigmoidoscopy screening on colorectal cancer incidence and mortality: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2014; 312(6): 606-615. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.8266 [doi].
- 117. Australian Government. Improving Colonoscopy Services in Australia: Report from the National Bowel Cancer Screening Program Quality Working Group. Canberra: Department of Health and Ageing; 2009.
- 118. Zhu S, Yao G, Halligan S et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of computed tomographic colonography versus double contrast barium enema for investigation of patients with symptoms of colorectal cancer: economic evaluation alongside the Siggar trial. *Value Health* 2014; 17(7): A719. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2014.08.006 [doi].
- Ciatto S, Castiglione G. Role of double-contrast barium enema in colorectal cancer screening based on fecal occult blood. *Tumori* 2002; 88(2):95-8. doi: 10.1177/030089160208800203 [doi].

- 120. Kuntz KM, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Rutter CM et al. A systematic comparison of microsimulation models of colorectal cancer: the role of assumptions about adenoma progression. *Med Decis Making* 2011; 31:530-9. doi: 10.1177/0272989X11408730 [doi].
- 121. Rex DK. Colonoscopy: the current king of the hill in the USA. *Dig Dis Sci* 2015;
 60:639-646. doi: 10.1007/s10620-014-3448-0 [doi].
- 122. Zubarik R, Ganguly E, Benway D et al. Procedure-related abdominal discomfort in patients undergoing colorectal cancer screening: a comparison of colonoscopy and flexible sigmoidoscopy. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002; 97:3056–3061. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9270(02)05518-1 [doi].
- 123. Imperiale TF, Ransohoff DF, Itzkowitz SH et al. Multitarget stool DNA testing for colorectal-cancer screening. *N Engl J Med* 2014; 370:1287–1297. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1311194 [doi].
- 124. Levin B, Lieberman DA, McFarland B et al. Screening and surveillance for the early detection of colorectal cancer and adenomatous polyps, 2008: a joint guideline from the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 134:1570-1595. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.02.002 [doi].
- Brenner H, Chang-Claude J, Seiler CM et al. Long-term risk of colorectal cancer after negative colonoscopy. *J Clin Oncol* 2011; 29:3761–3767. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.35.9307 [doi].
- Nicholson FB, Korman MG. Acceptance of flexible sigmoidoscopy and colonoscopy for screening and surveillance in colorectal cancer prevention. *J Med Screen* 2005; 12:89–95. doi: 10.1258/0969141053908294 [doi].

- Telford JJ, Levy AR, Sambrook JC et al. The cost-effectiveness of screening for colorectal cancer. *CMAJ* 2010; 182:1307–1313. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.090845 [doi].
- Corley D, Jensen CD, Marks AR et al. Adenoma detection rate and risk of colorectal cancer and death. *N Engl J Med* 2014; 370:1298–1306. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1309086 [doi].
- Goodwin JS, Singh A, Reddy N et al. Overuse of screening colonoscopy in the Medicare population. *Arch Intern Med* 2011; 171:1335–1343. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.212 [doi].
- Brosens LAA, Offerhaus GJA, Giardiello FM. Hereditary colorectal cancer: genetics and screening. *Surg Clin North Am* 2015; 95(5):1067-1080. doi: 10.1016/j.suc.2015.05.004 [doi].
- 131. Giardiello FM, Allen JI, Axilbund JE et al. Guidelines on genetic evaluation and management of Lynch syndrome: a consensus statement by the US Multi-Society Task Force on colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2014; 147:502-26. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.04.001 [doi].
- Trimbath JD, Giardiello FM. Review article: genetic testing and counselling for hereditary colorectal cacner. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2002; 16:1843-57. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.2002.01357.x [doi].
- Jones N, Vogt S, Nielsen M et al. Increased colorectal cancer incidence in obligate carriers of heterozygous mutations in MUTYH. *Gastroenterology* 2009; 137:489-94. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.04.047 [doi].
- 134. Vasen HF, Mecklin JP, Khan PM, Lynch HT. The International CollaborativeGroup on Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1991; 34:424-

- 135. Vasen HF, Watson P, Mecklin JP, Lynch HT. New clinical criteria for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC, Lynch Syndrome) proposed by the International Collaborative group on HNPCC. *Gastroenterology* 1999; 116:1453-1456. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(99)70510-X [doi].
- 136. Rodriguez-Bias MA, Boland CR, Hamilton SR et al. A National Cancer Institute Workshop on Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer Syndrome: Meeting Highlights and Bethesda Guidelines. *National Cancer Institute* 1997; 89(23): 1758-62. doi: 10.1093/jnci/89.23.1758 [doi].
- 137. Umar A, Boland CR, Terdiman JP et al. Revised Bethesda Guidelines for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch Syndrome) and microsatellite instability. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2004; 96:261-268. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djh034 [doi].
- 138. Yang Q, Khoury MJ, Rodriguez C et al. Family History Score as a Predictor of Breast Cancer Mortality: Prospective Data from the Cancer Prevention Study II, United States 1982-1991. *Am J Epidemiology* 1998; 147(7): 652-9. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009506 [doi].
- MMR Predict Calculator. University of Edinburg and MRC Human Genetics Unit, Edinburgh, Scotland. <u>http://hnpccpredict.hgu.mrc.ac.uk/</u> 2014.
- 140. Brenner H, Kloor M, Pox CP. Colorectal cancer. *Lancet* 2014; 383: 1490-1502. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61649-9 [doi].
- Johnson CM, Wei C, Ensor JE et al. Meta-analyses of colorectal cancer risk factors. *Cancer Causes Control* 2013; 24(6):1207-1222. doi: 10.1007/s10552-013-0201-5 [doi].

- Johns LE, Houlston RS. A systematic review and meta-analysis of familial colorectal cancer risk. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2001; 96(10): 2992-3003. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9270(01)03239-7 [doi].
- 143. Kim ER, Chang DK. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: The risk, pathogenesis, prevention and diagnosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20(29):9872-9881. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i29.9872 [doi].
- 144. Cho E, Smith-Warner SA, Ritz J et al. Alcohol intake and colorectal cancer: a pooled analysis of 8 cohort studies. *Am J Intern Med* 2004; 140(8):603-13. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-140-8-200404200-00007 [doi].
- 145. Chan DS, Lau R, Aune D et al. Red and processed meat and colorectal cancer incidence: meta-analysis of prospective studies. *PLoS One* 2011; 6:e20456. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020456 [doi].
- 146. Bingham SA, Day NE, Luben R, et al. Dietary fibre in food and protection against colorectal cancer in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition(epic): An observational study. *Lancet* 2003; 361(9368):1496-501. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13174-1 [doi].
- 147. Terry P, Giovannucci E, Michels KB et al. Fruit, vegetables, dietary fiber, and risk of colorectal cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2001; 93(7): 525-33. doi: 10.1093/jnci/93.7.525 [doi].
- Pietinen P, Malila N, Virtanen M et al. Diet and risk of colorectal cancer in a cohort of Finnish men. *Cancer Causes Control* 1999; 10(5): 387-96. doi: 10.1023/A:1008962219408 [doi].
- 149. Grunfy SM, Brewer HB, Cleeman J et al. Definition of Metabolic Syndrome: report of the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute/American Heart Association

conference on scientific issues related to definition. *Circulation* 2004; 109:433-438. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000111245.75752.C6 [doi].

- Ahmed RL, Schmitz KH, Anderson KE, Rosamond WD, Folsom AR. The metabolic syndrome and risk of colorectal cancer. *Cancer* 2006; 107(1):28-36. doi.org/10.1002/cncr.21950 [doi].
- 151. Pelucchi C, Negri E, Talamini R et al. Metabolic syndrome is associated with colorectal cancer in men. *Eur J Cancer* 2010; 46:1866-1872. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2010.03.010 [doi].
- 152. Giovannucci E, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ et al. A prospective study of cigarette smoking and risk of colorectal adenoma and colorectal cancer in US women. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1994; 86(3):192-199. doi: 10.1093/jnci/86.3.183 [doi].
- 153. Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ et al. A prospective study of cigarette smoking and risk of colorectal adenoma and colorectal cancer in US men. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1994; 86(3):183-191. doi: 10.1093/jnci/86.3.183 [doi].
- 154. Heineman EF, Zahm SH, McLaughlin JK, Vaught JB. Increased risk of colorectal cancer among smokers: results of a 26-year follow-up of US veterans and a review. *Int J Cancer* 1994; 59(6):728-738. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910590603 [doi].
- Freedman AN, Michalek AM, Marshall JR et al. The relationship between smoking exposure and p53 overexpression in colorectal cancer. *Br J Cancer* 1996; 73(8):902-908. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1996.180 [doi].
- Akiba S. Analysis of cancer risk related to longitudinal information on smoking habits. *Environ Health Perspect* 1994; 102(suppl 8):15-19. doi: 10.1289/ehp.94102s815 [doi].

- 157. Botteri E, Iodice S, Bagnardi V et al. Smoking and colorectal cancer: a metaanalysis. *JAMA* 2008; 300(23):2765-2778. doi: 10.1001/jama.2008.839 [doi].
- 158. Mohammed A, Yarla NS, Madka V and Rao CV. Clinically relevant antiinflammatory agents for chemoprotection of colorectal cancer: new perspectives. *Int J Mol Sci* 2018; 19(8):2332. doi: 10.3390/ijms19082332 [doi].
- 159. Agarwal B, Bhendwal S, Halmos B et al. Lovastatin augments apoptosis induced by chemotherapeutic agents in colon cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* 1999; 5:2223–2229.
- Qi XF, Kim DH, Yoon YS et al. Involvement of oxidative stress in simvastatininduced apoptosis of murine CT26 colon carcinoma cells. *Toxicology Letters* 2010; 199:277–287. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.09.010 [doi].
- 161. Ji J, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Use of hormone replacement therapy improves prognosis in patients with colorectal cancer: a population-based study in Sweden. *Int J Cancer* 2018; 142(10):2003-2010. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31228 [doi].
- Mannion JJ, (ed). The peopling of newfoundland: essays in historic geography. St John's: Memorial University of Newfoundland, 1977.
- 163. Rahman P, Jones A, Curtis J et al. The Newfoundland population: a unique resource for genetic investigation of complex diseases. *Human Molecular Genetics* 2003; 12(2)167-72. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddh143 [doi].
- 164. Service S, DeYoung J, Karayiorgou M et al. Magnitude and distribution of linkage disequilibrium in population isolates and implications for genome-wide association studies. *Nat Genet* 2006; 6(1):53-62. doi: 10.1038/ng1770 [doi].
- 165. Ogino S, Chan AT, Fuchs CS, Giovannucci E. Molecular pathological epidemiology of colorectal neoplasia: An emerging transdisciplinary and interdisciplinary

field. Gut 2011; 60(3):397-411. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.217182 [doi].

- EasternHealth.ca. Eastern health newfoundland & labrador.
 http://www.easternhealth.ca/map.aspx#results. Accessed November 11, 2018.
- 167. CentralHealth.ca. Central health newfoundland & labrador. <u>https://www.centralhealth.nl.ca/about-us</u>. Accessed November 11, 2018.
- 168. Shih JH and Fay MP. Pearson's Chi-Square test and rank correlation inferences for clustered data. *Biometrics* 2017; 73:822-834. doi: 10.1111/biom.12653 [doi].
- 169. Hoo ZH, Candlish J, Teare D. What is an ROC curve? *Emerg Med J* 2017;
 34:357-359. doi: 10.1136/emermed-2017-206735 [doi].
- Grunau G, Linn S. Commentary: Sensitivity, Specificity and Predictive Values:
 Foundations, Pliabilities and Pitfalls in Research and Practice. *Front Public Health* 2018;
 6:256. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00256 [doi].
- Schisterman EF, Perkins NJ, Liu A et al. Optimal cut-point and its corresponding youden index to discriminate individuals using pooled blood samples. *Epidemiology* 2005; 16:73–81. doi: 10.1097/01.ede.0000147512.81966.ba [doi].
- 172. National Comprehensive Cancer Network, NCCN. Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. Genetic/Familial High-risk Assessment: Colorectal. Version 1, NCCN, Org, 2016.
- Moreira L, Balaguer F, Lindsor N et al. Identification of Lynch Syndrome among patients with colorectal cancer. *JAMA* 2012; 308:1555-1565. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.13088 [doi].

- 174. Pignone M, Saha S, Hoerger T, Mandelblatt J. Cost-effectiveness analyses of colorectal cancer screening: a systematic review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Ann Intern Med* 2002; 137:96-104. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-137-2-200207160-00007 [doi].
- Ministry of Health. 2015. Selected Cancers 2012, 2013 & 2014 (Provisional).Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2014. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society, 2014.
- 177. New Zealand Guidelines group. Guidance on surveillance for people at increased risk of colorectal cancer. Wellington: New Zealand Guidelines Group; 2012.
- 178. Walker JG, Macrae F, Winship I et al. The use of a risk assessment and decision support tool (CRISP) compared with usual care in general practice to increase riskstratified colorectal cancer screening: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 2018; 19:397. doi: 10.1186/s13063-018-2764-7 [doi].
- 179. Jenkins MA, Win AK, Templeton AS et al. Cohort profile: the Colon Cancer Family Registry Cohort (CCFRC). *Int J Epidemiol* 2018; 47(2):387–88i. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyy006 [doi].
- 180. Major D, Bryant H, Delaney M et al. Colorectal cancer screening in Canada: results from the first round of screening for five provincial programs. *Curr Oncol* 2013; 20: 252-257. doi: 10.3747/co.20.1646 [doi].
- 181. Karsa LV, Lignini TA, Patnick J, Lambert R, Sauvaget C. The dimensions of the CRC problem. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2010; 24:381-396. doi: 10.1016/ j.bpg.2010.06.004 [doi].

182. www12.statcan.gc.ca. 2016. Census Profile, 2016 Census - Newfoundland And Labrador And Canada [online] Available at: [Accessed 25 August 2020].

Chapter 8 - APPENDICES

6

Amsterdam Criteria II cancers

CRC, endometrium, small bowel, ureter, or renal pelvis.

The Revised Bethesda Guidelines are as follows:

- 1. Colorectal cancer diagnosed in a patient who is less than 50 years of age.
- 2. Presence of synchronous or metachronous colorectal, or other HNPCC-associated tumors,* regardless of age.
- 3. Colorectal cancer with the MSI-H histology[‡] diagnosed in a patient who is less than 60 years of age.§
- 4. Colorectal cancer diagnosed in one or more first-degree relatives with an HNPCCrelated tumor, with one of the cancers being diagnosed under age 50 years.
- 5. Colorectal cancer diagnosed in two or more first- or second-degree relatives with HNPCC-related tumors, regardless of age.

* HNPCC-related tumors include colorectal, endometrial, stomach, ovary, pancreas, ureter and renal pelvis, biliary tract, and brain (usually glioblastoma as seen in Turcot syndrome) tumors; sebaceous gland adenomas and keratoacanthomas in Muir-Torre syndrome, and carcinoma of the small bowel.

[‡] Presence of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, Crohn's-like lymphocytic reaction, mucinous/signet-ring differentiation, or medullary growth pattern.

§ There was no consensus among the Workshop participants on whether to include the age criteria in guideline 3 above; participants voted to keep less than 60 years of age in the guidelines.

For Progeny: Red ones are AC2. Blue ones are Bethesda.

- TCC Transitional Cell Bladder will be coded green.
- RCC Renal Cell Cancer Kidney will be coded green
- TCC Transitional Cell Ureter and Renal Pelvis will be coded Red
- TCC Transitional Cell Kidney will be coded Red.

Appendix B

Testing algorithm for suspected HNPCC families Provincial Medical Genetics Program

Families meeting the following criteria:

Age & Cancer Modified Amsterdam Criteria

- a) Three or more relatives with colorectal cancer or an HNPCC-associated cancer (colorectal, endometrial, stomach, ovarian, pancreas, ureter and renal pelvis, biliary tract, brain, sebaceous gland and small bowel carcinoma) *AND*
- b) Colorectal or HNPCC-associated cancer in at least two generations AND
- c) One or more colorectal or HNPCC-associated cancers diagnosed before age 60

Or one of the following additional criteria:

- □ Colorectal carcinoma before age 40
- □ Endometrial carcinoma before age 45
- □ Sebaceous tumour (adenoma, carcinoma, epithelioma) before age 50 or multiple tumours at any age
- □ Presence of multiple HNPCC-related cancers in an individual, with one cancer before age 60
- Colorectal carcinoma before age 60 with specific pathological features (tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes, Crohn's-like lymphocyte reaction, mucinous/signet ring differentiation, medullary growth pattern or undifferentiated pattern solid or cribiform)

Are eligible for the following testing protocol through the PMGP:



Send blocks to: Dr. Aaron Pollett, Staff Pathologist Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Suite 6-500-9, Mount Sinai Hospital 600 University Avenue Toronto, Ontario M5G 1X5 416-586-4457

Modified January 25, 2010

Appendix C



Ethics Office Suite 200, Eastern Trust Building 95 Bonaventure Avenue St. John's, NL A1B 2X5

July 12, 2016

12 Winter Place St. John's, NL A1B 1J6

Dear Mr. McNicholas:

Researcher Portal File # 20170239 Reference # 2016.147

RE: "Health Policy For Screening in Families of Colorectal Cancer Patients"

Your application received an expedited review by a sub-committee of the Health Research Ethics Board (HREB). *Full approval* of this research study is granted for one year effective **July 11, 2016**.

This is your ethics approval only. Organizational approval may also be required. It is your responsibility to seek the necessary organizational approval from the Regional Health Authority (RHA) or other organization as appropriate. You can refer to the HREA website for further guidance on organizational approvals.

This is to confirm that the HREB reviewed and approved or acknowledged the following documents (as indicated):

- Application, approved
- List of variables, approved

MARK THE DATE

<u>This approval will lapse on July 11, 2017.</u> It is your responsibility to ensure that the Ethics Renewal form is submitted prior to the renewal date; you may not receive a reminder. The Ethics Renewal form can be found on the Researcher Portal as an Event form.

If you do not return the completed Ethics Renewal form prior to date of renewal:

- You will no longer have ethics approval
- You will be required to stop research activity immediately
- You may not be permitted to restart the study until you reapply for and receive approval to undertake the study again
- Lapse in ethics approval <u>may result in interruption or termination of funding</u>

You are solely responsible for providing a copy of this letter, along with your approved HREB application form; to Research Grant and Contract Services should your research depend on funding administered through that office.

Modifications of the protocol/consent are not permitted without prior approval from the HREB. <u>Implementing changes without HREB approval may result in your ethics approval being</u> revoked, meaning your research must stop. Request for modification to the protocol/consent must be outlined on an amendment form (available on the Researcher Portal website as an Event form) and submitted to the HREB for review.

The HREB operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the Health Research Ethics Authority Act (HREA Act) and applicable laws and regulations.

You are responsible for the ethical conduct of this research, notwithstanding the approval of the HREB.

We wish you every success with your study.

Sincerely,

Ms. Patricia Grainger

Chair, Non-Clinical Trials Health Research Ethics Board

CC: Dr P Parfrey

Appendix D

Study ID	Age	Predictive Variables
2862	82	Bethesda 2
60012	76	
60076	55	
60105	79	
60111	59	Bethesda 2
60165	69	Bethesda 2
60181	72	
60183	65	Bethesda 2
60229	81	Bethesda 2
60321	32	
60348	51	Bethesda 3
60606	69	Bethesda 2
60612	54	Bethesda 2
60636	49	
60757	72	
60833	60	
60967	57	
60972	62	
61300	57	Bethesda 3
61485	69	Bethesda 2
61549	58	
61582	68	
61599	52	Bethesda 2
61606	73	Bethesda 2
61609	40	

False Negatives (n=25) of Multivariate Model Predictive of Genetic Counselor Referral

Appendix E

Study ID	Age	Predictive Variables
1610	65	ACMAC, Bethesda 2
60005	65	ACMAC
60007	66	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60085	73	Polyps
60088	57	ACMAC, Polyps, Bethesda 3
60103	73	ACMAC
60138	67	ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60144	72	ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60145	71	Family History of CRC without ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60147	47	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60238	71	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60240	84	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60267	74	ACMAC
60283	67	ACMAC
60295	91	ACMAC
60296	66	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60300	70	ACMAC, Bethesda 2
60638	68	ACMAC, Bethesda 2
60647	65	ACMAC
60656	57	ACMAC
60683	89	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60688	82	ACMAC
60722	72	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60759	75	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60780	84	ACMAC
60806	60	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60861	68	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60896	57	ACMAC
60897	58	ACMAC
60912	73	ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60918	68	ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60941	68	ACMAC
60945	60	ACMAC
60956	68	ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60975	81	Family History of CRC without ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60984	82	Polyps, F. History of CRC without ACMAC, Bethesda 2
61254	71	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
61434	77	ACMAC

False Positives (n=48) of Multivariate Model Predictive of Genetic Counselor Referral

61469	69	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
61491	65	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
61538	77	Polyps
61541	70	Polyps
61542	57	ACMAC
61636	76	ACMAC, Bethesda 2, Bethesda 3
61656	70	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
61682	71	Polyps
61737	75	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
61782	64	ACMAC, Bethesda 2

Appendix F

Study ID	Age	Predictive Variables
1610	65	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2
60005	65	Bethesda 5
60007	66	Bethesda 5
60084	50	No Family History of CRC
60103	73	Bethesda 5
60138	67	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 4, Bethesda 5
60145	71	Bethesda 4
60173	58	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60176	69	Bethesda 5
60206	64	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60270	61	Bethesda 5
60278	60	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60286	61	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2, Polyps, PMG4
60382	76	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2, Bethesda 5
60564	73	Bethesda 5
60638	68	Bethesda 2, Bethesda 5, PMG4
60647	65	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60683	89	Bethesda 5
60806	60	Bethesda 5
60833	60	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60861	77	No Family History of CRC
60874	43	No Family History of CRC
60897	58	Bethesda 5
60945	60	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60984	82	Bethesda 2, Poylps, PMG4
61254	71	Bethesda 5
61434	77	Bethesda 5
61541	70	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5, Polyps
61636	76	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2, Bethesda 3,
		Bethesda 5, PMG4
61782	64	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2

False Negatives (n=30) of Multivariate Model Predictive of 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy

Appendix G

False Positives (n=50) of Multivariate Model Predictive of 5-10 yearly Colonoscopy

Study ID	Age	Predictive Variables
20705	76	
60040	56	No Family History of CRC
60064	62	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2, PMG4
60111	59	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2, PMG4
60117	63	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2, PMG4
60127	67	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2
60165	69	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2, PMG4
60181	72	No Family History of CRC
60183	65	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2, PMG4
60219	85	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60247	59	No Family History of CRC
60262	87	Bethesda 2
60280	61	No Family History of CRC
60334	77	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60358	72	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60377	73	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60386	86	
60549	87	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2
60591	91	No Family History of CRC
60592	56	No Family History of CRC
60606	69	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2
60624	72	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60627	76	No Family History of CRC, Polyps
60671	55	No Family History of CRC
60698	57	No Family History of CRC
60706	52	No Family History of CRC
60723	61	No Family History of CRC
60757	72	No Family History of CRC
60885	53	No Family History of CRC
60923	66	No Family History of CRC
60937	58	No Family History of CRC
60948	79	No Family History of CRC, Polyps
60952	57	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2
60967	57	No Family History of CRC
60972	62	No Family History of CRC
60982	69	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
60989	55	No Family History of CRC
-------	----	--------------------------------------
61253	56	No Family History of CRC
61342	54	No Family History of CRC
61383	69	No Family History of CRC
61485	69	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2
61493	52	No Family History of CRC
61512	67	No Family History of CRC
61549	58	No Family History of CRC
61597	83	No Family History of CRC
61604	63	No Family History of CRC
61606	73	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2
61758	78	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5
61763	76	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 2
61781	68	No Family History of CRC, Bethesda 5

Appendix H

False Negatives (n=21) of Multivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy

Study ID	Age	Predictive Variables
20419	71	ACMAC
60219	85	ACMAC
60262	87	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60321	32	
60348	51	
60358	72	ACMAC
60371	81	ACMAC
60373	40	
60624	72	ACMAC
60627	76	Polyps
60660	74	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60700	71	ACMAC
60706	52	
60736	82	ACMAC
60838	68	ACMAC
60948	79	Polyps
60972	62	
61190	84	ACMAC
61376	28	
61606	73	
61609	40	

Study ID	Age	Predictive Variables
1610	65	ACMAC, PMG5
21134	51	ACMAC
60002	61	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60005	65	ACMAC
60008	53	Family History of CRC without ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60009	60	ACMAC
60016	60	ACMAC
60038	63	ACMAC
60039	51	Polyps
60049	82	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
60071	60	ACMAC
60079	57	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60088	57	Polyps, ACMAC
60111	59	PMG5
60129	48	ACMAC
60134	56	ACMAC
60138	67	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
60144	72	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
60145	71	Family History of CRC without ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60147	47	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60173	58	ACMAC
60180	49	ACMAC
60227	61	ACMAC
60270	61	ACMAC
60278	60	ACMAC
60286	61	Polyps
60300	70	ACMAC, PMG5
60303	60	ACMAC
60338	84	Family History of CRC without ACMAC, Polyps
60350	71	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
60359	81	PMG5
60383	46	ACMAC
60647	65	ACMAC
60725	46	ACMAC
60731	56	ACMAC
60745	60	ACMAC
60806	60	ACMAC
60897	58	ACMAC
60909	65	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
60912	73	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
60918	68	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
60945	60	ACMAC

False Positives (n=56) of Multivariate Model Predictive of 2-3 yearly Colonoscopy

60956	68	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
60975	81	Family History of CRC without ACMAC, Bethesda 4
60984	82	Family History of CRC without ACMAC, Polyps
61327	54	ACMAC
61486	71	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
61491	65	Family History of CRC without ACMAC
61542	57	ACMAC
61558	60	ACMAC
61567	61	Bethesda 4, ACMAC
61581	51	ACMAC
61609	40	
61636	76	ACMAC
61767	60	ACMAC
61782	64	ACMAC